
Revised Agenda - 07/11/22 
Sacramento Continuum of Care (CoC) Board Agenda
Wednesday, July 13, 2022 ║ 8:00 AM – 10:00 AM

Zoom Meeting ║ Meeting ID: 899 2915 5766  ║ Passcode: 168104
One tap mobile: +16699009128,,89929155766#,,,,*168104# US (Sacramento)
Dial by your location: +1 669 900 9128 US (Sacramento)
Find your local number here

I. Welcome & Introductions: Erin Johansen, CoC Board Chair

II. Review & Approval of June 8th 2022 Minutes: Angela Upshaw, Vice Chair

III. CoC Board Chair’s Report: Erin Johansen

IV. Sacramento Steps Forward (SSF) CEO’s Report: Lisa Bates

V. Announcements:
(Upcoming Events &
Recent Actions)

CoC Board
Members, SSF
Staff & Guests

8:10 AM
(5 minutes)

Informational

VI. Consent Agenda - Action Items:
A. CoC System Performance Committee New Member Appointments: Amber

Kemp and Kyle Stefano
B. Re-open EHV List & Prioritize RRH Bridge Households

VII. New Business:

A. 2021 CoC Application
Debrief

Maddie Nation &
Joy Balinbin,
HomeBase

8:20 AM
(15 minutes)

Informational

B. Cal-AIM Update Lisa Bates, SSF
CEO & Managed
Care Partners

8:35 AM
(35 minutes)

Informational

© 2022 | All rights reserved | www.sacramentostepsforward.org

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89929155766?pwd=RXZmeGl1Vkk4RE1NZFljMFZLOEZlUT09
https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kzV44ujVp


C. 2022 PIT Local Report
Update

CoC Board Approval of the
Schedule for the Next PIT
Count

Michele Watts,
SSF Chief
Planning Officer &
Arturo Baiocchi,
CSUS

April Dawson,
PITC Co-Chair

9:10 AM
(40 minutes)

Informational

Action

D. 2022 Unsheltered 
Special NOFO 
Discussion

Michele Watts 9:50 AM
(10 minutes)

Informational

VIII. Meeting Adjourned
Next CoC Board Meeting: Wednesday, August 10th, 2022

Receive & File:
● Youth Homelessness Demonstration Program (YHDP)

For any questions or concerns, please contact Michelle Charlton, CoC Coordinator,
Sacramento Steps Forward.

© 2022 | All rights reserved | www.sacramentostepsforward.org

https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/comm_planning/coc/specialCoCNOFO
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/comm_planning/coc/specialCoCNOFO
mailto:mcharlton@sacstepsforward.org


Sacramento Continuum of Care (CoC) Board Meeting Minutes

Wednesday, June 8th, 2022 | 8:00 AM to 10:00 AM

Recording of Zoom Meeting. The meeting chat and materials are below the minutes.

Attendance:

Member Area of Representation Present

Alexis Bernard Mental Health Service Organization Yes

Amani Sawires Rapaski Substance Abuse No

Amber Kemp Healthcare Yes

Angela Upshaw - Vice Chair Veterans Yes

April Marie Dawson People with Disabilities Yes

Christie M. Gonzales Substance Abuse Service Organizations Yes

Deisy Madrigal Social Services Yes

Elyah “Eroz” Williams Youth with Lived Experience No

Emily Halcon County of Sacramento No

Erin Johansen - Chair Mental Health Yes

Fatemah Martinez Shelter Provider No

Jameson Parker Business Community & Street Outreach No

Jenna Abbott Business Community Yes

Jenine Spotnitz Mental Health Yes

John Kraintz Lived Experience No

Joseph Smith Coalition/Network Yes

Copyright © 2022. All rights reserved | www.sacramentostepsforward.org

https://sacstepsforward-my.sharepoint.com/:v:/g/personal/mcharlton_sacstepsforward_org/EVUyA8nl2TxPtfz9-1nMBhsBnFoYj9KrjKhTFlmT8KwgLw


Julie Davis-Jaffe Employment Development No

Juile Hirota Shelter and/or Housing Provider Yes

Kimberley Rae Berry Person with Lived Experience No

MaryLiz Paulson Housing Authority No

Mason Gizard Person with Lived Experience Yes

Mike Jaske Faith Community Advocate Yes

Monica Rocha-Wyatt Mental Health Yes

Nicholas Golling City of Sacramento Yes

Paul Jbeily Law Enforcement No

Pixie Popplewell - Secretary Homeless Youth Yes

Sarah Bontrager City of Elk Grove Yes

Stefan Heisler City of Rancho Cordova Yes

Stephanie Cotter (was
represented by Nicole Piva)

City of Citrus Heights Yes

Tara Turrentine Education No

SSF Staff SSF Title

Glenn Merker Referral Specialist

Jesse Archer CoC Analyst

Jillyan McKinney Racial Equity Specialist

Josh Lowy Programming Analyst

Kaylin Jones CoC Coordinator

Lisa Bates Chief Executive Officer

Michele Watts CoC Chief Planning Officer

Michelle Charlton CoC Coordinator

Copyright © 2022. All rights reserved | www.sacramentostepsforward.org



Peter Bell CE Manager

Rolf Davidson Director of Programs

Roseanne Lopez Chief Administrative Officer

Scott Clark Portfolio and Team Excellence Lead

Stacey Fong Coordinated Entry Analyst

Theresa Bible Outreach Navigator – Meadowview

Vivan Nguyen Referral Specialist

Ya-yin Isle Chief Strategic Initiatives Officer

Guests

Alyxe Lett, Angel Uhercik, Angela Drake, Asya Anderson, Berkeley Food & Housing
Project, Bo Cassell, Bridget Alexander, CEPS-Marie, Cynthia Pimentel, Dana Bailey,
Danielle Foster, Danny Marquez, David Silveira, Dawn Angelo, Dawn Basciano, Eason
Ramon, Ed Mariscal, Erin Lund, Genelle Cazares, Georgina M, Hannah Kim, Ivonne
Ellis, Jack Barnes, James Trout, Jasmine, Jenine Spotnitz, Jennifer Zavala, Jesse
Williams, Kate Hutchinson, Kathy Simms, Kris Kuntz, Kristin Kane, LaShon, Maddie
Nation, Neeta Alengadan, Nicole Pica, Quinn Jones-Hylton, Rana Suliman, Renee
Grant, Robynne Rose-Haymer, Sarah Bontrager, Sarah’s Phone, Scott Murphy, Sharna
Braucks, Sierra Edwards, Stephanie Henry, Stephanie Thompson, Stephen Watters,
Susan Lal, Taylor Intermill, Tia Johnson, Tianna Morgan Arbulu, Tom Albanese, Troy
Lynch, WilliamsCh, Yesenia Huamani, and Zuri K.

I. Welcome & Introductions: Erin Johansen, CoC Board Chair

Erin called the meeting to order around 8:09 AM. Attendance of 72 participants.

II. Review & Approval of May 11th, 2022 Minutes: Pixie Popplewell, Secretary

Copyright © 2022. All rights reserved | www.sacramentostepsforward.org



Motioned for approval: 1st - Angela Upshaw, 2nd - Julie Hirota

Motion approved.

III. CoC Board Chair’s Report: Erin Johansen

IV. Sacramento Steps Forward (SSF) CEO’s Report: Lisa Bates

Lisa Bates shared that:
● In July, SSF will provide a NOFO competition update. She mentioned we scored

high and will share more details.
● Today, you will hear about our Health Plans with Cal-AIM. There will be more

conversations in upcoming months.

V. Announcements:
(Upcoming Events &
Recent Actions)

CoC Board
Members, SSF
Staff & Guests

8:15 AM

(10 minutes)

Information

CoC Board Members:
● Christie Gonzales shared details about the WellSpace Health Ribbon Cutting and

Grand Opening event on June 15th at 1:30pm.

SSF Staff & Guests: None

VI. Consent Agenda - Action Items:
A. Authorize SSF to Submit Youth Homelessness Demonstration Project

Application Due June 28, 2022

B. Transition Business Community Representative Jenna Abbott to representing
the Sacramento Metro Chamber

C. Family Permanent Housing Assessment & Prioritization Tool Pilot

Consent Items Motioned for Approval: 1st - Monica Rocha-Wyatt, 2nd - Joseph
Smith

Motion approved.

Copyright © 2022. All rights reserved | www.sacramentostepsforward.org

https://forms.office.com/pages/responsepage.aspx?id=2nb73ZfRxkG84CYVtS6e9anXyzV2Ri5PnMIsdVHS5VBURjRSNE44MlJLN0MyUTdDTVNNQjRKOTNaNy4u
https://forms.office.com/pages/responsepage.aspx?id=2nb73ZfRxkG84CYVtS6e9anXyzV2Ri5PnMIsdVHS5VBURjRSNE44MlJLN0MyUTdDTVNNQjRKOTNaNy4u


VII. New Business:

A. Local Homeless Action
Plan & HHAP-3
Allocations

● Public Comment

● Action Items
a. LHAP Approval
b. HHAP-3 CoC

Funding
Allocations
Approval

Ya-Yin Isle, SSF
Chief Strategic
Initiatives Officer
& Michele Watts,
SSF Chief
Planning Officer

8:20 AM
(45 minutes)

Information &
Discussion

Action

Action

Ya-yin shared a presentation (see below) discussing the Gap Analysis, Regional 3-
Year System Goals,  Sacramento’s Local Homeless Action Plan, Action Plan
Strategies, Action Plan Next Steps, HHAP-3 Application Tables, and Goals for
underserved populations and populations disproportionately impacted by
Homelessness. Michele continued and discussed the HHAP-3 Regional Funding
Allocations, HHAP-3 Eligible Uses, HHAP-3 CoC Funding Recommendations,
Coordinated Access System, System Support Needs, Youth Projects, and the
Recommended Actions. Questions were asked during the meeting. Please see the
chat and recording for more details.

Approval/Adopt of the Sacramento Local Homeless Action Plan: 1st - Joseph
Smith, 2nd - Jenna Abbott

Motion approved.

Approval of HHAP-3 CoC Funding Allocations: 1st - Alexis Bernard, 2nd - Pixie
Popplewell

Motion approved.

Approval to submit the HHAP-3 application to Cal ICH by Sacramento Steps
Forward on behalf of the CoC by the June 30, 2022 deadline: 1st - Mike Jaske /
2nd - Monica Rocha-Wyatt

Motion approved.

Copyright © 2022. All rights reserved | www.sacramentostepsforward.org



B. FY2022 HUD CoC
NOFO Review & Rank
Policies and Scoring
Tools

Sarah Bontrager
and Angel
Uhercik, Project
Review
Committee (PRC)
Co-Chairs,
Maddie Nation,
Homebase &
Michele Watts

9:05 AM
(30 minutes)

Action

The PRC Co-Chairs discussed the Continuum of Care Notice of Funding Opportunity:
Scoring Tools & Policies presentation which included details on the background of the
CoC NOFO, the purpose, scoring materials, changes on the Review & Rank Policies,
changes on the Renewal Project Scoring Tool, changes on the Renewal & New
Project Scoring Tools. Please see the chat and recording for more details.

Approval of FY2022 HUD CoC NOFO Review & Rank Policies and Scoring Tools:
1st - Joseph Smith, 2nd - Christie Gonzales

Motion approved.

C. Cal-AIM Lisa Bates, SSF
CEO & Manage
Care Partners

9:35 AM
(20 minutes)

Information

Amber Kemp shared a presentation (see below) about the HHIP background &
overview, HHIP 2 year timeline, overview on HHIP Program Measures, DHCS HHIP
Program Measures, key takeaways about the Local Homelessness Plan (LHP), and
the next steps on the of Proposed MCP Approach. Lisa mentioned (1) the money
through this program is earned by meeting targets, (2) the top 3 measures are aligned
with the Local Homeless Action Plan that was just adopted, and (3) the System
Performance Committee (SPC) will further look into the investments after the June
30th submission. Questions were asked. Please see the chat and recording for more
details.

D. 2022 PIT Local Report
Update

Michele Watts 9:55 AM
(5 minutes)

Information

Michele shared the 2022 local PIT Local report will be released by the end of June
2022.

Copyright © 2022. All rights reserved | www.sacramentostepsforward.org



VIII. Meeting Adjourned at 9:58 AM. Attendance of 75 participants.
Next CoC Board Meeting: Wednesday, July 13, 2022

CoC Board Meeting Chat

07:58:07 From Michelle Charlton (She/Her) SSF, CoC Coordinator to Everyone:
Welcome to the June 8th CoC Board Meeting! Here are today’s materials:

https://sacramentostepsforward.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/CoC-June-Board-Meetin
g-Materials.pdf

07:59:42 From Nicole Piva - City of Citrus Heights to Michelle Charlton (She/Her) SSF,
CoC Coordinator(Direct Message):

Hi Michelle. I am sitting in for Stephanie Cotter this morning. Thanks!

08:00:32 From Michelle Charlton (She/Her) SSF, CoC Coordinator to Nicole Piva - City of
Citrus Heights(Direct Message):

thank you Nicole

08:01:24 From Michelle Charlton (She/Her) SSF, CoC Coordinator to Everyone:
Welcome to the June 8th CoC Board Meeting! Here are today’s materials:

https://sacramentostepsforward.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/CoC-June-Board-Meetin
g-Materials.pdf

08:01:25 From Amber Kemp to Everyone:
Good morning, everyone.

08:02:35 From Pixie Popplewell to Everyone:
Good morning everyone! Waiting for a few more folx so we have quorum!

08:06:56 From Michelle Charlton (She/Her) SSF, CoC Coordinator to Everyone:
Welcome to the June 8th CoC Board Meeting! Here are today’s materials:

https://sacramentostepsforward.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/CoC-June-Board-Meetin
g-Materials.pdf

08:07:01 From Jillyan Sylvia McKinney (she/her) SSF, Racial Equity Specialist to
Everyone:

Good morning everyone!

08:09:32 From Julie Hirota - Saint John's to Everyone:
sorry to hold you all up!

Copyright © 2022. All rights reserved | www.sacramentostepsforward.org

https://sacramentostepsforward.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/CoC-June-Board-Meeting-Materials.pdf
https://sacramentostepsforward.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/CoC-June-Board-Meeting-Materials.pdf
https://sacramentostepsforward.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/CoC-June-Board-Meeting-Materials.pdf
https://sacramentostepsforward.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/CoC-June-Board-Meeting-Materials.pdf
https://sacramentostepsforward.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/CoC-June-Board-Meeting-Materials.pdf
https://sacramentostepsforward.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/CoC-June-Board-Meeting-Materials.pdf


08:12:36 From Michelle Charlton (She/Her) SSF, CoC Coordinator to Everyone:
Approval of May 11th CoC Board Meeting Minutes:

08:12:41 From Stefan Heisler to Michelle Charlton (She/Her) SSF, CoC Coordinator(Direct
Message):

Yes

08:12:44 From AngelaUpshaw to Everyone:
yes

08:12:44 From Joseph Smith to Everyone:
yes

08:12:45 From Julie Hirota - Saint John's to Everyone:
yes

08:12:46 From Pixie Popplewell to Everyone:
yes

08:12:47 From Stefan Heisler to Everyone:
Yes

08:12:48 From Stephanie Thompson, she/her to Everyone:
yes

08:12:49 From Erin Johansen to Everyone:
yes

08:12:50 From Tia Johnson Shelter Inc to Everyone:
yes

08:12:50 From Deisy Madrigal, She/Her to Everyone:
Yes

08:12:53 From Jenine Spotnitz to Everyone:
yes

08:12:53 From Nick Golling to Everyone:
yes

Copyright © 2022. All rights reserved | www.sacramentostepsforward.org



08:12:58 From Amber Kemp to Everyone:
Yes

08:12:59 From Monica’s Rocha-Wyatt iPhone to Everyone:
Yes

08:13:00 From April Marie Dawson to Everyone:
Yes

08:13:01 From Sarah Bontrager to Everyone:
Yes

08:13:01 From Christie Gonzales to Everyone:
yes

08:16:30 From Michele Watts, she/her/hers, SSF Chief Planning Officer to Everyone:
Welcome back to CoC Coordinator Michelle Charlton!

08:17:03 From Robynne Rose-Haymer to Everyone:
Pride March & Festival this weekend. Tickets available at sacramentopride.org

08:18:29 From Nick Golling to Everyone:
Absolutely fantastic news!!

08:19:08 From Robynne Rose-Haymer to Everyone:
You Better Work Career Fair 6/23, 12-3. 20 employers will be present.

08:21:51 From Michelle Charlton (She/Her) SSF, CoC Coordinator to Everyone:
Approval of Consent Agenda - Action Items:

08:21:58 From Pixie Popplewell to Everyone:
yes

08:21:58 From AngelaUpshaw to Everyone:
yes

08:22:00 From Erin Johansen to Everyone:
yes

08:22:01 From Mike Jaske, SacACT to Everyone:
yes

Copyright © 2022. All rights reserved | www.sacramentostepsforward.org



08:22:02 From Stefan Heisler to Everyone:
Yes

08:22:03 From Christie Gonzales to Everyone:
yes

08:22:03 From Alexis Bernard, Turning Point Community Programs to Everyone:
yes

08:22:04 From Julie Hirota - Saint John's to Everyone:
yes

08:22:04 From Jenine Spotnitz to Everyone:
yes

08:22:06 From Sarah Bontrager to Everyone:
Yes

08:22:07 From Amber Kemp to Everyone:
Yes

08:22:08 From Deisy Madrigal, She/Her to Everyone:
Yes

08:22:24 From April Marie Dawson to Everyone:
Yes sorry

08:22:24 From Jenna Abbott to Everyone:
abstain

08:36:31 From Nick Golling to Everyone:
Having some audio issues with my mic. Nothing additional to add on my end either,

thank you though!

08:40:48 From Bridget Alexander (she/her) to Everyone:
This is not relevant to today's vote, but wanted to get on radar that the Youth

Homelessness Demo Project (which would bring a substantial amount of funding to
Sacramento for youth and TAY) asks specifically if the CoC's strategic plan includes a
youth specific plan. As we hone this over the months ahead, the Youth Homelessness
Task Force would like to see a youth specific component to the action plan.

Copyright © 2022. All rights reserved | www.sacramentostepsforward.org



08:55:23 From April Marie Dawson to Everyone:
My team is having a covid issue right now so mitigating that but listening

08:59:15 From Monica Rocha-Wyatt, she/her, Sac Co Behavioral Health to Everyone:
brb

09:01:55 From Lisa Bates (She/Her) - SSF to Everyone:
Agree on the need for more housing resources.  This is identified in the gaps

analysis.  The source of housing resources is likely from other state programs: HCVs,
HomeKey, Super NOFA and locally raised funds

09:02:43 From Monica Rocha-Wyatt, she/her, Sac Co Behavioral Health to Everyone:
back

09:04:31 From Ya-yin Isle (she/her), SSF to Everyone:
In table 5

09:05:52 From Julie Hirota - Saint John's to Everyone:
I think this plan looks very promising.  And, I'm wondering/guessing when the

systemwide performance improves if there will be more visibility to available housing
options?

09:08:41 From Mason to Everyone:
I am open to that.

09:16:09 From Michelle Charlton (She/Her) SSF, CoC Coordinator to Everyone:
Approval/Adopt of the Sacramento Local Homeless Action Plan:

09:16:12 From Nick Golling to Everyone:
Yes

09:16:13 From Pixie Popplewell to Everyone:
yes

09:16:14 From Julie Hirota - Saint John's to Everyone:
yes

09:16:14 From Alexis Bernard, Turning Point Community Programs to Everyone:
Yes

Copyright © 2022. All rights reserved | www.sacramentostepsforward.org



09:16:15 From Amber Kemp (Health Net) to Everyone:
Yes

09:16:16 From Christie Gonzales to Everyone:
yes

09:16:16 From Erin Johansen to Everyone:
yes

09:16:17 From Mike Jaske, SacACT to Everyone:
yes

09:16:18 From Joseph Smith to Everyone:
yes

09:16:19 From Jenine Spotnitz to Everyone:
yes

09:16:21 From AngelaUpshaw to Everyone:
yes

09:16:22 From JesseWilliams to Everyone:
yes

09:16:23 From Mason to Everyone:
Yes

09:16:23 From Stefan Heisler to Everyone:
Yes

09:16:26 From April Marie Dawson to Everyone:
yes

09:16:27 From Sarah Bontrager to Everyone:
Yes

09:17:09 From Michelle Charlton (She/Her) SSF, CoC Coordinator to Everyone:
Approval of HHAP-3 CoC Funding Allocations:

09:17:11 From Nick Golling to Everyone:
Yes

Copyright © 2022. All rights reserved | www.sacramentostepsforward.org



09:17:13 From Joseph Smith to Everyone:
yes

09:17:14 From Amber Kemp (Health Net) to Everyone:
Yes

09:17:14 From Pixie Popplewell to Everyone:
yes

09:17:15 From Alexis Bernard, Turning Point Community Programs to Everyone:
Yes

09:17:15 From Christie Gonzales to Everyone:
yes

09:17:16 From Stefan Heisler to Everyone:
Yes

09:17:16 From Monica Rocha-Wyatt, she/her, Sac Co Behavioral Health to Everyone:
yes

09:17:17 From Mike Jaske, SacACT to Everyone:
yes

09:17:17 From AngelaUpshaw to Everyone:
yes

09:17:21 From Erin Johansen to Everyone:
yes

09:17:23 From Sarah Bontrager to Everyone:
Yes

09:17:24 From Jenine Spotnitz to Everyone:
yes

09:17:24 From Deisy Madrigal, She/Her to Everyone:
Yes

09:17:32 From Julie Hirota - Saint John's to Everyone:

Copyright © 2022. All rights reserved | www.sacramentostepsforward.org



yes

09:17:53 From Michelle Charlton (She/Her) SSF, CoC Coordinator to Everyone:
Approval to submit the HHAP-3 application to Cal ICH by Sacramento Steps

Forward on behalf of the CoC by the June 30, 2022 deadline:

09:17:53 From Nick Golling to Everyone:
Yes.

09:17:56 From Alexis Bernard, Turning Point Community Programs to Everyone:
yes

09:17:57 From AngelaUpshaw to Everyone:
yes

09:17:57 From Amber Kemp (Health Net) to Everyone:
Yes

09:17:57 From Sarah Bontrager to Everyone:
Yes

09:17:57 From Christie Gonzales to Everyone:
yes

09:17:58 From Pixie Popplewell to Everyone:
yes

09:17:58 From Joseph Smith to Everyone:
yes

09:17:59 From Jenine Spotnitz to Everyone:
yes

09:17:59 From Stefan Heisler to Everyone:
Yes

09:18:00 From Monica Rocha-Wyatt, she/her, Sac Co Behavioral Health to Everyone:
yes

09:18:01 From Mike Jaske, SacACT to Everyone:
yes

Copyright © 2022. All rights reserved | www.sacramentostepsforward.org



09:18:04 From Erin Johansen to Everyone:
yes

09:18:04 From April Marie Dawson to Everyone:
yes

09:18:06 From Deisy Madrigal, She/Her to Everyone:
Yes

09:18:07 From Julie Hirota - Saint John's to Everyone:
yes

09:18:09 From Jenna Abbott to Everyone:
Aye

09:27:27 From Kate Hutchinson, LSS, she/her to Everyone:
Thanks PRC - good move on housing retention.

09:31:35 From Jillyan Sylvia McKinney (she/her) SSF, Racial Equity Specialist to
Everyone:

Black, Indigenous, People of Color (BIPOC)

09:33:34 From Michelle Charlton (She/Her) SSF, CoC Coordinator to
Everyone:

Available in today's materials:
DRAFT of the 2022 COC REVIEW AND RANK POLICIES - pg 77
DRAFT of the 2022 Renewal Project Scoring Tool - pg 93
DRAFT of the 2022 New Project Scoring Tool - pg 107
DRAFT of the 2022 Coordinated Entry New Project Scoring Tool - pg 119

09:33:38 From Michelle Charlton (She/Her) SSF, CoC Coordinator to Everyone:
Here are today’s materials:

https://sacramentostepsforward.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/CoC-June-Board-Meetin
g-Materials.pdf

09:38:06 From Michelle Charlton (She/Her) SSF, CoC Coordinator to Everyone:
Approval of FY2022 HUD CoC NOFO Review & Rank Policies and Scoring

Tools:

09:38:12 From Joseph Smith to Everyone:

Copyright © 2022. All rights reserved | www.sacramentostepsforward.org

https://sacramentostepsforward.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/CoC-June-Board-Meeting-Materials.pdf
https://sacramentostepsforward.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/CoC-June-Board-Meeting-Materials.pdf


yes

09:38:13 From Sarah Bontrager to Everyone:
Yes

09:38:13 From Alexis Bernard, Turning Point Community Programs to Everyone:
abstain - conflicted

09:38:13 From Pixie Popplewell to Everyone:
yes

09:38:13 From Christie Gonzales to Everyone:
yes

09:38:14 From Erin Johansen to Everyone:
abstain

09:38:14 From Monica Rocha-Wyatt, she/her, Sac Co Behavioral Health to Everyone:
yes

09:38:14 From Mike Jaske, SacACT to Everyone:
yes

09:38:14 From Nick Golling to Everyone:
Yes

09:38:15 From Stefan Heisler to Everyone:
Yes

09:38:15 From AngelaUpshaw to Everyone:
yes

09:38:15 From Jenine Spotnitz to Everyone:
yes

09:38:16 From Mason to Michelle Charlton (She/Her) SSF, CoC Coordinator(Direct
Message):

Yes

09:38:16 From April Marie Dawson to Everyone:
yes

Copyright © 2022. All rights reserved | www.sacramentostepsforward.org



09:38:20 From Amber Kemp (Health Net) to Everyone:
Yes

09:38:24 From Mason to Everyone:
Yes

09:58:19 From Michelle Charlton (She/Her) SSF, CoC Coordinator to Everyone:
Thank you for attending today’s meeting! The next CoC Board Meeting is

Wednesday, July 13, 2022

09:58:35 From Pixie Popplewell to Everyone:
thank you

09:58:43 From Erin Lund (She/Her) to Everyone:
Thank you for allowing me to attend!

Copyright © 2022. All rights reserved | www.sacramentostepsforward.org



Homeless Housing, Assistance and 
Prevention Program 
CoC Funding Approval
CoC Board Meeting – June 8, 2022

Ya-yin Isle, Chief Strategic Initiatives Officer
Michele Watts, Chief Planning Officer

Sacramento Steps Forward



HHAP-3 Discussion 
Gaps Analysis and Action Plan Strategies



Gaps Analysis: Key Findings
Estimated Annual Number of People who Experience Literal Homelessness in Sacramento

Annually = 16,500 to 20,000

~ 45% are unsheltered (1 or more days) and do not or cannot access shelter

~ 66% access homeless assistance (outreach, shelter, re-housing, etc.)

~ 23% are adults and children in family households

~ 39% are Black and African American, significantly over-represented

~ 54% have one or more several and persistent disabling condition:
o One out of five report having several mental illness
o One out of ten report having substance use disorder
o One out of four are chronically homeless (disabled and literally homeless for 12 months or 

more currently or over four episode in three years); most are in adult only households.



Gaps Analysis: A Transformed System



Regional 3-Year System Goals
Reduce the number of persons who become homeless 
for the first time

Increase the number of people exiting homelessness 
into permanent housing

Reduce the length of time persons remain homeless

Reduce the number of persons who return to homelessness 
after exiting homelessness to permanent housing

Increase successful placements from street outreach



Sacramento Local Homeless Action Plan



Sacramento Local Homeless Action Plan



Action Plan Strategies

Build and Scale a Coordinated Access 
System
Centralized access to homeless and rehousing 
services across a variety of geographically and virtual 
access points.

Sub Strategy 1.a Increase targeted participation in 
homeless crisis response services

Sub Strategy 1.b Grow and embed problem solving 
and diversion in all system access sites, safe 
grounds, respite centers, and emergency shelters

Sub Strategy 1.c Provide Comprehensive and 
Aligned Regional Outreach

Ensure Emergency Shelter and Interim 
Housing is Focused on Rehousing
Develop additional units (congregate and new non-
congregate) of flexible, emergency shelter and interim 
housing that focuses on permanent housing solutions 
for clients.

Sub Strategy 2.a Align the cities and County’s current 
and emerging shelter and interim housing programs 
with the Coordinated Access System to increase 
regional access and occupancy of available units

Sub Strategy 2.b Increase permanent housing exits 
across all emergency shelter & interim housing 
programs



Action Plan Strategies

Increase Permanent Housing Opportunities
Expand housing opportunities and capacity dedicated to 
meet the rehousing needs of persons experiencing 
homelessness

Sub Strategy 3.a Increase rehousing assistance and 
improve access to existing and new units in market and 
subsidized programs 

Sub Strategy 3.b Increase the stock of permanent 
supportive housing units and other dedicated affordable 
housing units for people experiencing homelessness

Sub Strategy 3.c Develop a regional landlord 
engagement partnership program to increase the 
number of units available in the market that will work with 
all homeless rehousing programs

Expand Prevention and Diversion 
Programs
Prevent at-risk households from falling into 
homelessness and/or divert from entry into the 
homeless response system.

Sub Strategy 4.a Coordinate and leverage 
prevention resources across jurisdictions to connect 
households at imminent risk to stabilization 
resources and avoid literal homelessness

Sub Strategy 4.b Scale existing prevention and 
diversion programs into a region wide rehousing 
program



Action Plan Strategies

Invest in Community Capacity-Building and Training
Attract and retain a robust and diverse workforce to deliver homelessness 
services across the regional response system.

Sub Strategy 5.a Create an inclusive & supportive working environment to 
retain the current workforce and attract new staff from historically under-
resourced communities and partners with lived expertise

Sub Strategy 5.b Increase community stakeholder support for regional 
homelessness activities through increased engagement 



Action Plan Next Steps

June: Approval of Action Plan at the sub-strategy level and HHAP-3 required 
tables by governing bodies

Summer 2022: Development of year one actions/activities to implement 
Action plan

On-going: Regular updates on action plan implementation and tracking of 
outcome goals



HHAP-3 Application Tables



HHAP-3 Application Tables
Table 1: Annualized local landscape analysis that assesses the current number of people 
experiencing homelessness

Table 2: Annualized estimate of the need for service intervention for individuals and families 
and population groups

Table 3: Identification of funds providing housing and homelessness-related services to 
persons experiencing homelessness

Table 4: Outcome goals for system performance measures based on 2020 baseline data 
provided by Cal ICH. 

Table 5: Strategies from the Sacramento Local Homeless Action Plan



Goals for Underserved Populations and Populations 
Disproportionately Impacted by Homelessness

• HHAP-3 application includes identifying focused outcomes for underserved 
populations and populations disproportionately impacted by homelessness

• Using the approved Racial Equity Plan as starting point

• CoC’s Racial Equity Committee directed focus on Black/African American to 
match the general outcomes, except for returns to homelessness, which will 
focus on American Indian or Native Alaskan



HHAP-3 Discussion



HHAP-3 Regional Funding Allocations

Entity Amount

Sacramento Continuum of Care $8.32 million

City of Sacramento $16.68 million

County of Sacramento $7.76 million

TOTAL $32.76 million

HHAP-3 allocations are based on 2019 PIT count. HHAP-4 will be based on most recent 
PIT count available when allocations are determined.

$800 million statewide for HHAP-3



HHAP-3 Eligible Uses 

Rapid Rehousing
(including rental 

assistance and landlord 
incentives)

Operating Subsidies 
and Reserves Street Outreach

Services Coordination 
(including workforce, 

education and training)

Systems Support to 
create regional 
partnerships

Delivery of Permanent 
Housing and 

Innovative Housing 
Solutions

Prevention and shelter 
diversion to 

permanent housing

Interim sheltering 
based on 

demonstrated need

Improvements to 
existing emergency 

shelters to lower 
barriers and increase 

privacy



HHAP-3 CoC Funding Recommendation
CoC HHAP Total Allocation  $8,323,101.56  
Administration 7% max $582,591.40  
Programs/Projects Fund Total $6,348,200.00  
Coordinated Access System $4,698,200.00  

• Outreach $800,000  
• System Support $600,000  
• Diversion – Problem Solving  $3,298,200  

HMIS and Data Analytics  $1,000,000.00  
Racial Equity and Partners with Lived Expertise  $450,000.00  
Strategic Planning and Plan Implementation $200,000.00  
Youth Programs/Projects Fund Total $1,392,310.16  
Youth Sheltering $832,310.16  
Coordinated Access System $560,000.00  

• TAY Service Coordination $150,000  
• TAY Delivery of PH $150,000  
• TAY Problem Solving Fund $260,000  

 



Coordinated Access System

• SSF staff, subcontracts for direct services, problem-solving funds
• $4,698,200
• HHAP-3 Eligible Funding Categories:

o Outreach- subcontract(s) $800,000
o Systems Support- SSF staff $600,000
o Diversion- Problem Solving $3,298,200



System Support Needs
HMIS & Data Analytics - $1,000,000
SSF staff and HMIS licenses
HHAP-3 Eligible Funding Category - Systems Support

Racial Equity & Partners with Lived Expertise - $450,000
SSF staff
HHAP-3 Eligible Funding Category - Systems Support

Strategic Planning & Plan Implementation - $200,000
Consultants and SSF staff
HHAP-3 Eligible Funding Category - Systems Support



Youth Projects

Youth Sheltering (continuation of existing projects) - $832,310.16
• HHAP-3 Eligible Funding Category- Operating Subsidies

Coordinated Access - $560,000
• HHAP-3 Eligible Funding Categories:

o System Support- TAY Service Coordination $150,00
o System Support- TAY Delivery of PH $150,000
o Diversion- TAY Problem Solving Fund $260,000



Recommended Actions
Provide Opportunity for Public Comment

Staff recommends the CoC Board take the following actions:

A. Adopt the Sacramento Local Homeless Action Plan

B. Approve the CoC HHAP-3 funding recommendations as outlined in this staff
report

C. Approve the submittal of the HHAP-3 application to Cal ICH by Sacramento
Steps Forward on behalf of the CoC by the June 30, 2022 deadline



Questions and Comments



Developed in partnership with: 
Sacramento Steps Forward 

Sacramento City and County Continuum of Care
Sacramento County
City of Sacramento

Sacramento Housing and Redevelopment Agency

2022

Local Homeless 
Action Plan

Sacramento

Sacramento City 
and County 

Continuum of Care



In our pursuit of addressing 
homelessness within the 
Sacramento region, we wish to 

acknowledge that Sacramento is the 
homeland of the Southern Maidu, 
Valley, and Plains Miwok, the Nisenan 
people, the Patwin Wintun people, 
and members of the Wilton Rancheria 
Tribes, who have inhabited this 
landscape since time immemorial. 

We extend our gratitude to 
the ancestors of all California 
Native American Tribes and their 
descendants, as we recognize that 
wherever we are joining from in our 
virtual community, we are all on 
California Native American land. 

We recognize the systemic inequities 
created by the negative impacts 
of colonization, past and present. 
We stand committed to dismantle 
ongoing legacies of oppression that 
have dispossessed California Native 
Americans of their lands and denied 
their rights to self-determination. 

Written by the Wilton Rancheria Tribe

LAND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT



S A C R A M E N T O  L O C A L  H O M E L E S S  A C T I O N  P L A N  –  2 0 2 2 3

Introduction . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4–5

Background . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6–9

Methodology  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10

National Best Practices for Optimal 
Homeless Response Systems . . . . . . .11

Guiding Principles . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .12

Strategies & Activities  . . . . . . . . . .13–19

Conclusion . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20

Appendix A: 
2022 Needs Assessment  
and Gaps Analysis . . . . . . . . . . . . .21–24

Appendix B: 
Summary of Strategies,  
Sub Strategies, and Activities  . . . . . . 25

Appendix C: 
Glossary of Terms . . . . . . . . . . . . 26–27

TABLE OF CONTENTS



S A C R A M E N T O  L O C A L  H O M E L E S S  A C T I O N  P L A N  –  2 0 2 24

INTRODUCTION

This local homeless action plan creates a cross-jurisdictional unified approach to 
addressing homelessness across Sacramento County. This is a three-year plan 
beginning on July 1, 2022 through June 30, 2025. It is actionable, relatable, and 

provides a roadmap for future funding. Outlined in the plan are key system components that 
are in alignment with national best-practices and if resourced and implemented consistently 
across funders and providers, will bring the local response system to scale with capacity to 
move the needle on homelessness. Through these efforts, homelessness in the County over 
time will become preventable whenever possible, brief, and non-recurring. 

 Reducing the 
length of time 
persons remain 
homeless

 Reducing the 
number of persons 
who return to 
homelessness 
after exiting 
homelessness to 
permanent housing

 Increasing 
successful 
placements from 
street outreach

 Reducing the 
number of people 
experiencing 
homelessness

 Reducing the 
number of people 
who become 
homeless for the 
first time

 Increasing 
the number of 
people exiting 
homelessness into 
permanent housing

Specifically, this plan envisions making a collective impact in the following performance 
measures:



S A C R A M E N T O  L O C A L  H O M E L E S S  A C T I O N  P L A N  –  2 0 2 2 5

Build and Scale a Countywide 
Coordinated Access System (CAS)

Increase Permanent  
Housing Opportunities

Invest in Community  
Capacity-Building and Training

Ensure Current and New 
Emergency Shelter and Interim 
Housing is Focused on Rehousing

Expand Prevention and 
Diversion Resources

1

2

34

5

The plan is organized around five core 
strategies that facilitate a system-focused, 
equitable framework:

These strategies were designed to be scaled up (or back) over time within the confines 
of local resources including funding, workforce availability, and stakeholder agreement. 
At present, they are presented as a framework that will require additional community 
conversations to identify supporting activities on an annual basis that will shape the 
implementation of these five strategies. 

Implementation of the plan is supported by guiding principles identified by the broader 
community and includes a commitment to racial equity, inclusion of partners with lived 
expertise, improved data collection, and continuation of collaborative planning and decision-
making across jurisdictions. 

Initial seed funding to begin implementation of the plan include state allocations from the 
Homeless Housing, Assistance and Prevention (HHAP) program, a recognition of emerging 
opportunities with CalAIM, leveraged with federal, county, city, and private funding sources. 

This plan was developed in partnership between Sacramento City and County Continuum 
of Care, the City of Sacramento, the County of Sacramento and Sacramento Housing 
and Redevelopment Agency (SHRA). These entities, and in close collaboration with the 
neighboring cities will be the primary stewards of this plan. 

1

3

2

4

5

5 Core Strategies



S A C R A M E N T O  L O C A L  H O M E L E S S  A C T I O N  P L A N  –  2 0 2 26

BACKGROUND

A recently completed gaps analysis indicates that the estimated number of persons 
experiencing homelessness annually in Sacramento County ranges from 16,500 to 
20,000 people. Falling into homelessness is often described by partners with lived 

expertise as a downward spiral of broken safety nets. In Sacramento, rising rents and limited 
affordable housing options is a leading driver into homelessness. This dynamic may have 
been exacerbated during the Coronavirus Pandemic due to loss of employment and/or COVID 
related health conditions. Other drivers include histories of foster care and domestic/intimate 
partner violence. 

By most observations, unsheltered homelessness continues to increase. At the time of this 
writing, it is anticipated that the 2022 Point-in-Time Count data (available later in June 2022) 
will likely show an increase from 2019. This trend reflects communities statewide who are 
also grappling with post-pandemic increases in the number of households experiencing 
homelessness. Solutions to addressing homelessness, however, are locally driven. 

2022 Needs Assessment and Gaps Analysis
Among people who experience literal homelessness annually, it is estimated that1:

One out of four people (~23%) are adults 
and children in family households
Almost half of all people (~45%) are 
unsheltered (1 or more days) and do not 
or cannot access shelter
Two out of three (~66%) access homeless 
assistance (outreach, shelter, re-housing, 
etc.) but the remainder do not due to 
insufficient capacity, access, quality of 
services, or other issues
Black and African American people are 
significantly overrepresented among 
people who experience homelessness: 
39% of all people experiencing 

homelessness compared with 11% overall 
in Sacramento County2

Just over half of all adults (~54%) report 
having one or more severe and persistent 
disabling condition:

One out of five adults (~22%) report 
having a severe mental illness
One out of ten adults (~11%) report 
having a substance use disorder
One out of four adults (~24%) adults 
are chronically homeless (disabled 
and homeless for 12 months or more), 
most are adult only households

12022 Needs Assessment and Gaps Analysis report
2American Community Survey, Sacramento County Population Estimates, July 2021 (V2021)



S A C R A M E N T O  L O C A L  H O M E L E S S  A C T I O N  P L A N  –  2 0 2 2 7

The gaps analysis approach 
involved the following:

The gaps analysis estimates that among people who experience homelessness each year 
in Sacramento, approximately 15% of individual and family households experience only a 
brief episode of homelessness and are able to self-resolve and return to housing with limited 
assistance, if any. An additional approximately 38% could avoid homelessness with timely 
and targeted homelessness prevention assistance or could otherwise be diverted from the 
homeless response system with one-time or short-term problem-solving, financial assistance 
and/or housing navigation services. 

Among the 47% who cannot avoid or quickly exit homelessness, it is estimated that 65% of 
all households will need individualized short- to medium term housing navigation and financial 
assistance, while 33% will need ongoing rental assistance and supportive services to quickly 
resolve their homelessness and remain stably housed. Overall, over 90% of all households 
experiencing literal homelessness also need temporary housing (emergency shelter or interim/
transitional housing) while they are working to resolve their homelessness. 

Estimating the 
annual number 
of people who 
experience literal 
homelessness 
in Sacramento 
County.

Estimating the 
annual service 
needs of those who 
experience literal 
homelessness 
based on an 
optimal range 
and availability of 
services that result 
in homelessness 
being prevented 
or quickly and 
successfully ended.

Examination 
of current and 
planned (i.e., 
funded and under-
development) 
capacity expected 
to be available 
currently and in the 
next three years 
in Sacramento 
County to address 
service needs.

Estimating the service 
gaps remaining 
after accounting for 
current and planned 
capacity. Additional 
work is ongoing to 
better understand and 
quantify the service 
needs of people who 
experience literal 
homelessness, 
including physical 
and behavioral health 
needs.

1 32 4



S A C R A M E N T O  L O C A L  H O M E L E S S  A C T I O N  P L A N  –  2 0 2 28

This data reveals a need for increased investments in and expanded access to prevention, 
rehousing assistance, and affordable housing, including permanent supportive housing 
and other forms of ongoing housing and service assistance outside of the homeless 
response system. When fully scaled and available, such investments can effectively reduce 
homelessness and the need for more costly crisis responses, including emergency shelter. 

In the near-term however, until prevention and rehousing resources are more fully scaled, 
more emergency shelter is needed to reduce harm experienced by people who are 
unsheltered and to provide a safe, stable, and temporary shelter to access rehousing 
assistance and address other critical health and wellness needs more readily. 

The Sacramento Continuum of Care Needs Assessment and Gaps Analysis: Summary 
Findings can be found in Appendix A.

Addressing Racial Disparities
Nationally and locally, race and ethnicity are additional risk factors of homelessness. Several 
national organizations such as the National Alliance to End Homelessness and the federal 
Housing and Urban Development (HUD) have developed toolkits to assist local continuum of 
cares to identify and mitigate racial disparities within their homelessness programs. Addressing 
racial disparities within the countywide homeless response system is a priority for all the 
sponsoring partners and further advances the County’s Resolution Declaring Racism a Public 
Health Crisis3 and the City’s Race & Gender Equity Action Plan 2020-20254.

In Sacramento, the CoC formed a Racial Equity Committee in 2020 after reviewing the 
local data that revealed persons identifying as Black and American Indian/Alaskan Native 
communities experience homelessness at disproportionate rates. 

While persons identifying as Black only represent 11% of the population in our CoC’s 
geographic area, they represent approximately 39% of individuals who are experiencing 
homelessness and approximately 39% of families with children experiencing homelessness 
have a Black head of household5. Additionally, local data reflecting persons identifying as 
American Indian/Alaskan Native are not accessing homeless services in proportion to the 
number of people believed to be experiencing homelessness from that community. 
3https://www.saccounty.gov/news/Documents/RES_-_Racism_Public_Health_Crisis.doc.pdf
4https://www.cityofsacramento.org/-/media/Corporate/Files/CMO/RGEAP-20202025-Overview-v710012020.pdf?la=en#:~:text=Racial%20
Equity%20Statement8%20%E2%80%93%20The,service%20all%20our%20diverse%20communities
5HUD’ CoC Racial Equity Analysis Tool and Gaps Analysis CA-503 Sacramento City and County CoC: https://www.hudexchange.info/
resource/5787/coc-analysis-tool-race-and-ethnicity/

www.saccounty.gov/news/Documents/RES_-_Racism_Public_Health_Crisis.doc.pdf
www.cityofsacramento.org/-/media/Corporate/Files/CMO/RGEAP-20202025-Overview-v710012020.pdf%3Fla%3Den%23:~:text%3DRacial%2520Equity%2520Statement8%2520%E2%80%93%2520The%2Cservice%2520all%2520our%2520diverse%2520communities
www.cityofsacramento.org/-/media/Corporate/Files/CMO/RGEAP-20202025-Overview-v710012020.pdf%3Fla%3Den%23:~:text%3DRacial%2520Equity%2520Statement8%2520%E2%80%93%2520The%2Cservice%2520all%2520our%2520diverse%2520communities
www.hudexchange.info/resource/5787/coc-analysis-tool-race-and-ethnicity/
www.hudexchange.info/resource/5787/coc-analysis-tool-race-and-ethnicity/


S A C R A M E N T O  L O C A L  H O M E L E S S  A C T I O N  P L A N  –  2 0 2 2 9

The Racial Equity Committee conducted a community analysis including quantitative and 
qualitative date that identified contributing factors that highlighted a wide range of disparities 
that culminated into an action plan titled, The Findings & Recommendations from the CoC 
Racial Equity Committee6. Key report findings included: disparities in access to homeless 
services, undercounting and poor data collection within historically under-resourced 
communities, negative impacts of racial biases across the system including the assessment 
and prioritization processes for the allocation of resources, implementation of a trauma-
informed and racial equity approach to engage landlords to reduce historical discriminatory 
tenant leasing practices, and a lack of racial/ethnic, and lived expertise participation across all 
levels of the homelessness workforce. 

The Racial Equity Action Plan also identified a number of initial steps to begin redressing 
systemic harm. These include increasing access points in historically under-resourced 
communities; diversifying language and literacy levels on key documents to improve 
participants’ understanding and consent for services; increase hiring of diverse staff including 
partners with lived expertise across all organizational levels within the homeless response 
system; engaging in practices of restorative justice; and replacing the current common 
assessment tool with a culturally responsive design. These recommendations may become 
activities under one or more strategies within the plan. 

Cross-Jurisdictional Coordination under the Coronavirus Pandemic
During the Coronavirus pandemic, the County, Sacramento Steps Forward on behalf of the 
Continuum of Care (CoC), City of Sacramento, neighboring cities, and Sacramento Housing 
and Redevelopment Agency (SHRA) came together in unprecedented coordination to provide 
safe sheltering to Sacramento’s most vulnerable experiencing homelessness7. These leaders 
leveraged an infusion of state and federal relief dollars to operate 522 units of temporary 
sheltering that served nearly 2,000 people through Project Roomkey; reduced evictions for 
over 12,000 people from falling into homelessness through the Sacramento Emergency Rental 
Assistance program; and deployed an additional 30+ regional outreach workers. The plan 
sustains this demonstration of cross-jurisdictional planning, decision-making, and action. 
6https://sacramentostepsforward.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/10_SSF-Racial-Equity-Action-Plan-12-copy.pdf
7Persons aged 65 and older and/or with a chronic health condition.

RESOLUTION NO. __________

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE COUNTY OF 
SACRAMENTO DECLARING RACISM A PUBLIC HEALTH CRISIS

WHEREAS, Sacramento County is one of the Nation’s most diverse 

communities broadly recognized for celebrating its multi-cultural and 

ethnically diverse population, and it is the diversity of people of color who 

make the mosaic of Sacramento County such a wonderful place to live, 

work, play, learn, worship and raise a family; and

WHEREAS, it is incumbent on all locally appointed and elected policy 

makers to embrace, nurture, and protect the diversity of our community, 

and to ensure everyone has the opportunity to enjoy a life free from 

institutional, structural, systemic and interpersonal racial prejudice, bigotry, 

bias, derision, and hate; and

WHEREAS, institutional, structural, systemic and interpersonal racism 

adversely impacts the physical, mental and emotional health of people of 

color, and an emerging body of research demonstrates that racism is a social 

determinant of health that threatens health equity objectives; and

WHEREAS, the Sacramento County Board of Supervisors 

acknowledges and welcomes the inherent responsibility to shape policies, 

appropriate resources, implement programs, issue directives, and to 

otherwise advocate for racial equity and to speak-up and -out when it is 

clear institutional, structural, systemic and interpersonal racial prejudice, 

County’s Resolution Declaring 
Racism a Public Health Crisis

Updated October 2020 1 

 

 

 

 

RACE & GENDER EQUITY ACTION PLAN 2020-2025  

OVERVIEW 

JULY 2020 
 

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND – PAGE 2 

 

CALL FOR COORDINATED CITYWIDE ACTION – PAGE 3 

 

GOVERNMENT ALLIANCE ON RACE EQUITY – PAGE 4 

 

REFLECT THE CITY TO BETTER SERVE THE CITY – PAGE 4 

 

WHY FOCUS ON RACE? – PAGE 6 

 

ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS – PAGE 7 

 

PHASED IMPLEMENTATION APPROACH – PAGE 9 

 

ACHIEVING THE CITY’S VISION OF RACIAL AND GENDER EQUITY – PAGE 9 

 

RGEAP STRATEGIC PLAN ROLL OUT STEP OBJECTIVES AND TIMELINE – PAGE 11 

 

City’s Race & Gender Equity 
Action Plan 2020-2025

HUD’ CoC Racial Equity Analysis Tool and 
Gaps Analysis

S A C R A M E N T O  C O N T I N U U M  O F  C A R E  ( C O C )

ACTION 
PLAN: 

SUMMER 2021

Findings & 
Recommendations 
from the CoC Racial 
Equity Committee

The Findings & 
Recommendations 
from the CoC 
Racial Equity 
Committee

https://sacramentostepsforward.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/10_SSF-Racial-Equity-Action-Plan-12-copy.pdf
www.saccounty.gov/news/Documents/RES_-_Racism_Public_Health_Crisis.doc.pdf
www.saccounty.gov/news/Documents/RES_-_Racism_Public_Health_Crisis.doc.pdf
www.saccounty.gov/news/Documents/RES_-_Racism_Public_Health_Crisis.doc.pdf
www.cityofsacramento.org/-/media/Corporate/Files/CMO/RGEAP-20202025-Overview-v710012020.pdf%3Fla%3Den%23:~:text%3DRacial%2520Equity%2520Statement8%2520%E2%80%93%2520The%2Cservice%2520all%2520our%2520diverse%2520communities
www.cityofsacramento.org/-/media/Corporate/Files/CMO/RGEAP-20202025-Overview-v710012020.pdf%3Fla%3Den%23:~:text%3DRacial%2520Equity%2520Statement8%2520%E2%80%93%2520The%2Cservice%2520all%2520our%2520diverse%2520communities
www.cityofsacramento.org/-/media/Corporate/Files/CMO/RGEAP-20202025-Overview-v710012020.pdf%3Fla%3Den%23:~:text%3DRacial%2520Equity%2520Statement8%2520%E2%80%93%2520The%2Cservice%2520all%2520our%2520diverse%2520communities
www.hudexchange.info/resource/5787/coc-analysis-tool-race-and-ethnicity/
www.hudexchange.info/resource/5787/coc-analysis-tool-race-and-ethnicity/
www.hudexchange.info/resource/5787/coc-analysis-tool-race-and-ethnicity/
https://sacramentostepsforward.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/10_SSF-Racial-Equity-Action-Plan-12-copy.pdf
https://sacramentostepsforward.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/10_SSF-Racial-Equity-Action-Plan-12-copy.pdf
https://sacramentostepsforward.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/10_SSF-Racial-Equity-Action-Plan-12-copy.pdf
https://sacramentostepsforward.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/10_SSF-Racial-Equity-Action-Plan-12-copy.pdf
https://sacramentostepsforward.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/10_SSF-Racial-Equity-Action-Plan-12-copy.pdf
https://sacramentostepsforward.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/10_SSF-Racial-Equity-Action-Plan-12-copy.pdf


S A C R A M E N T O  L O C A L  H O M E L E S S  A C T I O N  P L A N  –  2 0 2 210

METHODOLOGY

The development of this plan leveraged existing efforts to address homelessness and
included the following process: 

Reviewed current City, County, and CoC plans including:
City of Sacramento Comprehensive Siting Plan (2021)
County of Sacramento Homeless Plan (2018)
County Programs exclusively Serving Homeless Population (May 2021, February 2022)
Sacramento CoC Action Plan: Findings & Recommendations from the CoC Racial 
Equity Committee (2021)
Sacramento CoC Gaps Analysis (2021)

Synthesized key points and created an inventory of all current and planned programs and 
activities. 

Designed a recommended theory of change in alignment with national best-practices to 
meet required state and national system performance outcomes by clustering activities into 
five key strategies. 

Held an in-person visioning session with strategic partners to further refine the theory of 
change model.

Sought input from select CoC Committees and the larger community during the Annual 
CoC public meeting held on April 21, 2022.

Concurrent to these steps, the Continuum of Care also commissioned the 2022 Needs 
Assessment and Gaps Analysis referenced above. Emerging data from this effort has been 
integrated into this plan. See Appendix A for a summary of the 2022 Needs Assessment and 
Gaps Analysis. 



S A C R A M E N T O  L O C A L  H O M E L E S S  A C T I O N  P L A N  –  2 0 2 2 11

NATIONAL BEST PRACTICES FOR  
OPTIMAL HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEMS 

Communities across the country are implementing national best practices identified 
by leading entities such as the U.S. Interagency Council on Homelessness and the 
National Alliance to End Homelessness to optimize their homeless response systems. 

Key elements supported by evidence-based research include the following components: 

 Coordinated Access System (CAS)

 Prevention, diversion, and problem-solving resources

 Crisis Response focused on rehousing participants

 Permanent housing opportunities dedicated to persons exiting homelessness

 A robust, diverse workforce reflective of participants experiencing homelessness and 
inclusive of partners with lived expertise

 Quality HMIS data with participation and coverage of all homelessness programs

 Collaborative & coordinated cross-jurisdictional planning and implementation process

These system elements were considered in the development of the proposed countywide 
strategies and activities outlined in the plan.



S A C R A M E N T O  L O C A L  H O M E L E S S  A C T I O N  P L A N  –  2 0 2 212

GUIDING PRINCIPLES

Stakeholders identified several qualitative principles in addition to the quantitative 
measures to apply across all proposed strategies in support of a shared vision for a 
more collaborative, accessible, equitable, and transparent homeless response system. 

These principles include:

 Strive to make homelessness in Sacramento rare, brief, and non-recurring

 Implement a person-centered, trauma-informed countywide response system, which 
provides access to immediate and on-going supportive service needs (i.e., mental health, 
substance use, housing retention) 

 Promote housing-first policies and practices 

 Address racial disparities across programs and system outcomes

 Create partnerships that value the experience, voice, and contribution of Partners with 
Lived Expertise

 Collect quality data and use to inform decisions on program prioritization and resource 
allocation

 Facilitate collaborative planning and decision-making across jurisdictions



S A C R A M E N T O  L O C A L  H O M E L E S S  A C T I O N  P L A N  –  2 0 2 2 13

STRATEGIES & ACTIVITIES

The local homeless action plan is arranged into five 
core strategies that represent essential components 
to build an effective and coordinated homelessness 

response system with capacity to move the needle and 
make homelessness rare, brief, and non-recurring within 
the Sacramento community. Each strategy is supported  
by sub strategies to provide additional strategic direction. 

Strategies can be thought of as strategic initiatives or 
focus points to guide investments by local decision-
makers in the deployment of resources including funding, 
workforce, capital investments, and cross-jurisdictional 
planning. The five strategies presented in this plan are 
offered as foundational steps and create a transitional 
roadmap towards the development of an optimal 
Countywide response system that can be scaled up  
over time, while creating measurable impact during  
these first three years of implementation. 

The sub strategies support the strategies and are designed 
to evolve each year with increased understanding of  
local needs through processes of continual feedback, 
system refinement, and improved data-collection. First 
Steps are presented as a year one guidepost to track 
progress. As data is collected during the first-year 
numerical targets may be added to the First Steps to 
measure progress over years 2 and 3. The partners will 
continue to work with the community to identify annual 
activities that will advance these strategies. 

These core strategies and sub strategies listed 
below align with national best practices to address 
homelessness, integrate in the guiding principles, and 
provide a critical path toward making a collective impact 
in addressing homelessness.

1

2

34

5

Build and Scale a Countywide 
Coordinated Access System (CAS)

Increase Permanent  
Housing Opportunities

Invest in Community  
Capacity-Building and Training

Ensure Current and New 
Emergency Shelter and Interim 
Housing is Focused on Rehousing

Expand Prevention and 
Diversion Resources

1

3

2

4

5



S A C R A M E N T O  L O C A L  H O M E L E S S  A C T I O N  P L A N  –  2 0 2 214

 Strategy 1: Build and Scale a Countywide Coordinated Access System (CAS) 
 Sub Strategy 1.a: Increase targeted participation in homeless crisis response services.
 Sub Strategy 1.b: Grow and embed problem-solving/diversion in all system access sites, 

safe grounds, respite centers and emergency shelters.
 Sub Strategy 1.c: Provide comprehensive and aligned outreach Countywide.

 Strategy 2: Ensure Current and New Emergency Shelter and Interim Housing 
is Focused on Rehousing
 Sub Strategy 2.a: Align the Cities’ and County’s current and emerging shelter and interim 

housing programs with the Coordinated Access System to increase access and occupancy 
of available units. 

 Sub Strategy 2.b: Increase permanent housing exits across all emergency shelter & interim 
housing programs.

 Strategy 3: Increase Permanent Housing Opportunities 
 Sub Strategy 3.a: Increase rehousing assistance and improve access to existing and new 

units in market and subsidized programs. 
 Sub Strategy 3.b: Increase the stock of permanent supportive housing units and other 

dedicated affordable housing units for people experiencing homelessness.
 Sub Strategy 3.c: Develop a regional landlord engagement partnership program to increase 

the number of participating landlords across all homelessness rehousing programs.
 Strategy 4: Expand Prevention and Diversion Resources

 Sub Strategy 4.a: Coordinate and leverage prevention resources across jurisdictions to 
connect households at imminent risk of homelessness to stabilization resources to avoid 
literal homelessness.

 Sub Strategy 4.b: Scale existing prevention and diversion programs into a countywide 
rehousing program. 

 Strategy 5: Invest in Community Capacity-Building and Training
 Sub Strategy 5.a: Create an inclusive & supportive working environment to retain the 

current workforce and attract new staff from historically under-resourced communities and 
partners with lived expertise.

 Sub Strategy 5.b: Increase community stakeholder support for countywide homelessness 
activities through increased engagement.

A matrix of all strategies and sub strategies can be found in Appendix B.



S A C R A M E N T O  L O C A L  H O M E L E S S  A C T I O N  P L A N  –  2 0 2 2 15

Sub Strategy 1.a: Increase targeted participation in homeless crisis response services

Sub Strategy 1.b: Grow and embed problem-solving/diversion in all system access sites, 
safe grounds, respite centers and emergency shelters

Sub Strategy 1.c: Provide comprehensive and aligned outreach Countywide 

Currently, a person seeking homeless services in Sacramento County must potentially 
navigate over 100 “front-doors” to find the right assistance to meet his/her/their need. There is 
not one single access point at this time that can connect a person experiencing homelessness 
to the right shelter and/or housing resource and there is not sufficient capacity that results 
in a positive exit from homelessness even if the person could find the right door. Instead, 
programs are siloed, and services are limited to the offerings of a particular service provider 
without a systemwide mechanism for uniform assessment and to make referrals to or directly 
provide crisis services, including temporary housing, and rehousing assistance based on 
identified client needs. Additional barriers to services include limited or no access points in 
key under-resourced communities and mono-lingual materials on homelessness services that 
are not inclusive of all the key languages reflective of the diverse demographics of people 
experiencing homelessness. 

A countywide coordinated access system is a mechanism and national best practice that will 
centralize access to and improve the efficacy of homeless and rehousing services across a 
variety of geographically and virtual access points and within all existing and future shelter 
sites. When fully implemented, it will: increase access to immediate housing crisis screening, 
problem-solving, and navigational support through expansion of 211 and partnerships with 
trusted cultural community partners; allow for more streamlined and standardized assessment, 
prioritization, triage and intake processes across all available forms of rehousing assistance 
currently and as new rehousing capacity is added; and improve accuracy and timeliness in 
matching the right person to the right resourced pathway for successful rehousing. 

First Steps: 
 Increase dedicated coordinated access navigators to support diversion and system access 

 Increase dedicated 211 coordinated access staff 

Build and Scale a Countywide 
Coordinated Access System (CAS)1



S A C R A M E N T O  L O C A L  H O M E L E S S  A C T I O N  P L A N  –  2 0 2 216

Sub Strategy 2.a: Align the Cities’ and County’s current and emerging shelter and interim 
housing programs with the Coordinated Access System to increase access 
and occupancy of available units.

Sub Strategy 2.b: Increase permanent housing exits across all emergency shelter & interim 
housing programs.

According to the 2019 Point-in-Time Count, approximately 70% of people experiencing 
homelessness within the County are unsheltered, residing in places not meant for human 
habitation such as vehicles and street encampments, increasing visibility and raising concern 
over the health and safety of all. Unsheltered homelessness was exacerbated by the 
Coronavirus pandemic when traditional safety-nets closed or transferred services to online 
platforms, leaving many under-resourced homeless communities without access to basic needs. 
Local jurisdictions have responded with investments in temporary sheltering initiatives including 
safe grounds and safe parking programs, Respite Centers, increased use of motel vouchers, 
and plans to open and/or expand emergency shelters and navigation centers. An estimated 
2,200 to 2,700 total emergency shelter and transitional housing beds for individuals and 300 to 
350 units for families will be needed once the system has fully developed prevention, diversion, 
and various forms of rehousing assistance. This is roughly equal to the amount of shelter 
and transitional housing currently available in Sacramento County. In the near-term, current 
shelter and transitional housing capacity is only available for approximately one out of four 
individuals and families in need. Investments are needed in the short-term to meet local crisis 
response needs for shelter and other forms of temporary housing, while investments to increase 
prevention and permanent housing options are secured that will reduce this need. 
This strategy highlights the need to identify additional resources required to ensure that current 
and new emergency shelter options have access to and/or provide pathways to rehousing 
opportunities for all clients. It also outlines a plan to develop additional units (congregate and 
non-congregate) of flexible, emergency shelter and interim housing in the near-term that can 
later be repurposed into permanent housing options as the demand for shelter falls when new 
permanent housing options come online.

First Steps: 
Increase emergency shelter, interim, and transitional housing full-service beds dedicated to 
rehousing
Increase dedicated housing navigators in contracted shelters

Ensure Current and New 
Emergency Shelter and Interim 
Housing is Focused on Rehousing2



S A C R A M E N T O  L O C A L  H O M E L E S S  A C T I O N  P L A N  –  2 0 2 2 17

Sub Strategy 3.a: Increase rehousing assistance and improve access to existing and new units 
in market and subsidized programs. 

Sub Strategy 3.b: Increase the stock of permanent supportive housing units and other dedicated 
affordable housing units for people experiencing homelessness.

Sub Strategy 3.c: Develop a regional landlord engagement partnership program to increase the 
number of participating landlords across all homelessness rehousing programs

Access to affordable housing is a central reason why many people fall into homelessness in 
the Sacramento region. The homeless response system cannot solve the County’s affordable 
housing crisis on its own; however, it can leverage homelessness funding to expand rehousing 
opportunities dedicated to this population. Housing opportunities include ongoing rental assistance, 
permanent supportive housing, time-limited rehousing services and rental assistance (including 
individualized housing navigation) and other forms of affordable permanent housing dedicated or 
prioritized for people experiencing homelessness. 
According to the Gaps Analysis, the County’s homeless response system optimally needs 2,800 
to 3,400 short/medium term rehousing service slots for individuals and 250 to 320 service slots for 
families, leaving a current gap of 600-750 total rehousing service slots. Additionally, approximately 
5,900 to 7,100 total units of permanent supportive housing (PSH) are needed for individuals and 
families with at least one severely and persistently disable household member, particularly for 
people who are disabled and experience chronic homelessness. This capacity would address PSH 
needs among households who are currently chronically homeless, as well as those who become 
chronic homeless each year. After accounting for current and planned PSH capacity coming online 
in the next three years, it is estimated that an additional 2,700 to 3,300 PSH units are needed. 
For other disabled individuals and families with a disabled adult or child, approximately 1,600 
to 2,000 annual placements in permanent housing that is subsidized and provides access to 
supportive services (e.g., assisted living, service-enriched housing, skilled nursing facility) are 
needed beyond what individuals and families are currently able to access.
Housing discrimination remains a barrier to housing for many persons identifying with historically 
under-resourced communities. Landlord engagement programs coming online under this initiative 
will implement a trauma-informed and racial equity lens in working with participating landlords. 

First Steps: 
Increase housing exits for households connected to outreach, shelter, and other crisis response 
programs through a landlord engagement & rehousing initiative 

Increase Permanent  
Housing Opportunities3



S A C R A M E N T O  L O C A L  H O M E L E S S  A C T I O N  P L A N  –  2 0 2 218

Expand Prevention and 
Diversion Resources4

Sub Strategy 4.a: Coordinate and leverage prevention resources across jurisdictions 
to connect households at imminent risk of literal homelessness to 
stabilization resources to avoid literal homelessness.

Sub Strategy 4.b: Sub Strategy 4.b: Scale existing prevention and diversion programs into a 
countywide rehousing program. 

Investment in the expansion of prevention and diversion resources presents the greatest 
opportunity to reduce inflow into homelessness and minimize cost in crisis services, including 
the unnecessary trauma caused by loss of housing. It is estimated that there are approximately 
3,200 individuals and 350 families that could be prevented from becoming homeless if the 
homeless response system had at least 29 FTEs and at least $7.5M annually in financial 
assistance for prevention and diversion resources. These resources will need to grow over 
time and coordinated with other system components for maximum effectiveness. 

As funding for the expansion of prevention and diversion resources is sought, this strategy 
seeks action steps that can prevent at-risk households from falling into homelessness and/or 
divert from entry into the homeless response system.

First Steps: 
 Increase availability of housing problem-solving and diversion services for all people 

engaged with the Coordinated Access System. 



S A C R A M E N T O  L O C A L  H O M E L E S S  A C T I O N  P L A N  –  2 0 2 2 19

Invest in Community  
Capacity-Building and Training5

Sub Strategy 5.a: Create an inclusive & supportive working environment to retain the 
current workforce and attract new staff from historically under-resourced 
communities and partners with lived expertise. 

Sub Strategy 5.b: Increase community stakeholder support for countywide homelessness 
activities through increased engagement. 

Successful implementation of this plan relies on the local homelessness workforce and support 
from the broader community. During the Coronavirus pandemic, homeless response system 
staff at all levels of leadership and stature demonstrated incredible resilience on the frontlines 
with an all-hands-on-deck approach to ensure necessary services for the community’s most 
vulnerable residents. Sacramento residents were also gracious in support of new crisis 
models such as Project RoomKey and expansion of safe parking and safe ground initiatives. 
Despite the tremendous show of commitment from the homeless provider community during 
COVID, higher turnover rates and difficulty filling vacancies has become commonplace. As 
the community seeks to adapt to its new post-pandemic normal, there is a concern that the 
response system will continue to lose workers through the burnout, competition with higher-
paying industries, and compassion fatigue. 
This strategy seeks to reinvigorate the workforce and workplace culture to retain and advance 
current staff while leveraging position vacancies to attract an increasingly diverse workforce 
more reflective of participants being served from historically under-resourced communities, 
including partners with lived experience. Embracing workforce strategies that support 
employees from under-resourced communities improves the workplace culture for all staff. 
This strategy also seeks to engage trusted community organizations who may not provide 
direct homeless services but would make great partners to increase awareness and access to 
this expansion of homelessness services. Finally, this strategy seeks to work with homeless 
service providers, faith-based, and grassroots organizations to develop community education 
strategies and volunteer opportunities to engage the community at-large in the implementation 
of these solutions. 

First Steps: 
 Implement workforce recruitment and retention activities to support all employees, targeting 

staff from under-resourced communities including partners with lived expertise. 
 Develop a standard high-quality annual training agenda for homelessness services staff
 Develop and provide general educational materials that explains how to access services 

and navigate the homeless crisis response system.



S A C R A M E N T O  L O C A L  H O M E L E S S  A C T I O N  P L A N  –  2 0 2 220

CONCLUSION

The Sacramento community is at the crossroads of an incredible opportunity to harness 
existing homelessness efforts and bring them to scale to address this urgent crisis. 
Investment and implementation of the strategies and sub strategies outlined in this local 

homeless action plan will transform the status quo and generate visible and meaningful change 
to make homelessness in Sacramento rare, brief, and non-recurring. 
This plan sets a unifying strategy for optimal homeless response and enhances current crisis 
response investments made by cities and the County. With current and additional funding 
opportunities on the horizon, this plan opens pathways to future funding by presenting an 
assessment of need and gaps that new dollars can fill. It demonstrates the cost effectiveness 
in pivoting from investments in crisis-only-responses to additional investments in homeless 
prevention, diversion, and problem-solving services to make them accessible for all people at-
risk and/or seeking emergency shelter. The plan also identifies additional rehousing opportunities 
that are needed to create a streamlined flow so that system-users can exit homelessness in an 
efficient and streamlined manner, hopefully matched to an appropriate rehousing resource to 
mitigate their return to homelessness. 
Additional efficiencies that this plan may generate upon successful implementation include 
increased HMIS participation with improved data collection and analysis; expansion of 
shelter and rehousing programs participating with the coordinated access system; increased 
coordination among funders and providers for staff recruitment and provision of staff training 
initiatives; and collaborative cross-regional planning and decision-making. 
Success of this plan requires real commitment to implementation; additional investments; 
collective action; transparent progress reports and impact measurements and engaged 
stakeholders. It will require expanding the circle to include increased participation by the local 
healthcare, philanthropic, and business sectors. It will also require the ongoing support of the 
local community including creating additional opportunities for volunteerism and education on 
homelessness programs and services. 
The plan will be measured through consistent review of the system level performance goals and 
presentation of these in a public-facing dashboard to be managed by Sacramento Steps Forward. 
Once adopted by local governing bodies, the plan’s partners will continue to work with the 
community to develop an annual slate of activities that offer strong action steps toward the 
advancement of the strategies and sub-strategies and quantify the First Steps milestones. 
All together we can make a collective impact on addressing homelessness in Sacramento. 



S A C R A M E N T O  L O C A L  H O M E L E S S  A C T I O N  P L A N  –  2 0 2 2 21

Appendix A

Sacramento Continuum of Care 
Needs Assessment and Gaps Analysis: Summary Findings
The following are summary findings from a comprehensive gaps analysis conducted by 
Sacramento Steps Forward, in consultation with the Sacramento Continuum of Care, City of 
Sacramento, and Sacramento County. The gaps analysis approach involved the following:

1. Estimating the annual number of people who experience literal homelessness in 
Sacramento County.

2. Estimating the annual service needs of those who experience literal homelessness, 
including need for targeted prevention assistance, based on an optimal range and 
availability of services that result in literal homelessness being prevented or quickly and 
successfully ended.

3. Examination of current and planned (i.e., funded and under-development) capacity 
expected to be available currently and in the next three years in Sacramento County to 
address service needs.

4. Estimating the service gaps remaining after accounting for current and planned capacity. 

A complete description of gaps analysis methods, assumptions, and results will be provided in 
a separate report, pending availability of 2022 point-in-time (PIT) count data and any resulting 
adjustments to the gaps analysis findings reflected below.

Estimated Annual Number of People who Experience Literal Homelessness in 
Sacramento County: 16,500 to 20,000
It is estimated that between 16,500 and 20,000 people in any given year experience literal 
homelessness in Sacramento County1. 

Key Characteristics
Among people who experience literal homelessness annually, it is estimated that:

• One out of four people (~23%) are adults and children in family households.

• Almost half of all people (~45%) are unsheltered (1 or more days) and do not or cannot 
1The range is based on -5% and +15% of the specific estimate of 17,355 people annually. A range is used as the exact estimate is used only 
as a baseline for system modeling. The annual estimate was calculated using a combination of Homeless Management Information System 
(HMIS) data for calendar year 2021 and the 2019 Point-in-Time (PIT) count for the Sacramento CoC geographic area (Sacramento County).



S A C R A M E N T O  L O C A L  H O M E L E S S  A C T I O N  P L A N  –  2 0 2 222

access shelter.

• Two out of three (~66%) access homeless assistance (outreach, shelter, re-housing, etc.), 
but the remainder do not due to insufficient capacity, access, quality of services, or other 
issues. 

• Black and African American people are significantly over-represented among people who 
experience homelessness: 39% of all people experiencing homelessness compared with 
11% overall in Sacramento County2.

• Just over half of all adults (~54%) report having one or more severe and persistent 
disabling condition.
o One out of five adults (~22%) report having a severe mental illness.
o One out of ten adults (~11%) report having a substance use disorder.
o One out of four adults (~24%) adults are chronically homeless (disabled and literally 

homeless for 12 months or more currently or over four episodes in three years); most 
are in adult only households.

Estimated Annual Prevention and Homeless Assistance Needs 
The following service estimates are based on documented or otherwise assumed needs 
among those who experience literal homelessness annually. The estimates assume a much 
higher use of services than currently (91% vs 66%) due to greater availability of services, 
improved community-wide and equitable access, and adherence by providers to evidence-
based practices. The gaps included in the table are estimates and assume that each type of 
service is generally available when needed and desired by qualifying populations. 

2American Community Survey, Sacramento County Population Estimates, July 2021 (V2021)



S A C R A M E N T O  L O C A L  H O M E L E S S  A C T I O N  P L A N  –  2 0 2 2 23

Key Takeaways
 Estimates will be adjusted as more current data is available (e.g., forthcoming 2022 PIT 
data).

 Investments in prevention, diversion, and permanent housing solutions (e.g., housing 
navigation, rapid rehousing, permanent supportive housing) will directly reduce the number 
of people experiencing homelessness, the time people spend homeless, and returns to 
homelessness. When funded, developed, and operated consistently, these responses can 
eliminate the need for additional emergency shelter capacity.

 Alternatively, without significant additional prevention and rehousing capacity (“business as 
usual”), more people will experience homelessness, requiring more emergency shelter and 
other costly crisis services.

 Near-term investment in additional shelter capacity is needed to ensure safety and access 
to rehousing assistance but should be flexible to allow for later repurposing/use for housing.

 Efforts are needed to increase positive turn-over (and openings) among current PSH units, 
increase the overall number of PSH units funded with homeless assistance and other 
resources, and increase other community-based affordable housing and service solutions 
to address gaps. 

 The need for rehousing supports and affordable, supportive housing options cannot 
be met by the homeless crisis response system alone. Cross-sector collaborations to 
develop sustainable housing and service supports for people with needs beyond housing 
are needed, such as for people with severe and persistent disabling conditions, returning 
citizens (following incarceration), and for older adults.

Factors Influencing Future Need

Population growth and demographic changes:
Although the Sacramento County general population growth is just under 1% on average per 
year over the past ten years, changes in demographic makeup (e.g., higher rate of growth 
among low- and very low-income households) of the County can directly affect the number 
of people experiencing homelessness and potentially needing prevention or shelter and 
rehousing assistance. The gaps analysis assumes no marked changes in population growth or 
characteristics will occur over the next five years.

Availability of affordable housing and other forms of assisted/supportive housing in the 
community:
The severe lack of naturally occurring and subsidized affordable housing options directly 
impacts the number of households that are precariously housed and inherently at-risk of 
literal homelessness. The average rent in Sacramento County has increased 16.7% since 
2019, increasingly pricing out lower-income households, while at the same time vacancy rates 



S A C R A M E N T O  L O C A L  H O M E L E S S  A C T I O N  P L A N  –  2 0 2 224

3Fair Market Rents are often not fully representative of typical rental costs and likely understate actual rental costs in many areas.

are declining, directly decreasing viable housing options for lower-income households, and 
increasing risk for housing insecurity and homelessness. According to the latest Out of Reach 
report from the National Low-Income Housing Coalition, a full-time worker would have to earn 
at least $28.75 to afford a two-bedroom apartment at current fair market rental rates ($1,495)3. 
The gaps analysis assumes housing market conditions will not materially improve. 

Landlord partnerships:
Landlord partners are essential the success of homeless crisis response system, both to 
support and prevent households who are facing eviction, as well as to increase access 
to housing options in the rental market that might otherwise not be available to people 
experiencing homelessness and systemic racism. Increased investment in landlord 
partnerships and the capacity to maintain and grow partnerships can indirectly and directly 
influence the success of prevention and rehousing efforts, particularly with owners and 
property managers willing to consider applicants with potential credit, rental history, or criminal 
justice system involvement. The gaps analysis assumes growing investment and partnerships 
will occur as part of the natural evolution of the homeless crisis response system, consistent 
with other communities around California and the U.S.

Fidelity to evidence-based and best practices:
There is a growing body of empirical research on program practices and interventions, and 
documented evidence-based practices that prevention and homeless assistance providers 
can adopt to improve service quality, equity, and outcomes. Adherence to practices such as 
Housing First, motivational interviewing, harm reduction, and positive youth development, are 
key to improving system performance while ensuring efficient and, when needed, targeted use 
of resources. The gaps analysis assumes local providers will continue to adopt and iterate 
evidence-based and best practices, while local public and private funders continue to further 
standardize such practices and requirements in program funding, monitoring, and compliance 
activities.

Funding availability and strategic allocation:
Funding availability and strategic allocation for prevention and homeless services is a critical 
ingredient to developing a comprehensive, coordinated, and community-wide approach to 
preventing and ending homelessness. Coordinated approaches to determining local priorities, 
allocating resources, and monitoring investments for intended outcomes are hallmarks of high 
functioning, equitable, and effective homelessness prevention, and crisis response systems. 
The gaps analysis assumes that local entities – the City of Sacramento, Sacramento County, 
other Sacramento County municipalities, and the Continuum of Care – will continue to align 
funding priorities and allocation decisions toward achieving the regional plan, closing gaps, 
and achieving better outcomes for Sacramento residents. 



S A C R A M E N T O  L O C A L  H O M E L E S S  A C T I O N  P L A N  –  2 0 2 2 25

Appendix B

Summary of Strategies and Sub Strategies
 Strategy 1: Build and Scale a Countywide Coordinated Access System (CAS) 

 Sub Strategy 1.a: Increase targeted participation in homeless crisis response services.
 Sub Strategy 1.b: Grow and embed problem-solving/diversion in all system access sites, 

safe grounds, respite centers and emergency shelters.
 Sub Strategy 1.c: Provide comprehensive and aligned outreach Countywide.

 Strategy 2: Ensure Current and New Emergency Shelter and Interim Housing 
is Focused on Rehousing
 Sub Strategy 2.a: Align the Cities’ and County’s current and emerging shelter and interim 

housing programs with the Coordinated Access System to increase access and occupancy 
of available units. 

 Sub Strategy 2.b: Increase permanent housing exits across all emergency shelter & interim 
housing programs.

 Strategy 3: Increase Permanent Housing Opportunities 
 Sub Strategy 3.a: Increase rehousing assistance and improve access to existing and new 

units in market and subsidized programs. 
 Sub Strategy 3.b: Increase the stock of permanent supportive housing units and other 

dedicated affordable housing units for people experiencing homelessness.
 Sub Strategy 3.c: Develop a regional landlord engagement partnership program to increase 

the number of participating landlords across all homelessness rehousing programs.
 Strategy 4: Expand Prevention and Diversion Resources

 Sub Strategy 4.a: Coordinate and leverage prevention resources across jurisdictions to 
connect households at imminent risk of homelessness to stabilization resources to avoid 
literal homelessness.

 Sub Strategy 4.b: Scale existing prevention and diversion programs into a countywide 
rehousing program. 

 Strategy 5: Invest in Community Capacity-Building and Training
 Sub Strategy 5.a: Create an inclusive & supportive working environment to retain the 

current workforce and attract new staff from historically under-resourced communities and 
partners with lived expertise.

 Sub Strategy 5.b: Increase community stakeholder support for countywide homelessness 
activities through increased engagement.



S A C R A M E N T O  L O C A L  H O M E L E S S  A C T I O N  P L A N  –  2 0 2 226

Appendix C

Glossary of Terms
Cal-AIM is the California Advancing & 
Innovating Medi-Cal initiative sponsored by 
the state Department of Health Care Services 
is a long-term commitment to transforming 
and sustaining Medi-Cal, offering 
Californians, including persons experiencing 
homelessness, a more equitable, 
coordinated, person-centered approach to 
maximizing their health and life trajectory. 
Chronically Homeless Individual 
refers to an individual with a disability who 
has been continuously homeless for one 
year or more or has experienced at least four 
episodes of homelessness in the last three 
years where the combined length of time 
homeless on those occasions is at least 12 
months. 
Chronically Homeless People in 
Families refers to people in families in 
which the head of household has a disability 
and has either been continuously homeless 
for one year or more or has experienced at 
least four episodes of homelessness in the 
last three years where the combined length of 
time homeless on those occasions is at least 
12 months. 
Congregate Shelter is an emergency 
shelter where the residents share a common 
sleeping area.
Continuum of Care (CoC) is the local 
planning body responsible for coordinating 
the full range of homelessness services in the 

Sacramento region and may cover the cities, 
county, and unincorporated geographic areas. 
Coordinated Access System (CAS) 
is a regionally based system that connects 
new and existing programs into a “no wrong-
door network” by assessing the needs of 
individuals/ families/youth experiencing 
homelessness and linking them with the most 
appropriate housing and services to end their 
homelessness.
Diversion Services is a client-driven 
approach designed to immediately help a 
person or household who just lost housing 
find safe alternative housing, rather than 
entering shelter or experiencing unsheltered 
homelessness. 
Emergency Shelter is a facility with the 
primary purpose of providing temporary 
shelter for homeless people. 
Homeless describes a person who lacks 
a fixed, regular, and adequate nighttime 
residence. 
Homeless Management Information 
System (HMIS) is a computerized data 
collection system designed to capture client 
information over time on the characteristics, 
service needs and accomplishments of 
homeless persons. Implementation of an 
HMIS is required by the federal department 
Housing and Urban Development (HUD) for 
programs receiving federal funding through 
the Continuum of Care (CoC).



S A C R A M E N T O  L O C A L  H O M E L E S S  A C T I O N  P L A N  –  2 0 2 2 27

homelessness, moving them quickly out of 
homelessness and into permanent housing. 
Street Outreach is defined as the activity 
of engaging unsheltered homeless individuals 
through the process of rapport building 
with the goal of linking that individual to a 
permanent housing resource. 
Sheltered Homelessness refers to 
people who are staying in emergency 
shelters, transitional housing programs, or 
safe havens.
Transitional Housing Programs 
provide people experiencing homelessness 
a place to stay combined with supportive 
services for up to 24 months. 
Unaccompanied Homeless Youth 
(under 18) are people in households with 
only children who are not part of a family 
with children or accompanied by their 
parent or guardian during their episode of 
homelessness, and who are under the age of 
18. 
Unaccompanied Homeless Youth 
(18–24) are people in households without 
children who are not part of a family 
with children or accompanied by their 
parent or guardian during their episode of 
homelessness and who are between the 
ages of 18 and 24. 
Unsheltered Homelessness refers to 
people whose primary nighttime location 
is a public or private place not designated 
for, or ordinarily used as, a regular sleeping 
accommodation for people (for example, the 
streets, vehicles, or parks).
Veteran refers to any person who served on 
active duty in the armed forces of the United 
States. This includes Reserves and National 
Guard members who were called up to active 
duty. 

Homelessness Prevention refers to 
policies, practices, and interventions that 
reduce the likelihood that someone will 
experience homelessness.
Housing First is an approach that offers 
permanent housing as quickly as possible 
for people experiencing homelessness, 
particularly for people with long histories 
of homelessness and co-occurring health 
challenges, while providing the supportive 
services people need to keep their housing 
and avoid returning to homelessness.
Individual refers to a person who is not part 
of a family with children during an episode of 
homelessness. Individuals may be homeless 
as single adults, unaccompanied youth, or in 
multiple-adult or multiple-child households. 
Non-congregate Shelter is an 
emergency shelter that provides private 
sleeping space, such as a hotel or motel 
room. 
Other Permanent Housing is housing 
with or without services that is specifically 
for people who formerly experienced 
homelessness but that does not require 
people to have a disability. 
People in Families with Children are 
people who are experiencing homelessness 
as part of a household that has at least one 
adult (age 18 and older) and one child (under 
age 18).
Permanent Supportive Housing 
(PSH) is a housing model designed to 
provide housing assistance (project and 
tenant-based) and supportive services on 
a long-term basis to people who formerly 
experienced homelessness. Participants are 
required to have a disability for eligibility. 
Rapid Rehousing is a housing model 
designed to provide temporary housing 
assistance to people experiencing 





DHCS Housing and Homelessness 
Incentive Program (HHIP)

Program Overview for Sacramento
Continuum of Care Board Meeting

June 8, 2022



HHIP High-Level Overview



Voluntary Medi-Cal Managed Care Plan (MCP) Incentive Program that rewards MCPs for developing 
capacity and partnerships that enhance member connections to needed housing services and ultimately 
taking a more active role in reducing and preventing homelessness.

Program Timeline: 1/1/2022 – 12/31/2023, with funding available through 3/31/2024

Total HHIP Incentive Funds: $1.288 billion one-time funds statewide*
◦ DHCS determined maximum allocations per County based on a range of factors, including MCP

membership, revenue, and county point-in-time (PIT) counts of homelessness as of 2019.**
◦ MCPs, CoCs, and local housing stakeholders must collaborate to meet specific metrics to receive the

maximum available funds.
◦ MCPs will partner with CoCs and other community stakeholders to determine investment strategies.

* $644 million in state funds [ARPA] + $644 million in matching federal funding
** Subject to the requirement of 42 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) section 438.6(b)(2) that incentive payments not exceed five percent of the value of payments attributable to the enrollees
or services covered by the incentive arrangement.  DHCS may, at its discretion, use an updated PIT count as appropriate to redetermine the amounts for Program Year 2.

3

HHIP Background & Overview



HHIP Two-Year Timeline

4

Program 
Design

LHP Proposal 
due June 30, 

2022

HHIP Wind 
Down

Funds available 
through March 

30, 2024

✓ April 4:
LOI submitted to 
DHCS; one per 

MCP

June 30:
MCP Local 

Homelessness Plan 
(LHP) due to DHCS; 

one per County

MCP Measurement 
Period 1

May 1, 2022, 
through December 

31, 2022
(8 months)

MCP Measurement
Period 2

January 1, 2023, through 
October 31, 2023

(10 months)

February 2023:
Report due to DHCS 

for Measurement 
Period 1

December 2023: 
Report due to DHCS 

for Measurement 
Period 2

September 2022: 
Payment Issued 
in response to 

LHP Submission

May 2023:
Payment issued in 

response to Measurement 
Period 1 Report

March 2024:
Final Payment issued in 

response to Measurement 
Period 2 Report

**Note: Although the LHP is 
due on June 30, 2022, the first 
measurement period for HHIP 
began on May 1, 2022.



HHIP Program Measures



6

Overview of HHIP Program Measures

To draw down funds, MCPs must demonstrate progress toward 15 program measures determined by 
DHCS. The following six (6) measures have been deemed high priority and will be weighted heavily when 
DHCS determines disbursement amounts based on measurement period reports:

1. Connect and integrate with the local homeless Coordinated Entry System (CES)
2. Partnerships with counties, CoC, and/or organizations that deliver housing services 
3. Connection with street medicine teams providing healthcare for individuals who are homeless
4. Connect with the local Homeless Information Management System (HMIS)
5. MCP members who were successfully housed during the program period
6. MCP members who remained successfully housed at the end of the program period



DHCS HHIP Program Measures

7

Priority Area 1:
Partnership and Capacity to Support Referrals for Services

Priority Area 2:
Infrastructure to Coordinate and 

Meet Member Housing Needs

Priority Area 3:
Delivery of Services and Member Engagement

1.1 Engagement with CoC, such as, but not limited to: attending CoC 
meetings, joining the CoC board, subgroup or workgroup, and attending 
CoC webinars. Throughout HHIP, CoCs will respond to surveys 
administered by DHCS to verify MCP engagement. 

2.1 Connection with street medicine team 
providing healthcare for individuals who are 
homeless
Priority Measure**

3.1 Percent of MCP Members screened for homelessness/risk of 
homelessness 

1.2 Connection and integration with the local homeless Coordinated 
Entry System
Priority Measure**

2.2 MCP connection with the local 
Homeless Management Information System 
(HMIS)
Priority Measure**

3.2 MCP Members screened for homelessness/risk of homelessness 
transitioning from inpatient settings or have been to the emergency 
department for services two or more times in a 4- month period 

1.3 Outreach and engagement efforts and approach to provide housing-
related Community Supports services that MCP members who are 
experiencing homelessness need and are not receiving 

2.3 MCP process for tracking and managing 
referrals for housing-related Community 
Supports offered during the measurement 
period, including: 

1. Housing Transition Navigation
2. Housing Deposits
3. Housing Tenancy and Sustaining Services 
4. Recuperative Care
5. Short-Term Post-Hospitalization Housing
6. Day Habilitation Programs 

3.3 MCP efforts to support the CoC in the collection of point in time 
(PIT) count of members determined as homeless

3.4 MCP Members in the ECM Population of Focus (“Individuals and 
Families Experiencing Homelessness”) receiving at least one 
housing related Community Supports, including: 
1. Housing Transition Navigation
2. Housing Deposits
3. Housing Tenancy and Sustaining Services 
4. Recuperative Care
5. Short-Term Post-Hospitalization Housing
6. Day Habilitation Programs 

1.4 Partnerships with counties, CoC, and/or organizations that deliver 
housing services (i.e., interim housing, rental assistance, supportive 
housing, outreach, prevention/diversion) with whom the MCP has a 
data sharing agreement that allows for timely exchange of information 
and member matching 
Priority Measure**

1.5 Data sharing agreement with county MHPs and DMC-ODS (if 
applicable) 

3.5 MCP Members who were successfully housed  
Priority Measure**

1.6 Partnerships and strategies the MCP will develop to address 
disparities and equity in service delivery, housing placements, and 
housing retention (Aligns with HHAP Round 3 Application) 

3.6 MCP Members who remained successfully housed 
Priority Measure**



Local Homelessness Plan (LHP)
due to DHCS on June 30, 2022



9

LHP Content due to DHCS by June 30, 2022

1. Fifteen (15) MCP program measurements 
across three priority areas:
• Partnerships and capacity to support 

referrals and services
• Infrastructure to coordinate and meet 

member housing needs
• Delivery of services and member 

engagement

2. MCP strategies to address identified housing 
and service gaps

3. Landscape analysis of MCP service area, 
including member demographics, needs, and 
gaps, in alignment with HHAP evaluation criteria

4. Identification of funding availability, in 
alignment with HHAP-3 assessment of state, 
federal, and local funds available

Key Takeaways about the Local Homelessness Plan (LHP)

• MCPs must compile and submit the LHP to DHCS by 
June 30, 2022, using insight and HHAP-3 data from the 
CoCs and other housing stakeholders. 

• One LHP is submitted per county to ensure MCPs take 
a unified approach to address homelessness aligning 
with countywide priorities. 

• MCPs will not allocate funds for the LHP. Instead, MCPs 
will outline strategies to address local needs and 
collaborate with CoCs and community partners.

• In future reports to DHCS, MCPs will share our progress 
to achieving the countywide strategies and DHCS’ MCP 
performance measures.



Next Steps



11

Next Steps: Discussion of Proposed MCP Approach

To draw down HHIP funding, MCPs must submit a Local Homelessness Plan (LHP) to DHCS by June 30, 
2022. This includes a 200-word, high-level response highlighting our countywide strategy. MCPs and the 
Sacramento CoC must collectively determine how to ensure HHIP strategies and MCP measures are met 
so that MCPs can draw down maximum available funds to support local initiatives.

MCPs propose framing our HHIP investments in two ways: 1) CoC-specific investments, and 2) 
community-wide investments. 

1) CoC-Specific Investments:

◦ In the near-term, MCPs propose aligning on the following strategies reflected in the CoC Action Plan:
• 1) CES,
• 2) HMIS, and
• 3) Provider capacity-building/training.



12

Next Steps: Discussion of Proposed MCP Approach (continued)

2) Community-Wide Investments:

◦ MCPs commit to continued discussions with stakeholders on system-level responses that could
include, but are not limited to:
• Street Medicine
• Social Health Information Exchange
• Landlord engagement
• Non-congregate site (recuperative care, short-term post-hospitalization)
• Housing Community Support Hub Model

◦ MCPs propose having these discussions through the CoC System Performance Committee, though
we welcome suggestions on other vehicles for the conversations.

MCPs will provide updates of county-wide strategies at the June Sacramento CalAIM Roundtable to 
ensure broader stakeholder awareness of our proposed approach. 



Any questions or input about HHIP?

James Trout (Aetna): TroutJ@aetna.com
Kris Kuntz (Anthem): Kristopher.Kuntz@anthem.com

Amber Kemp (Health Net): Amber.Kemp@cahealthwellness.com
Vanessa Davis (Kaiser Permanente): Vanessa.W.Davis@kp.org

Blanca Martinez (Molina): Blanca.Martinez@MolinaHealthcare.com



Copyright © 2022. All rights reserved | www.sacramentostepsforward.org

Consent Agenda:  

CoC Board Member Amber Kemp Appointment to 

the System Performance Committee 



TO: CoC Board Members 

FROM: Lisa Bates and Stefan Heisler, CoC System Performance 
Committee Co-Chairs 

DATE: July 13, 2022 

SUBJECT: CoC System Performance Committee (SPC) New Members - 
ACTION (Consent Calendar) 

Background 
Rebecca Sterling’s last day at Sacramento Covered was Friday, April 29. 
Before her departure SSF staff requested she provides a recommended 
replacement for her position on the SPC, if there was a desire from 
Sacramento Covered to continue their participation as their voice on the 
SPC is important. Rebecca recommended Kyle Stefano, VP of Clinical 
Programs. 

Amber Kemp, Vice President, Medi-Cal Regional Lead, is also being 
recommended to the SPC committee. Amber comes to the SPC with a 
strong Medi-Cal, Covered California Background. Amber has more than a 
decade of leadership experience in developing and operationalizing 
Medicaid and Covered California policy. 

CoC System Performance Committee Purpose and Scope 
The System Performance Committee supports system-wide planning to 
help the overall housing and service system meets the needs of individuals, 
including unaccompanied youth, and families experiencing homelessness. 
Working with the CoC Lead Agency who prepares the documents and 
reporting out to the Sacramento CoC Board for approval or adoption, areas 
of responsibility for this committee include:  

- Mapping how the homeless system of services functions, including
inventorying of major programs, services and resources, to inform the
Sacramento CoC Board and public;



- Conducting the annual gaps analysis and presenting to the
Sacramento CoC Board;

- Evaluating system-level performance using HUD and community
performance measures;

- Reviewing and providing feedback as needed on aspects related to
the CoC NOFA Competition and its components:

o Project priorities list,
o Community narrative (HUD calls this the CoC Application), and
o Planning application

- Reviewing and providing feedback as needed on aspects related to
system performance and planning activities, such as:

o The annual Housing Inventory Count,
o Performance targets set in the project review tools developed

by the PRC,
o Point-in-Time Counts,
o The annual CoC application,
o Strategic plans and community initiatives

Member Roles and Responsibilities 
The role of committee members is to represent their constituencies and the 
broader CoC community. The commitment to this committee is ongoing, 
with the expectation that members will serve an initial two-year term which 
can be renewed. There are no term limits on CoC Board committees. The 
System Performance Committee meets monthly, at 9:00 AM on the fourth 
Thursday of the month, and meetings are currently held via zoom.  Member 
responsibilities include reviewing materials prior to meetings, attending 
meetings, advising staff in advance if a meeting will be missed, and 
following up on any additional commitments the member makes over the 
course of the committee’s work. 

CoC Board Action Requested 
Approve the appointment of Amber Kemp and Kyle Stefano to the CoC 
Board System Performance Committee as recommended by the committee 
co-chairs.   

An updated System Performance Committee roster is attached. 



TO: The Continuum of Care Board 

FROM:  Jenna Abbott & John Foley, 
Coordinated Entry System Committee Co-Chairs 
Peter Bell, SSF CES Manager 
Vivan Nguyen, SSF CES Referral Specialist  

DATE: July 13th, 2022 

RE: Re-opening Emergency Housing Voucher Assessment for 
Rapid Rehousing Participants 

This memo seeks approval to re-open the Emergency Housing Voucher 
(EHV) Assessment and prioritize referring participants from Rapid 
Rehousing (RRH) programs into the Emergency Housing Voucher (EHV) 
program. The CES Committee and SSF staff support this recommendation 
and request approval by the CoC Board. 

Background 
The EHV is a rental voucher offered through HUD to assist in housing 
eligible populations in time-limited permanent housing. The EHV was first 
introduced in July of 2021. SSF, SHRA, and the CoC Coordinated Entry 
System worked together to establish eligibility criteria, with several 
opportunities for community input. The eligibility criteria established through 
this collaborative process stated that to be eligible for an Emergency 
Housing Voucher, an individual or family had to fall into at least one of the 
six groups within the four HUD-defined eligible categories: Move On, 
Chronically Homeless, Homeless, At-Risked Seniors, Survivors, and RRH 
Bridge. In August 2021, Sacramento Steps Forward completed the 



referrals to the Sacramento Housing and Redevelopment Agency 
(SHRA) for the 494 EHVs available in our community. 

Eligible Group Definition 
Chronically Homeless As defined by HUD 
Homeless Homeless as defined by federal statute (42 U.S.

Code § 11302) 
Survivors Survivors of domestic violence, human 

trafficking, and or sexual assault (referred 
through the S-CES) 

At-Risk Seniors Seniors (62+) who are at-risk of homelessness 
(42 USC § 11360(1)) 

PSH Move-On Formerly homeless households living in 
permanent supportive housing (PSH) and no 
longer requiring intensive supportive services 

RRH Bridge Formerly homeless households living in rapid 
rehousing (RRH) and in need of continued 
rental subsidy 

Summary 
In January 2022, after six months of working with the initial 494 EHV 
referrals, and an inability to lease up all referrals, SHRA requested 50 
additional referrals. With this round, larger families were prioritized due to 
current EHV holders primarily needing 1-bedroom apartments and 
impacting the limited number of 1-bedroom units in the Sacramento County 
housing market. In April 2022, SHRA requested an additional 50 new 
referrals. However, the Coordinated Entry (CE) team and community 
partners have been unable to identify enough candidates within the group 
of households originally assessed with the EHV assessment a year ago.  

The one group of EHV-eligible households most likely to be housed quickly 
through this voucher is the RRH Bridge category. This group was included 
in the original criteria because the SSF CE team, CESC, CoC Board, and 
community partners recognize that there are some RRH participants that 
even after stabilization services still require ongoing rental assistance to 
maintain their own housing. This need is even more prevalent today than it 
was a year ago due to the large number of RRH participants with subsidies 
ending within the next few months. These RRH Bridge households are 
well-suited to EHV because they already have units and just need ongoing 

https://www.shra.org/ehv/
https://www.shra.org/ehv/


rental assistance to maintain them. Based on this rationale, the CE team 
would like to re-open the EHV assessment to allow new candidates and 
prioritize only those eligible through the RRH Bridge category. This would 
allow candidates to remain in their current unit and remove the risk of 
returning to homelessness. SHRA anticipates requesting an additional 150 
referrals to reach full capacity. 
 
EHV Prioritization Schema: 
Eligibility Factor Households currently housed in a rapid rehousing 

(RRH) program and unable to maintain rent 
independently. 

Eligibility Factor Households must not need ongoing services or 
will be connected to an ongoing service provider 
(minimum of one year) after leaving RRH. 

Eligibility Factor Household must have documented history of 
homelessness prior to RRH enrollment. 

Prioritization Factor EHV Score (high to low) 
Prioritization Factor Length of time homeless (longest to shortest) 

 
 
Requested Action 
Approve the re-opening of the EHV assessment and prioritize the RRH 
Bridge as recommended by the Coordinated Entry System Committee and 
SSF staff. 



Copyright © 2022. All rights reserved | www.sacramentostepsforward.org

New Business Item:

2021 CoC Application Debrief Presentation 



Continuum of Care Notice of Funding 
Opportunity (CoC NOFO): 

FY 2021 CoC Application Debrief

Sacramento Continuum of Care
July 2022



Introduction: Homebase

Maddie Nation 
Senior Policy Analyst

Joy Balinbin
Policy Analyst



Chat Poll
How would you describe your understanding of 

the CoC NOFO? 

3
I’m well 

versed in 
this topic.

2
I’ve heard 
about this 

before, but my 
understanding 

is basic.

1
I’m brand 

new to this 
topic.



Background: CoC NOFO



HUD CoC NOFO: competitive funding for 
housing and systems infrastructure 
projects serving individuals experiencing 
homelessness

2021 Funding: $29,713,497



Consolidated Application

• Covers the CoC structure,
performance, and planning
processes

CoC
Application

• Covers the specifics of each
applicant project

Project 
Applications

• Ranks all project applications in
order of local priority

CoC Priority 
Listing 



Sacramento CoC Application



134
145

165.5166.75
157 155.5

200 200

173

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

2018 2019 2021

Sacramento CoC Application Score vs. Weighted 
Mean Score for All CoCs (2018-2021)

Sacramento CoC Score Weighted Mean Score for All CoCs Total Points Avaliable



The Sacramento Continuum of 
Care had a great application 

score! 



Strengths
• Responding to COVID-19 (21 out of 21.5) 
• Promoting Racial Equity in Homelessness (7 out of 7)
• Local Review and Rank Process (22 out of 22) 
• System Performance Measures: 

• Reduction in First Time Homelessness (3 out of 3) 
• Length of Time Homeless (6 out of 6) 
• Exits to Permanent Housing/Retention (5 out of 5)
• Returns to Homelessness (3 out of 4) 
• Increasing Employment Cash Income (3.5 out of 4)



Areas for Continued Focus

Systems Performance Measures 

Racial Equity 

Engaging Individuals with Lived 
Experience of Homelessness 



What questions 
do you have 
about the CoC
Application? 



This Year’s Application

• Homebase will be drafting the CoC application 
with input from Sacramento Steps Forward and 
the Systems Performance Committee. 
• We will begin drafting as soon as HUD 

announces the competition (estimated: mid-July). 
• If you know someone who might be interested in 

this funding opportunity, please email 
sacramento@homebaseccc.org. 



Resources

• HUD’s Sacramento CoC 2021 CoC Application Debrief 
(in meeting packet) 

• Sacramento CoC’s 2021 CoC Application 
• Sacramento Steps Forward CoC NOFO Webpage
• Homebase’s Sacramento CoC Funding 101 Training 

Materials
• Questions? Email sacramento@homebaseccc.org



 
                                ConWinXXm of CaUe PUogUam 

 CompeWiWion DebUiefing FY ʹ0ʹͳ 

 

Page _ 1  
 

CoC:  CA-503 - SacUamenWo CiW\ & CoXnW\ CoC 
 
This document summari]es the scores HUD aZarded to the Continuum of Care (CoC) Application \our CoC submitted during the 
Fiscal Year (FY) 2021 CoC Program Competition and is diYided into three sections: 
 

1. High PUioUiW\ CoC ApplicaWion QXeVWionV; 
2. CoC ScoUing SXmmaU\±on the fiYe sections of the application; and 
3. OYeUall ScoUeV foU all CoCV±including highest and loZest scores. 

 
We organi]ed sections 1 and 2 like the CoC Application.  We included FY 2021 CoC Program Notice of Funding Opportunit\ 
(NOFO) references in the CoC Application so that \ou could reference the question to the NOFO, Zhere applicable. 
 

1. High PUioUiW\ CoC ApplicaWion QXeVWionV 
 

CoC ApplicaWion QXeVWion NOFO SecWion 
Ma[imXm 

PoinWV 
AYailable 

PoinWV YoXU 
CoC 

ApplicaWion 
ReceiYed 

1C.  CooUdinaWion and EngagemenW±CooUdinaWion ZiWh FedeUal, SWaWe, Local, PUiYaWe, and OWheU OUgani]aWionV 
1C-9. Housing First±LoZering Barriers to Entr\. 
1C-9a. Housing First±Project EYaluation. 

VII.B.1.i. 10 10 

1C-10. Street Outreach±Scope. 
Describe in the field beloZ:  

1. \our CoC¶s street outreach efforts, including the methods it uses to ensure all 
persons e[periencing unsheltered homelessness are identified and engaged; 

2. Zhether \our CoC¶s Street Outreach coYers 100 percent of the CoC¶s 
geographic area; 

3. hoZ often \our CoC conducts street outreach; and 

VII.B.1.j. 3 3 



 
                                ConWinXXm of CaUe PUogUam 

 CompeWiWion DebUiefing FY ʹ0ʹͳ 

 

Page _ 2  
 

CoC ApplicaWion QXeVWion NOFO SecWion 
Ma[imXm 

PoinWV 
AYailable 

PoinWV YoXU 
CoC 

ApplicaWion 
ReceiYed 

4. hoZ \our CoC tailored its street outreach to persons e[periencing 
homelessness Zho are least likel\ to request assistance. 

1C-12. Rapid Rehousing±RRH Beds as Reported in the Housing InYentor\ Count 
(HIC). 

Enter the total number of RRH beds aYailable to serYe all populations as reported in 
the HIC±onl\ enter bed data for projects that haYe an inYentor\ t\pe of ³Current.´ 

VII.B.1.l. 10 10 

1C-15. Promoting Racial Equit\ in Homelessness±Assessing Racial Disparities. 
1C-15a. Racial Disparities Assessment Results. 
1C-15b. Strategies to Address Racial Disparities. 
1C-15c. Promoting Racial Equit\ in Homelessness Be\ond Areas Identified in 

Racial Disparit\ Assessment. 

VII.B.1.o. 7 7 

1D. AddUeVVing COVID-19 in Whe CoC¶V GeogUaphic AUea 
These questions assessed hoZ CoCs addressed challenges resulting from the outbreak 
of COVID-19 affecting indiYiduals and families e[periencing homelessness. 
1D-1. Safet\ Protocols Implemented to Address Immediate Needs of People 

E[periencing Unsheltered, Congregate Emergenc\ Shelter, Transitional 
Housing Homelessness. 

1D-2. ImproYing Readiness for Future Public Health Emergencies. 
1D-3. CoC Coordination to Distribute ESG Cares Act (ESG-CV) Funds. 
1D-4. CoC Coordination Zith Mainstream Health. 
1D-5. Communicating Information to Homeless SerYice ProYiders. 
1D-6. Identif\ing Eligible Persons E[periencing Homelessness for COVID-19 

Vaccination. 
1D-7. Addressing Possible Increases in Domestic Violence. 
1D-8. Adjusting Centrali]ed or Coordinated Entr\ S\stem. 

VII.B.1.e.,  
VII.B.1.n.,  
VII.B.1.q. 

21.5 21 



 
                                ConWinXXm of CaUe PUogUam 

 CompeWiWion DebUiefing FY ʹ0ʹͳ 

 

Page _ 3  
 

CoC ApplicaWion QXeVWion NOFO SecWion 
Ma[imXm 

PoinWV 
AYailable 

PoinWV YoXU 
CoC 

ApplicaWion 
ReceiYed 

1E.  PUojecW ReYieZ, Ranking, and SelecWion 
1E-2. and 1E-2a. PUojecW ReYieZ and Ranking PUoceVV YoXU CoC UVed in IWV 

Local CompeWiWion.   
These questions assessed Zhether \our CoC used objectiYe criteria and past 
performance to reYieZ and rank projects based on required attachments. 
 

1. At least 33 percent of the total points Zere based on objectiYe criteria for the 
project application (e.g., cost effectiYeness, timel\ draZs, utili]ation rate, 
match, leYerage), performance data, t\pe of population serYed (e.g., DV, 
\outh, Veterans, chronic homelessness), or t\pe of housing proposed (e.g., 
PSH, RRH). 

2. At least 20 percent of the total points Zere based on s\stem performance 
criteria for the project application (e.g., e[its to permanent housing 
destinations, retention of permanent housing, length of time homeless, returns 
to homelessness). 

3. Used data from a comparable database to score projects submitted b\ Yictim 
serYice proYiders. 

4. Used objectiYe criteria to eYaluate hoZ projects submitted b\ Yictim serYice 
proYiders improYed safet\ for the population the\ serYe. 

5. Used a specific method for eYaluating projects based on the CoC¶s anal\sis of 
rapid returns to permanent housing. 

6. Specific seYerit\ of needs and Yulnerabilities \our CoC considered Zhen 
ranking and selecting projects; and 

VII.B.2.a., 
2.b., 2.c., 2.d. 

22 22 



 ConWinXXm of CaUe PUogUam 
 CompeWiWion DebUiefing FY ʹ0ʹͳ

Page _ 4 

CoC ApplicaWion QXeVWion NOFO SecWion 
Ma[imXm 

PoinWV 
AYailable 

PoinWV YoXU 
CoC 

ApplicaWion 
ReceiYed 

7. considerations \our CoC gaYe to projects that proYide housing and serYices to
the hardest to serYe populations that could result in loZer performance leYels
but are projects \our CoC needs in its geographic area.

2A.  HomeleVV ManagemenW InfoUmaWion S\VWem (HMIS) Bed CoYeUage 
2A-5. Bed CoYerage Rate±Using HIC, HMIS Data. 
2A-5b. Bed CoYerage Rate in Comparable Databases. 

VII.B.3.c. 6 6 

2A-6.  Longitudinal S\stem Anal\sis (LSA) Submission in HDX 2.0. 

Did \our CoC submit LSA data to HUD in HDX 2.0 b\ Januar\ 15, 2021, 8 p.m. 
EST? 

VII.B.3.d. 2 2 

2C.  S\VWem PeUfoUmance 
2C-1. Reduction in the Number of First Time Homeless. 

We scored this question based on data \our CoC submitted in HDX and \our 
narratiYe response. 

Describe in the field beloZ: 
1. hoZ \our CoC determined Zhich risk factors \our CoC uses to identif\ persons

becoming homeless for the first time;
2. hoZ \our CoC addresses indiYiduals and families at risk of becoming homeless;

and
3. proYide the name of the organi]ation or position title that is responsible for

oYerseeing \our CoC¶s strateg\ to reduce the number of indiYiduals and families

VII.B.5.b. 3 3 



 
                                ConWinXXm of CaUe PUogUam 

 CompeWiWion DebUiefing FY ʹ0ʹͳ 

 

Page _ 5  
 

CoC ApplicaWion QXeVWion NOFO SecWion 
Ma[imXm 

PoinWV 
AYailable 

PoinWV YoXU 
CoC 

ApplicaWion 
ReceiYed 

e[periencing homelessness for the first time or to end homelessness for 
indiYiduals and families. 

2C-2. Length of Time Homeless. 
We scored this question based on data \our CoC submitted in HDX and \our 
narratiYe response. 

 
Describe in the field beloZ: 
1. \our CoC¶s strateg\ to reduce the length of time indiYiduals and persons in 

families remain homeless;  

2. hoZ \our CoC identifies and houses indiYiduals and persons in families Zith the 
longest lengths of time homeless; and 

3. proYide the name of the organi]ation or position title that is responsible for 
oYerseeing \our CoC¶s strateg\ to reduce the length of time indiYiduals and 
families remain homeless. 

VII.B.5.c. 6 6 

2C-3. E[iWV Wo PeUmanenW HoXVing DeVWinaWionV/ReWenWion of PeUmanenW 
HoXVing. 
We scored this question based on data \our CoC submitted in HDX and \our 
narratiYe response. 

 
Describe in the field beloZ hoZ \our CoC Zill increase the rate that indiYiduals and 
persons in families residing in: 
1. emeUgenc\ VhelWeU, Vafe haYenV, WUanViWional hoXVing, and Uapid UehoXVing e[it 

to permanent housing destinations; and 

VII.B.5.d. 5 5 



 
                                ConWinXXm of CaUe PUogUam 

 CompeWiWion DebUiefing FY ʹ0ʹͳ 

 

Page _ 6  
 

 
  

CoC ApplicaWion QXeVWion NOFO SecWion 
Ma[imXm 

PoinWV 
AYailable 

PoinWV YoXU 
CoC 

ApplicaWion 
ReceiYed 

2. peUmanenW hoXVing pUojecWV retain their permanent housing or e[it to permanent 
housing destinations. 

2C-4. ReWXUnV Wo HomeleVVneVV. 
We scored this question based on data \our CoC submitted in HDX and \our 
narratiYe response. 

 
Describe in the field beloZ: 
1. hoZ \our CoC identifies indiYiduals and families Zho return to homelessness; 
2. \our CoC¶s strateg\ to reduce the rate of additional returns to homelessness; and 
3. proYide the name of the organi]ation or position title that is responsible for 

oYerseeing \our CoC¶s strateg\ to reduce the rate indiYiduals and persons in 
families return to homelessness. 

VII.B.5.e. 4 3 

2C-5. IncUeaVing Emplo\menW CaVh Income. 
We scored this question based on data \our CoC submitted in HDX and \our 
narratiYe response. 

2C-5a. IncUeaVing Emplo\menW CaVh Income±WoUkfoUce DeYelopmenW±
EdXcaWion±TUaining. 

2C-5b. Increasing Non-emplo\ment Cash Income. 

VII.B.5.f. 4 3.5 



 
                                ConWinXXm of CaUe PUogUam 

 CompeWiWion DebUiefing FY ʹ0ʹͳ 

 

Page _ 7  
 

2. CoC ScoUing SXmmaU\ (fUom FY 2021 CoC NOFO) 

ScoUing CaWegoU\ Ma[imum Score 
(Points) 

Your CoC 
Score (Points) 

1B. and 1C.  CoC Coordination and Engagement 74.5 70.5 

1D.  Addressing COVID-19 in the CoC¶s Geographic Area 21.5 21 

1E.  Project Capacit\, ReYieZ, and Ranking 30 29.5 

2A.  Homeless Management Information S\stem 11 11 

2B.  Point-in-Time Count 3 3 

2C.  S\stem Performance 23 20.5 

3A.  Coordination Zith Housing and Healthcare Bonus Points 10 10 

ToWal CoC ApplicaWion ScoUe* 173 165.5 

*The total does not include bonus scores. 
3. OYeUall ScoUeV foU all CoCV 

Highest Score for an\ CoC 168.25 

LoZest Score for an\ CoC 60.25 

Median Score for all CoCs 143 

Weighted Mean Score** for all CoCs 155.5 

 
**The Zeighted mean score is the mean CoC score Zeighted b\ Annual ReneZal Demand. CoCs that scored higher than the Zeighted 
mean score Zere more likel\ to gain funding relatiYe to their Annual ReneZal Demand, Zhile CoCs that scored loZer than the 
Zeighted mean Zere more likel\ to lose mone\ relatiYe to their Annual ReneZal Demand. 



Copyright © 2022. All rights reserved | www.sacramentostepsforward.org

New Business Item: 

2022 PIT Local Report Update Materials 



9,278 INDIVIDUALS EXPERIENCING HOMELESSNESS

72% UNSHELTERED 28% SHELTERED

30% 22% 19%
Tents Other Vehicles

12% 7%9%
Emergency
Shelters

Transitional
Housing

Hotel/Motel
Programs

2022 SACRAMENTO COUNTY 
POINT-IN-TIME HOMELESS COUNT

Every two years Sacramento County, its cities and the Sacramento Homeless Continuum of Care
undertake an extensive effort to document every individual in the region experiencing homelessness
during a 24-hour period. This effort, known as the “Point-in-Time Homeless Count”, provides a single-
night snapshot of nearly all individuals and families staying at emergency/transitional shelters in the
county, as well as unsheltered individuals, such as those sleeping outside, in tents or vehicles, under
bridges, or other places not meant for human habitation.

67% 

HOMELESSNESS
HAS INCREASED

IN SACRAMENTO
COUNTY SINCE

2019

79%
Individuals

15%
Families

w/Children

5%
Youth

COUNTY PER CAPITA HOMELESSNESS (PER 10K RESIDENTS)

San Francisco
89 

Sacramento
59 52 

Santa Clara
25 

San Diego

California State University, Sacramento | Sacramento Steps Forward



2022 SACRAMENTO COUNTY 
POINT-IN-TIME HOMELESS COUNT

Most unsheltered individuals in
Sacramento County have been

facing prolonged challenges with
housing insecurity and homelessness

since before the COVID-19
pandemic

60% 
BECAME HOMELESS MORE
THAN THREE YEARS AGO 

BLACK RESIDENTS ARE

3-4X  
MORE LIKELY TO
EXPERIENCE
HOMELESSNESS

58% 
OF UNSHELTERED ADULTS
REPORTED AT LEAST ONE

DISABILITY

Rents in Sacramento have
substantially increased, on average
by 20 percent, since the beginning
of the pandemic in March of 2020

through November 2021

Veterans experiencing
homelessness has

decreased since 2019.
Veterans represent

approximately 7% of all
persons experiencing

homelessness in
Sacramento County in

2022

32% of family households
with children were
unsheltered, a 31%

decrease since 2019

California State University, Sacramento | Sacramento Steps Forward



JULY 2022

H O M E L E S S N E S S
I N  S A C R A M E N T O

C O U N T Y

DIVISION OF SOCIAL WORK AND THE CENTER FOR HEALTH PRACTICE,
POLICY & RESEARCH AT THE CALIFORNIA STATE UNIVERSITY,

SACRAMENTO

A REPORT BY

Results from the 2022 Point-in-Time Count 

PREPARED FOR SACRAMENTO STEPS FORWARD AND SACRAMENTO CONTINUUM OF CARE



1 

Executive Summary 

This report summarizes the results of the 2022 Sacramento Point-in-Time Count--an extensive 

community effort to document every individual in the county experiencing homelessness on a 

single night. Most communities conduct a Homeless Point-in-Time Count every two years, during 

the last week of January, to fulfill a federal funding requirement from the United States 

Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD). They are intended to provide a 

comprehensive “snapshot” of the total number of people experiencing homelessness in a 

community, capturing information about people accessing shelters and other services and also 

those who are not. The 2022 Sacramento Point-in-Time Count, which was conducted in February 

2022 due to the pandemic, is the latest update in three years. Consequently, this report presents 

a number of new findings that have emerged about the current state of homelessness across 

Sacramento County since the start of the pandemic. 

General Findings of 2022 

➔ Similar to statewide trends, Sacramento County continues to experience substantial

increases in homelessness. An estimated 9,278 individuals experienced homelessness

throughout Sacramento County on a single night in February 2022. This represents a 67

percent increase in nightly homelessness since the last Point-in-Time Count in 2019, when

5,570 individuals were estimated homeless. This is also the highest estimate of

homelessness on record for Sacramento--per capita, 59 out of 10,000 residents in the

county experience homelessness on any given night.

➔ There is a marked increase in the number and size of encampments throughout

Sacramento County; the number of people experiencing unsheltered homelessness has 

increased as well as their visibility in our community. The majority (72%) of individuals 

experiencing homelessness each night in Sacramento County continues to be sleeping 

outdoors in tents, vehicles, or other locations not suitable for human habitation. 

Volunteers counted over 1,600 tents and 1,100 vehicles being used for shelter--totals that 

were four to five times larger than in 2019. Volunteers were also more likely to encounter 

individuals literally at or near an encampment than in previous years. This suggests that 

encampments are currently more visible than in the past (i.e., they have become larger 

and located closer to populated areas). This increased visibility of tents and vehicles likely 

reflected changes in public health protocols and guidelines surrounding how jurisdictions 



2 

addressed encampments during the pandemic. It may have also reflected decreased 

flows of traffic, and use of public space, in some downtown areas, during the pandemic 

when most business and public sectors transitioned to telework arrangements. 

Furthermore, as the number of people experiencing homelessness increases, more 

people have no other option but to camp outside.   

➔ The substantial increase in homelessness in Sacramento likely parallels a statewide trend

of increasing reports of homelessness in almost every community in California since 2015. 

Though many communities have yet to make the results of their latest Point-in-Time 

Count public, prior to the pandemic the majority of jurisdictions across California had 

been reporting acute increases in unsheltered homelessness between 2015 and 2019 (a 

total 50% increase during this time). One in four communities in California reported a 

doubling of unsheltered homelessness in four years since 2015, including Sacramento. 

These trends correlated with a housing affordability crisis that worsened during this time; 

notably specific housing markets in California that indicated the largest increase in rents 

also reported the largest increases in homelessness between 2015 and 2019.1  Rents in 

Sacramento have continued to increase substantially since the start of the pandemic; on 

average rents increased by 20 percent between March of 2020 through November 2021. 

The median rent in Sacramento County is $1,402 for a one-bedroom apartment and 

$1,837 for a two-bedroom. 

➔ The number of individuals who report a disability and experience chronic patterns of

homelessness in Sacramento may have more than doubled since 2019. An estimated  

4,314 individuals with a disabling condition and experiencing prolonged periods of 

homelessness currently reside within Sacramento County, suggesting a substantial 

increase in “chronic homelessness”2 by as much as 162 percent since the last count. This 

increase coincides with a larger proportion of individuals reporting longer periods of 

homelessness than in the past--nearly 78% of respondents interviewed stated that they 

1 Baiocchi, A., Curry, S., Newham, J., & Monnet M. F. (2020). An initial assessment of California’s 
Homeless Emergency Aid Program. Report prepared for the Homeless Finance & Coordinating Council. 
Institute for Social Research: California State University, Sacramento. 
https://www.bcsh.ca.gov/hcfc/documents/heap_annual.pdf  
2 Chronic homelessness is a specific designation used by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban 
Development to indicate individuals with a documented disability and who have had a single episode, or 
several episodes, of homeless extending a year in duration (see Section 2 of this report for the specific 
definition). Because in practice the designation requires a third-party verification process, the Point-in-
Time Count likely overestimates the number of individuals who would be designated as chronically 
homeless given its reliance on surveys in which respondents self-reports their disabilities.  



 

3 

had been continuously homeless a year or more (up from 56% in 2019). Moreover, 58 

percent of unsheltered adults indicated that they struggled with one or more disabilities 

that impaired their ability to secure employment or housing (up from 40% in 2019). These 

patterns contribute to the estimate that nearly one out of two people experiencing 

homelessness in Sacramento are currently chronically homeless (43%) . 

➔ While the 2022 PIT Count highlights some challenging trends for Sacramento, some 

findings also point to positive developments. Shelter capacity has substantially increased 

since 2019, notably through the novel use of motel/hotel rooms as “non-congregate'' 

shelters. This increased capacity contributed to the proportion of unsheltered 

homelessness to remain essentially the same since 2019 (72% vs. 70%) despite the overall 

increase in homelessness. The increased capacity through the use of motel/hotels likely 

also contributed to a specific decrease in the number of unsheltered families with children 

experiencing homelessness (down 31%) as well as increased engagement with individuals 

experiencing chronic homelessness. There were also some positive developments in 

veteran homelessness; despite the 67 percent increase in homelessness in Sacramento 

there are fewer veterans experiencing homelessness in 2022 than in 2019 (625 vs. 667, a 

6% decrease),   

Better Understanding of Unsheltered Homelessness 

 

The 2022 Homeless Count resulted in 330 in-person interviews conducted with individuals 

sleeping in unsheltered locations throughout Sacramento County. Because the 2022 Homeless 

Count included a targeted effort by outreach staff to engage and interview individuals in tents, 

vehicles as well as in remote locations (e.g., in the American River Parkway, rural roads), surveys 

from this year provide better information about individuals. Consequently, this report presents a 

number of new findings related to unsheltered homelessness in Sacramento County. 

➔ The vast majority of people experiencing homelessness continue to be from Sacramento 

County, despite concern that many are from other communities. A common 

misperception of people experiencing homelessness is that most are “transients,” from 

“out of town,” or “outsiders of the community.” Survey responses indicate, however, that 

only a small percent of unsheltered adults recently moved to Sacramento County within 

the last six months (5%) or are only temporarily in the county (3%). Survey responses 

showed little variation across respondents in tents, vehicles, and other unsheltered 

locations. This year’s results are nearly identical to what was reported in 2019.  



4 

➔ Approximately half of all unsheltered adults (49%) report having to relocate their tents,

vehicles, or makeshift shelter due to a recent request from law enforcement. On average 

unsheltered respondents report being forced to move by law enforcement four times in 

the two months before the 2022 Sacramento Point-in-Time Count. Approximately 65 

percent  of unsheltered respondents indicated that they were forced to move their 

sleeping arrangements at least once in the two months before the count. When asked 

why they were recently required to move, most individuals cited a law enforcement action 

(representing 49% of all unsheltered respondents). Some also cited safety concerns (13% 

of respondents) and/or that the area was no longer suitable for sleeping (e.g., flooding, 

rain etc.) (9%).3 On average, respondents recalled law enforcement asking them to move 

four times in the last two months - though it is difficult to infer the specific circumstances 

that precipitated these requests (as well as which agency or agencies were involved). 

➔ The majority of unsheltered adults (59%) report that they have been continuously

homeless for three years or longer, while in 2019 only 41 percent of unsheltered did so.

This suggests that it has become more difficult for people to exit homelessness in recent 

years. Survey responses suggest that 78 percent of unsheltered adults have been 

homeless a year or longer, and 59 percent have likely been continuously homeless since 

the last Point in Time Count in 2019. This suggests that some individuals, and particularly 

those with significant disabilities, have struggled to exit homelessness during the last 

several years. Some individuals who were struggling with episodic or short-term 

homelessness in 2019, would now be characterized as experiencing chronic 

homelessness. 

➔ Most people who indicate that this is their first experience with homelessness, report that

they became homeless before 2020, while relatively few say they fell into homelessness 

since the pandemic. This could suggest that the pandemic temporarily slowed the rate 

of new homelessness in Sacramento.  Among unsheltered adults who reported that this 

is their first experience with homelessness, 22 percent indicated that their homelessness 

began in the year before the start of the pandemic (February 2019 through February 

2020). In contrast, a relatively small percentage of respondents (6%) indicated that they 

had first become homeless during the first year of the pandemic, while a slightly larger 

group (12%) reported becoming homeless in the last year. This pattern is suggestive 

3 Respondents could indicate multiple answers; i.e., while respondents most frequently cited a law 
enforcement action as the reason for their relocation, some also cited a safety concern and a law 
enforcement action. 



5 

evidence that policies enacted during the pandemic (e.g., eviction moratorium, 

assistance for renters, extension of unemployment benefits) prevented some households 

from falling into homelessness. Because this evidence is only suggestive with the current 

survey, further research into the impacts of policies enacted during pandemic on 

homelessness should be conducted. 4 

In the final section of this report, we elaborate on the above issues with respect to the changing 

context of homelessness in our community as well as discuss some of the broader policy 

implications of the 2022 Homeless Count more generally. We also discuss some methodological 

recommendations for future research, including the next Point in Time Count. 

4 It is important to note the survey patterns discussed above are only suggestive evidence that the 
pandemic may have temporarily reduced the rate of new homelessness in Sacramento (or made it more 
difficult for some people to exit homelessness).  Because the unsheltered survey data is a cross sectional 
“snapshot” of a group of people at one point-in-time, it cannot accurately track respondents who may 
have entered and exited homelessness when the survey was not administered. There is the possibility, 
for example, that individuals who became homeless in the last two years recovered more quickly and are 
therefore underrepresented in the 2022 estimates. Additional analyses using data from the Homeless 
Management Information System (HMIS) could likely track more clearly whether new homelessness and 
exits in fact decreased during the pandemic 



6 

About the Center for Health Practice, Policy & Research 
The Center for Health Practice, Policy & Research (CHPPR) at California State University, 

Sacramento is dedicated to impacting community health by promoting collaboration, 

interdisciplinary practice, and innovation to reduce health inequities across California.  

Authors 

Arturo Baiocchi, PhD 
Associate Professor 
Division of Social Work 
Center for Health Practice, Policy & Research 
California State University, Sacramento 

Susanna Curry, PhD, MSW 
Assistant Professor 
Division of Social Work 
Center for Health Practice, Policy & Research 
California State University, Sacramento 

Justin Morris, MA 
Quantitative Specialist  
Center for Health Practice, Policy & Research
California State University, Sacramento 

Jessica Newham, MPH 
Research Analyst  
Center for Health Practice, Policy & Research
California State University, Sacramento 

Kyle Caler, MSW PhD 
Assistant Professor 
Division of Social Work 
California State University, Sacramento 

Ethan Evans, MSW PhD 
Assistant Professor 
Division of Social Work 
California State University, Sacramento 

Frances Furio, PsyD, LCSW 
Lecturer  
Division of Social Work 
California State University, Sacramento 

Mary Kathryn Orsulak, MD, MPH 
Associate Physician 
Department of Family & Community Medicine 
University of California Davis 

The conclusions and recommendations expressed in this report are those of the authors 
and do not necessarily reflect those of Sacramento Steps Forward or the Sacramento 
Continuum of Care. While Sacramento Steps Forward and associated staff provided 
feedback on an earlier draft of the report, this final report was written solely, and 
independently, by the university researchers listed above. 



7 

Acknowledgments 

The Sacramento State research team would like to thank the approximately 500 volunteers

who participated in the 2022 Homeless Count and walked a combined 350 miles of canvassing

routes, to talk and engage with some of the most marginalized members of our community.

The team would like to acknowledge the tremendous support and resources provided by

dozens of organizations and community-partners that made the 2022 Homeless Count

possible.
● Anchor Initiative Grants Program,

Sacramento State

● California Homeless Youth Project

● Citrus Heights Police Department

● City of Citrus Heights

● City of Elk Grove

● City of Folsom

● City of Rancho Cordova

● City of Sacramento
● CLAP Community Lead Advocacy Program
● College of Health and Human Services,

Sacramento State University

● Community Engagement Center,

Sacramento State University

● Continuum of Care agencies

● Del Paso Blvd. Partnership
● Department of Community Response,

City of Sacramento

● Department of Human Assistance,

Sacramento County

● District Councilmembers and their Chiefs of Staff
● Division of Social Work,

Sacramento State

● Downtown Sacramento Partnership

● Elk Grove Police Department

● Folsom Police Department
● Homeless Assistance Resource Teams (Arden

Arcade, Carmichael, Citrus Heights, Elk Grove, Fair

Oaks & Orangevale, Folsom, Midtown, Rancho

Cordova, South Sacramento)

● Homeless Initiatives, Sacramento County

● Hope Cooperative

● Lutheran Social Services

● Mack Road Partnership

● Mary House-Loaves & Fishes

● Mustard Seed School-Loaves & Fishes

● Point-In-Time Count Committee,

Sacramento Continuum of Care

● Power Inn Alliance

● Public Affairs & Advocacy,

Sacramento State University

● Racial Equity Committee

Sacramento Continuum of Care
● Rancho Cordova Police Department

● Sacramento 100 Day Challenge to Tackle

Youth Homelessness Team 

● Roads Home

● Sacramento Continuum of Care Board

● Sacramento Covered

● Sacramento County DHA Investigations

● Sacramento County Sheriff's Office

● Sacramento Homeless Organizing

Committee
● Sacramento Housing & Redevelopment

Agency

● Sacramento LGBT Community Center

● Sacramento Police Department

● Sacramento Regional Transit

● Sacramento Regional Park Rangers

● Sacramento Self-Help Housing

● Sacramento State Student Volunteers

● Sacramento Steps Forward Staff & Navigators
● Sacramento Youth Council (Youth Action

Board)

● Shelter Inc.
● Step Up on Second Sacramento

● Women’s Empowerment

● Waking the Village

● Wind Youth Service



8 

Table of Contents 

Introduction: The 2022 PIT Count 10 

Additional Background About the 2022 Effort 11 

Report Roadmap 14 

Section 1: The State of Homelessness in 2022 15 

Estimates of Homelessness in Sacramento County 16 

Geographic Distribution of Unsheltered Locations 20 

Per Capita Rate of Homelessness 27 

Demographics of Homelessness in Sacramento County 29 

Household Composition of Total Homelessness in Sacramento County 29 

Gender of Total Homelessness in Sacramento County 31 

Sexual Orientation of Total Homelessness in Sacramento County 32 

Ethnicity and Race of  Total Homelessness in Sacramento County 33 

Unsheltered Homeless Experiences 37 

Demographic Characteristics of People Who Are Unsheltered 38 

Episodes and Length of Homelessness 40 

Unique Unsheltered Experiences and Challenges 43 

Disabling Conditions 43 

Movement of Encampments: Forced Relocation 46 

Voices of the Unhoused: What Could Sacramento Do Better? 48 

Perceptions of Being an Outsider 50 

Section 2: Description of Subpopulations 52 

Transitional Age Youth 53 

Youth | Nightly Estimate 54 

Youth | Demographic Characteristics 55 

Youth | Length of Homelessness 56 

Youth | Unique Experiences and Risk Factors 58 

Voices of Youth | What Could Sacramento Do Better? 60 

Families with Children 61 

Families with Children | Nightly Estimate 63 

Families with Children | Demographic Characteristics 64 

Families with Children | Length of Homelessness 65 

Voices of Families | What Could Sacramento Do Better? 66 



9 

Chronically Homeless 67 

Chronically Homeless | Nightly Estimate 69 

Chronically Homeless | Demographic Characteristics 71 

Chronically Homeless | Length of Homelessness 72 

Chronically Homeless | Unique Experiences and Risk Factors 73 

Chronically Homeless | What Could Sacramento Do Better? 75 

Veterans 76 

Veterans | Nightly Estimate 77 

Veterans | Demographic Characteristics 78 

Veterans | Length of Homelessness 79 

Veterans | Unique Experiences and Risk Factors 80 

Voices of Veterans | What Could Sacramento Do Better? 81 

Section 3: Conclusions and Implications 83 

Contextual Factors 84 

Policy Implications 89 

Research Recommendations 92 

Appendix A: 2022 Count Methodology 95 

Appendix B: 2022 Data Tables 103 



 

10 

Introduction: The 2022 PIT Count  
Every two years Sacramento County and its incorporated cities undertake an extensive 

community effort to document every individual in the county experiencing homelessness during 

a single night. This effort, known as the Homeless Point-in-Time Count, results in a census of all 

individuals in the county accessing shelters and transitional housing (“sheltered homelessness”). 

The count also estimates the total number of individuals who, in the same period, are sleeping 

outdoors in tents, vehicles, or other locations not suitable for extended human habitation 

(“unsheltered homelessness”).  

  

The official results from the Point-in-Time Count (hereafter referred to as the “PIT Count”) have 

direct implications for federal and state funding for programs addressing homelessness. This is 

because PIT Counts are intended to provide a comprehensive “snapshot” of the total number 

of people experiencing homelessness in a community, capturing information about people 

accessing services as well as those that are not. Beyond summarizing the total counts and 

demographics of people using shelters and those continuing to sleep outside, PIT Counts can 

also highlight trends over time by which local stakeholders can assess efforts to address 

homelessness in their region. This can include information about the relative size of specific at-

risk populations, such as veterans, transitional age youth, families with children, and individuals 

with disabilities. Moreover, hundreds of surveys conducted with individuals not using the shelter 

system offer unique insights into the challenges faced by individuals experiencing homelessness. 

  

Most communities conduct a PIT Count every two years, during the last week of January, to fulfill 

a federal funding requirement from the United States Department of Housing and Urban 

Development (HUD). The last PIT Count for Sacramento County was conducted over three years 

ago in 2019; the 2021 Sacramento PIT Count, originally scheduled for January 2021, had to be 

postponed due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic.5 Though HUD accepted a postponement 

of the Sacramento PIT Count until 2023, growing community concerns about increasing 

homelessness across the Sacramento region, coupled with reports of decreasing COVID rates in 

Sacramento County, prompted community efforts to facilitate a special off-cycle PIT Count in 

early 2022. Despite some delays caused by a surge in COVID rates in January 2022 (i.e., the 

“Omicron-variant surge”) a successful PIT Count was eventually conducted in late February 2022. 

  

 
5 Because the unsheltered component of the PIT Count requires hundreds of volunteers to canvas the 
region and facilitate face-to-face interviews with individuals, concerns about the risks and dangers of 
community transmission of COVID resulted in an official postponement of these efforts in December 
2020.  



11 

This report summarizes the collective efforts of the 2022 Sacramento PIT Count and the key 

findings that have emerged about the current state of homelessness across Sacramento County. 

As discussed below, Sacramento Steps Forward--the local organization chiefly responsible for 

conducting the Sacramento PIT Count--has partnered for a fourth time with faculty researchers 

from Sacramento State and the Division of Social Work to assist in the implementation and 

analysis of the 2022 Sacramento PIT Count. Sacramento Steps Forward has also commissioned 

these faculty researchers to conduct an independent analysis of the Sacramento PIT data and 

author this community report for public dissemination of findings. 

Additional Background About the 2022 Effort 

Sacramento Steps Forward (SSF) functions as the administrative “lead agency” for what is known 

as our region's Continuum of Care for homeless services and programs.6 Officially known as the 

Sacramento City and County Continuum of Care (Sacramento CoC), this decision-making 

coalition of approximately 30 local organizations is responsible for coordinating and planning 

various community-level efforts to address homelessness. The Sacramento CoC is also 

responsible for collecting and analyzing information about the local homeless service system as 

well as homelessness more generally in the region, including conducting the biennial PIT Count. 

Since 2019, SSF and the Sacramento CoC have maintained a standing advisory committee of 

community members to guide and inform collective decisions about the Sacramento PIT Count. 

Members of this advisory committee (aptly named the CoC PIT Committee) include 

representatives from homeless service organizations, K-12 schools, advocates for youth and the 

LGBTQ+ community, law enforcement, local governments, as well as individuals who have 

previously been homeless. 

During the spring and summer of 2021, the PIT Committee met monthly to deliberate on when 

and how to conduct the next Sacramento PIT Count. While an unsheltered PIT Count was not 

required by HUD until 2023, the PIT Committee voted to recommend that SSF conduct an 

unsheltered count as soon as practical given community interest to better understand the current 

prevalence of unsheltered homelessness in the region. A key motivation to conduct the PIT 

Count in early 2022 was to better understand how homelessness might have increased during 

the pandemic, especially given the increased visibility and reports of encampments throughout 

the county. In August 2021, the Sacramento CoC Executive Board endorsed these 

recommendations and voted for SSF to conduct a special off-cycle unsheltered PIT in January 

6 A Continuum of Care (CoC) is an official HUD designation for a local coalition or community board  that 
coordinates local homelessness planning efforts and disperses state and federal funding to support 
efforts to address homelessness in the community. 



 

12 

2022. The Board also voted to authorize SSF to commission faculty researchers at Sacramento 

State (the primary authors of this report) to provide technical and analytical assistance in 

preparation and analysis of the unsheltered Count, given their prior experiences providing these 

services in the past (e.g., 2017; 2019; 2021). 

While SSF held primary responsibility for conducting the 2022 PIT Count, including outreach to 

partners and recruiting and training volunteers, the Sacramento State research team held primary 

responsibility for guiding the methodology and analysis of the 2022 PIT Count. Accordingly, the 

Sacramento State team met each month with the PIT Committee between September 2021 and 

January 2022 to discuss methodological and survey design decisions for the unsheltered count. 

While adhering to specific HUD guidelines, the research team incorporated feedback from the 

community to establish the 2022 PIT Count methodology, which is summarized briefly below 

(and elaborated in the appendix of this report). 

Generally speaking, the Sacramento PIT Count was calibrated to estimate the total number of 

people experiencing homelessness7 on February 23rd, 2022 across the geography of the 

Sacramento CoC (i.e., Sacramento County). Accordingly, researchers worked with the SSF staff 

to leverage data from the Homeless Information Management System (HMIS), as well as other 

sources, to calculate the number of people accessing shelters or transitional housing programs 

(as well as those sheltered in motels/hotels) on this particular night across the county. To estimate 

the total number of individuals experiencing unsheltered homelessness during this same time 

period, volunteer teams canvassed hundreds of locations across the county, where they visually 

counted and surveyed individuals that were present.8 Count and survey information provided by 

canvassing teams were later used to statistically estimate the number of individuals likely missed 

in locations not canvassed. The Sacramento State team later combined the estimate of 

 
7 The PIT methodology relies on the HUD definition of homelessness, which is defined as sleeping in a 
place not meant for human habitation (but also includes those sleeping at an emergency shelter or 
transitioning housing program). It is important to note that this definition excludes other experiences of 
homelessness and forms of housing insecurity, such as when individuals may temporarily reside in 
someone's home (e.g., sleeping on someone's couch) or when families double up in a single-family 
apartment. While these forms of homelessness and housing insecurity are significant, they are not 
included in the analyses of this report, per HUD guidelines.  
8  The research team established specific canvassing routes for volunteers by first compiling reports from 
dozens of outreach, advocacy, and civic organizations regarding homelessness as well as analyzed 
service call data from multiple jurisdictions (e.g., 311 calls for service, 211 informational calls regarding 
housing support, as well as emergency response dispatch data). This data was used to create a sampling 
strategy, whereby 143 geographic areas were selected to be canvassed (each approximately a quarter 
square mile area) while others were identified for statistical extrapolation. 



 

13 

unsheltered homelessness in Sacramento County with the shelter information to calculate a 

nightly homeless total.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

To make comparisons to previous years, the 2022 PIT Count retained most of the same sampling 

and fielding methodologies used in the 2019 PIT Count. Nonetheless, the 2022 PIT Count was 

conducted under unique circumstances, most notably the pandemic, which required some 

modifications. Moreover, community members expressed interest in improving and calibrating 

the survey fielding strategies to improve engagement with groups that are often underreported 

in PIT Counts. Some of these modifications are highlighted below. 

• Given the ongoing pandemic, fewer community members volunteered to canvas 

locations than in 2019. Approximately 500 community members participated in the 2022 

count compared to the approximately 900 volunteers in 2019. 

• To maximize coverage, and in accordance with HUD guidelines, canvassing teams were 

deployed two nights (February 23 and 24th) but sent to geographically distinct regions 

of the county to avoid double counting. Canvassing teams were also deployed from five 

separate community sites across the two nights (deployment sites in the City of 

Sacramento, Citrus Heights, Rancho Cordova, Elk Grove, and Folsom).  

• Similar to previous years, demographic surveys were conducted with a subsample of 

individuals encountered during the two count nights, which were later statistically 



14 

weighted with the count data to provide estimates of particular subpopulations. This year 

new questions about experiences in encampments, as well as about racial identity, were 

added to the survey tool, per recommendations of the PIT Committee.   

• New efforts were also made to improve outreach with specific subpopulations that are

traditionally undercounted in PIT Counts. These efforts included additional outreach with

youth and families experiencing homelessness as well as organizing special outreach

teams to survey individuals sleeping in vehicles and tents. Specialty outreach teams were

also deployed to specific segments of the American River Parkway during the day, as

navigating and locating individuals in these locations during the night can be difficult.



 

15 

Report Roadmap 

The goal of this report is to provide community members with a general understanding of the 

core findings from the 2022 Sacramento PIT Count as well as to highlight contextual factors and 

policy implications to consider in light of these findings. Given these goals, the report is 

organized in the following three sections: 

  

Section 1 provides a general overview of the 2022 PIT Count and presents a series of statistics 

and estimates regarding the current state of homelessness in Sacramento County. In this section 

we discuss how these estimates can be interpreted within the broader context of increasing 

homelessness throughout the West Coast. Lastly, we present breakdowns of overall 

demographics and household characteristics of sheltered and unsheltered individuals. 

  

Section 2 focuses on four key subpopulations that are at higher risk for experiencing 

homelessness. Specifically, we present detailed data on transitional age youth (ages 18-24), 

families with children, and veterans. This year’s report also presents data on individuals who are 

disabled and experiencing chronic patterns of homelessness--the group that has experienced 

the largest increase since 2019. 

  

Section 3 reviews the general trends highlighted by the various findings of 2022 PIT Count. This 

last section also highlights contextual factors to consider in light of these findings (such as the 

effects of the pandemic and the growing affordable housing crisis) as well as their policy 

implications. We also discuss methodological recommendations for future PIT Counts and 

research more generally on homelessness in Sacramento County. 

  

In the appendix of this report we have included a Methodology Summary that describes the 

updated research design of the 2022 PIT Count. The appendix also includes a series of Data 

Tables that were submitted to HUD and summarize specific populations and subpopulations for 

the 2022 PIT Count. These same data points are summarized throughout this report. 

 

 



16 

Section 1: The State of Homelessness in 2022 
In this section, we discuss the general results of the 2022 PIT Count, starting first with the 

estimates for nightly homelessness in Sacramento County. We report the number of sheltered 

and unsheltered individuals estimated on the night of the Count, as well as describe how 

different sleeping locations were distributed across the county. We also discuss these estimates 

in the broader context of increasing homelessness in California. Later in this section we overview 

the demographic profile of individuals experiencing homelessness in Sacramento County.  

Estimates of Homelessness in Sacramento County 
On a single night in February 2022 an estimated 9,278 individuals were experiencing 

homelessness in Sacramento County.  

• This is the largest report of nightly homelessness on record for Sacramento County.

• The estimate of 9,278 includes the 2,614 sheltered individuals who accessed emergency

shelters or transitional housing the night of the count, and the 6,664 unsheltered

individuals who slept outside or in a location not suitable for human habitation (e.g., on

the street, in a vehicle, or in a tent).

• This suggests that over 72 percent of individuals experiencing homelessness in the

county are unsheltered as opposed to sheltered on any given night (i.e., not accessing

shelters or transitional housing).

Figure 1 | Sheltered vs. Unsheltered Individuals in the 2022 Homeless Count 



17 

Sleeping Locations 

The below table provides a more detailed summary of where people experiencing homelessness 

slept on the night of the 2022 count, including both those that were sheltered and unsheltered. 

Table 1 | Sleeping Locations 

With respect to sheltered locations, a total of 1,105 individuals slept in one of the approximately 

30 emergency shelter programs operating across Sacramento County during the night of the 

count (sheltering approximately 12 percent of all individuals experiencing homelessness). 

Another 874 individuals (or 9%) were temporarily sheltered in a motel/hotel room paid by a 

homeless service provider (either the county, a city, or a program). Many of these motel/hotel 

rooms were aligned with the state’s Project Roomkey and/or other COVID related initiatives to 

increase access to “non-congregate emergency shelter” for vulnerable individuals facing 

homelessness during the pandemic. As we elaborate in a later discussion in this section, this 

increased use of motel and hotel sheltering programs during the past two years substantially 

increased the overall shelter capacity in Sacramento County since the previous 2019 Count. 

• Comparing the results of the 2019 and 2022 PIT Count, indicates that the shelter capacity 

of the Sacramento homeless service system increased substantially by 57 percent 

(increasing from 1,670 to 2,614 available shelter beds). Approximately 90 percent of 

this increase can be attributed to the increased use of motel/hotel shelter programs.



18 

The remaining 635 sheltered individuals indicated in the 2022 PIT Count resided in one of the 

approximately 25 transitional housing programs in the county. These programs, that often focus 

on specific populations like transitional age youth (ages 18 to 24), also increased capacity 

between the 2019 and 2022 Count. 

• Between the 2019 and 2022 Count, capacity in transitional housing programs increased 

by 20 percent (increasing from 531 to 635 beds).

• This contributed to approximately 10 percent of the overall increase in sheltered 

capacity for the broader homeless service system in Sacramento.

With respect to unsheltered locations, the above table highlights that almost a third of all 

individuals experiencing homelessness on the night of the count were sleeping in a tent outside 

(a total of 2,809 individuals or 30 percent of the total count). This coincided with a pronounced 

increase in the number of encampments (i.e., clusters of five or more tents) reported by volunteer 

canvassers and outreach teams. 

• In total, over 1,600 individual tents were counted across Sacramento County during the

2022 PIT Count. This is five times more tents reported by canvassers than in 2019 (when

approximately 300 tents were counted).

• Increased reporting of tent counts by volunteers in 2022 suggests, in part, that

encampments are currently more visible than in the past (i.e., there are larger clusters of

tents and in more visible and accessible locations than in the previous years). This

increased visibility of encampments likely reflected changes in public health protocols

and guidelines during the pandemic which reduced the clearing of encampments by

jurisdictions.

Increased use of motel and hotel sheltering programs during the past two 

years substantially increased the overall shelter capacity in Sacramento 

County since the previous 2019 Count. 



19 

Similar to the substantial increase in the number of people sleeping in tents, people sleeping in 

vehicles (in an RV or car) has also become much more pronounced in Sacramento County. 

• Approximately 19 percent of all people experiencing homelessness (a total 1,782

individuals) were estimated to be sleeping in 1,100 vehicles during a single night across

the county.

• In comparison, fewer than 200 vehicles were identified by volunteers in the 2019 PIT

Count.

• Unlike 2019, volunteer canvassers in 2022 reported a number of “vehicle encampments,”

consisting of several, to several dozens, of vehicles parked together or along a street or

road (some of which also included clusters of nearby tents and makeshift tarp shelters).

Some vehicle encampments were parked along isolated county roads, industrial and

business parks.

The remaining 22 percent of individuals reported sleeping in unsheltered locations other than a 

vehicle or tent. Survey responses,9 as well as visual reports from canvassers, suggest that many 

of these unsheltered individuals used a sleeping bag, or other limited coverings (e.g., tarps or 

blankets), to sleep directly on the street or under a business doorway or bridge/underpass. Some 

9 At the start of each interview, unsheltered individuals were asked where they anticipated sleeping for 
the evening of February 23rd (or where they had slept that night, if the survey was conducted after the 
23rd) 



20 

of these individuals also reported squatting at an abandoned building or bus/light rail station. 

Individuals in this category also included those who accessed one of the various warming centers 

operational during the night of the PIT Count. 

• Notably, around eight percent (8%) of respondents were unsure where they would sleep

that night.

Geographic Distribution of Unsheltered Locations 

The researchers analyzed the geolocation of the count data to identify the general region of the 

county where unsheltered homeless individuals were sleeping on the night of the count. Overall, 

the geographic distribution of unsheltered sleeping locations was reflective of population 

densities in the county, though not always proportional to the total populations within these 

regions. 

Table 2 | Geographic Distributions of Unsheltered Locations 

The largest proportion of unsheltered sleeping locations were within the City of Sacramento; 

approximately 4,444 unsheltered individuals slept within the City and another 594 individuals 

resided within segments of the American River Parkway that fall within city limits.10 This is not 

surprising given that the City of Sacramento is the geographically largest and most populous 

10 The American River Parkway spans 32 miles across Sacramento County with some segments falling 
within the boundaries of the City of Sacramento, Rancho Cordova and Folsom, while others fall within 
unincorporated regions of the county. Over a dozen encampment locations canvassed by outreach 
teams in the American River Parkway were within the boundaries of the City of Sacramento. Because of 
the relatively high encampment counts of these specific segments of the parkway--which are likely not 
representative of the entire park--the above table presents a sub count of these areas (i.e., American 
River Parkway inside City of Sacramento). This is not a full estimate of all individuals residing in the entire 
parkway. 



21 

area in the county; it also encompasses a number of high-density census tracts. However, the 

City of Sacramento represents 33 percent of the total population of the county but between 67 

to 75 percent of unsheltered homelessness. Rancho Cordova, on the other hand, has a rate of 

nightly homelessness (156 per night) that is proportional with its relative population size in the 

county (5% vs 6%). In contrast, the cities of Citrus Heights, Elk Grove, and Folsom have 

relatively small numbers of unsheltered homeless populations (89, 45 and 20 nightly homeless, 

respectively, or about 4 percent combined) despite their sizable overall populations 

(collectively making up 22 percent of the county’s total population). The remaining 20 percent 

of unsheltered homelessness were distributed across the unincorporated parts of the county.  

2022 Annualized Estimate 
A common misconception of the Point-in-Time PIT Count is that it provides a total yearly estimate 

of all of the individuals experiencing homelessness within the community--for example, 

approximating the total number of individuals who fall into homelessness or access shelters 

across the span of the year. As the name implies, however, the Point-in-Time count provides only 

a snapshot of one night of homelessness in a region.  

• During the course of an entire year different individuals enter and exit--as well as

sometimes return--- to a state of homelessness in our community. In other words, the

homeless population can fluctuate as different individuals enter and exit homelessness

each month.

• A recent Gaps Analysis by SSF and Tom Albanese Consulting LLC estimates that during

the course of a year, between 16,500 to 20,000 different individuals will experience

homelessness in Sacramento County. The authors of this report believe that the results

of the 2022 Count are largely consistent with this annualized estimate, though we 

anticipate incorporating data from the unsheltered 2022 PIT Count will adjust the range 

of these estimates by a modest amount.11 

11 In previous years, the authors of this report used a conventional formula (Burt & Wilkins, 2005) to 
extrapolate an annualized estimate from responses of the unsheltered survey (e.g., the 2019 PIT Count). 
Similar to other techniques, the Burt & Wilkins formulas considers the number of individuals who 
reported becoming homeless in the past week and extrapolates that number out a year--while also 
discounting the proportion of individuals who were previously homeless during the year. As we discuss 
below, the majority of individuals interviewed during the unsheltered 2022 PIT Count reported being 
continuously homeless for over a year--sometimes several years. Accordingly, a relatively smaller 
percentage of unsheltered individuals in 2022 report becoming homeless for the first time in the past 
week or month, thus the annualized extrapolation would be relatively smaller than in previous years. Our 



22 

• The Gaps Analysis draws from HMIS, which is able track individuals entering and exiting

homelessness over time. In contrast, the PIT Count is a cross sectional snapshot of a 

changing group and may over-represent individuals who have been homeless for long 

periods of times. We believe updating SSF’s annualized estimate with the unsheltered 

2022 PIT Count will provide the most reliable estimate of annualized homelessness in the 

Sacramento region. 

preliminary analysis of the unsheltered counts suggest comparable results to the SSF’s recent annualized 
estimate of unsheltered homelessness.  

A recent Gaps Analysis by SSF and Tom Albanese Consulting LLC 

estimates that during the course of a year, between 16,500 to 20,000 

different individuals will experience homelessness in Sacramento County. 



23 

Changes over Time

Comparing the results of the 2022 PIT Count to previous counts suggest a marked increase in 

the number of people experiencing homelessness in Sacramento County since 2019.  

Figure 2 | Sacramento PITs 2015-2022 

• An additional 3,708 individuals are experiencing homelessness on a single night in 2022

in contrast to 2019 (5,570 vs 9,278), representing an increase of 67 percent.

• Both the sheltered and unsheltered counts increased substantially between 2019 and

2022; the sheltered count increased 57 percent (from 1,670 to 2,744) and the unsheltered

count 71 percent (from 3,900 to 6,664).

• As discussed previously, the increased shelter count reflects increased capacity of the

emergency shelter system during the past two years, most notably the use of motels and

hotel rooms as “non-congregate shelter.”

• Because of this increased sheltered capacity, the proportion of unsheltered homelessness

in Sacramento remained approximately the same since 2019 despite the overall increase



24 

in homelessness. Seventy percent (70%) of individuals were unsheltered in 2019 and 72 

percent were in 2022. 

• It should be noted, however, that because much of the funding for motel/hotel programs

is temporary, and many motel/hotel shelter programs are currently phasing down, it is

unclear if this increased shelter capacity of the Sacramento homeless service system will

be retained over time.

The 2022 results follow a consistent pre-pandemic trend of growing reports of homelessness in 

our region, as well as the broader West Coast, since 2015. While official estimates of 

homelessness are imperfect and do not capture all forms of housing instability, the consistency 

of trends from the last seven years nonetheless indicate a significant spike in homelessness 

throughout the state.12 

• The Sacramento 2017 PIT Count estimated a 30 percent increase in homelessness since

2015—the highest increase on record at that time. The subsequent Sacramento 2019 PIT

indicated an approximate 19 percent increase as well as the largest number of individuals

experiencing unsheltered homelessness on record for our community.

• These substantial increases in the local PIT Count parallel stark increases in homelessness

reported by most jurisdictions across the state during this time. Nearly 80 percent of

jurisdictions in California reported double digit growth in the number of individuals

experiencing homelessness between 2015 and 2019 (e.g., on average communities in

California reported a 40 percent increase across those four years).13

• Most jurisdictions have reported acute increases in the number of unsheltered individuals

sleeping outside during their last two PIT Counts (contributing to over a 50 percent

increase in total unsheltered homelessness during this time). About a quarter of

12 Achieving an accurate count of all individuals experiencing homelessness within a geographic area is 
notoriously difficult for various reasons. While PIT counts may lack absolute accuracy (in terms of 
accounting for every person experiencing homelessness within a county), they can nonetheless provide 
reasonable indicators of general increases and decreases over time when they are deployed consistently 
across years. The consistency of trends from the last four years, across various communities, indicate 
strong evidence that California is experiencing a substantial increase in homelessness—though the 
specific amount of increase is difficult to estimate given some changes in methodology over time 
13 Baiocchi, A., Curry, S., Newham, J., & Monnet M. F. (2020). An initial assessment of California’s 
Homeless Emergency Aid Program. Report prepared for the Homeless Finance & Coordinating Council. 
Institute for Social Research: California State University, Sacramento. 
https://www.bcsh.ca.gov/hcfc/documents/heap_annual.pdf  



 

25 

communities in California report that the number of individuals sleeping outside has more 

than doubled in their area since 2015.14  

 

 

 

Figure 3 | California Yearly PIT Estimates, 2014-202015 

 

 

• Though PIT methodologies have varied over time, and direct comparison to previous 

counts can be problematic, the consistency and magnitude of the results since 2015 

suggest that homelessness has been substantially increasing across California. This is 

consistent with statewide trends in rising housing costs that have also substantially 

increased in the last seven years. 

 

 
14 HUD (2020). 2007-2020 PIT Estimates by State. https://www. huduser.gov/portal/sites/default/ 
files/xls/2007-2020-PIT-Estimates- by-state.xlsx      
15See footnote 14 
 

The 2022 results follow a consistent pre-pandemic trend of growing 

reports of homelessness in our region, as well as the broader West 

Coast, since 2015. 



26 

The ongoing pandemic, and its impacts on the economy, will likely have continuing influence on 

housing and homelessness in our region. Nonetheless, and as we discuss in the next section, 

survey results from the 2022 PIT indicate that most unsheltered individuals in Sacramento County 

have been facing prolonged challenges with housing insecurity and homelessness since before 

the pandemic. 

• The majority of unsheltered individuals surveyed (59%) reported that they became

homeless three years or longer.

• Among individuals interviewed who reported first becoming homeless in the last three

years (approximately 40%), the majority indicated that they became homeless before

February 2020 (22%). A much smaller percentage reported falling into homeless during

the first year of the pandemic (6%) and a slightly higher percentage reported becoming

homeless during the last year (12%).

Figure 4 | Reported First Time Homeless among Unsheltered Adults (n=2,341) 

These patterns could suggest that the pandemic did not lead to an increase in new homelessness 

in Sacramento County (as one might assume with an increased 2022 PIT estimate) and may have 

even slowed the rate in which people fell into homelessness for a time. The above data is 

consistent with the interpretation that policies enacted in mid 2020, during pandemic (e.g., 

Most unsheltered individuals in Sacramento County have been facing 

prolonged challenges with housing insecurity and homelessness since 

before the pandemic. 



 

27 

eviction moratorium, extension of unemployment benefits, family tax credit), may have 

temporarily reduced the number of individuals falling into homelessness otherwise typical in any 

given month. Though the pandemic may have made it difficult for individuals recovering from 

homelessness to transition into housing, it did not seem to correlate with a large increase in new 

homelessness in Sacramento County (i.e., people becoming homeless for the first time). A recent 

report by HUD similarly suggests that policies enacted during the pandemic likely contributed 

to a notable decrease in new families experiencing unsheltered homelessness during the last 

two years.16 Moreover, the above pattern is also consistent with the interpretation that as 

pandemic related policies have phased out, there has been a slight uptick in new homelessness 

in the last twelve months. 

Nonetheless, and as we discuss in the conclusion of this report, these survey results provide only 

suggestive evidence of these potential dynamics. Because the unsheltered survey is only a cross 

sectional “snapshot” of a group of people at one point-in-time, it cannot accurately track 

respondents who may have entered and exited homelessness when the survey was not 

administered. There is the possibility, for example, that individuals who became homeless in the 

last two years recovered more quickly and are therefore underrepresented in the 2022 estimates. 

Further analysis of the HMIS system could provide a more accurate assessment of whether 

entrance and exits of homelessness notably changed in the past two years. 

 

Per Capita Rate of Homelessness 

Given Sacramento County’s population of approximately 1.6 million residents, the estimate of 

9,278 people experiencing homelessness each night suggests that approximately 59 out of 

10,000 residents in the county experiences homelessness every night.17 

 

 
16 The U.S. Dept. of HUD (2022) The 2021 Annual Homeless Assessment Report (AHAR) to Congress. 
Retrieved from https://www.huduser.gov/portal/sites/default/files/pdf/2021-AHAR-Part-1.pdf.  
17 The U.S. Census Bureau (2020) reports that approximately 1,585,055 people currently reside in 
Sacramento County. Retrieved from https://data.census.gov/cedsci/ 

Though the pandemic may have made it difficult for individuals 

recovering from homelessness to transition into housing, it did not 

seem to correlate with a large increase in new homelessness in 

Sacramento County (i.e., people becoming homeless for the first time). 



28 

• This per capita rate of nightly homelessness is 67 percent higher than the 2019 estimate

of 36 per 10,000 Sacramento County residents.

• These results suggest that Sacramento continues to experience substantial increases in

homelessness, following statewide trends from 2015 to 2019. At the time of this

reporting, however, several communities in California have yet to report the results of

their 2022 Count, so it is unclear if these patterns have continued and are consistent

across the state.18

Figure 5 | 2022 Per Capita Homelessness, by County 

18  As of June 2022, these percent increases were not yet official but had been reported in the media. 



29 

Demographics of Homelessness in Sacramento County 
Below we provide some general descriptive and demographic information of all people 

experiencing homelessness (both sheltered and unsheltered) in Sacramento County. These 

analyses combined data from HMIS as well as information collected on unsheltered individuals 

by canvassing teams (count reports and surveys). We start by reviewing the household 

composition of all people experiencing homelessness and then discuss the demographic 

characteristics of these individuals (e.g., age, gender, ethnic-racial identity etc.). Later in this 

section we focus more specifically on unsheltered individuals who were interviewed during the 

2022 PIT. And in the next section of the report, we delve deeper into survey results to report on 

specific populations (e.g., transitional age youth, parents with children etc.) 

Household Composition of Total Homelessness in Sacramento County

People experiencing homelessness can be found in various household situations; some people 

navigate homelessness by themselves, while others experience homelessness as a family or 

household. The 2022 PIT Count indicates that the majority of people experiencing homelessness 

in Sacramento County (79%) are single-adults, most of whom are unsheltered.19  

Figure 6 | Household composition by Shelter Status (N=9,278) 

19 Approximately 80 percent of single-adults were unsheltered. 



30 

• Family households with children represent 15 percent of all people experiencing

homelessness in Sacramento County. Unlike other groups in which the majority were

found unsheltered on the night of the count, approximately two thirds of families were in

a sheltered situation. A quarter of all families facing homelessness were sheltered in a

motel or hotel room (i.e., non-congregate shelter) on the night of the count.

• Approximately five percent (5%) of individuals experiencing homelessness would be

considered unaccompanied youth households--this includes some minors (under 18) but

is mostly transitional age youth (ages 18-24). Section 3 of this report also elaborates on

the survey responses from this group, particularly those who are transitional age youth.

• Finally, one percent of adults experiencing homelessness were in multi-adult households,

most often representing a couple (a spouse or partner) though some of these households

could have also been parents caring for an adult child.

Age Groups of Total Homelessness in Sacramento County
People experiencing homelessness also represent a wide range of ages; from very young 

children to seniors in their late 60s. As the Figure below shows, the vast majority of people 

experiencing homelessness (85%) were adults aged 25 and over, nonetheless a substantial 

proportion were children under age 18 (8%) and transitional age youth (ages 18-24; 7%). 

Figure 7 | Age Distribution of People Experiencing Homelessness (N=9,278) 

• The distribution of ages also indicates that the homeless population tends to be older;

44 percent of all people experiencing homelessness are 45 or older, and almost one-in-

four are older than 54.



31 

• The average age of people experiencing homelessness in Sacramento County was 41,

with unsheltered adults reporting significantly older ages than adults staying in shelters

(average age of 43 vs. 37).

• These patterns in ages among people experiencing homelessness were largely similar to

those reported in the 2019 PIT Count, with just a few exceptions. Unsheltered adults, for

example, reported a slightly older age in 2022 than in 2019 (i.e., about 2 years older than

those reporting in 2019).

Gender of Total Homelessness in Sacramento County

The majority of people experiencing homelessness self-identified their gender as male (65%), 

while 33 percent self-identified as female (see Figure 8 below). The remaining two percent (2%) 

identified as transgender or gender non-conforming (not identifying exclusively as male or 

female). Notably, the number of individuals identifying as transgender or gender non-

conforming substantially increased since previous years.  

• Approximately 116  adults identified as transgender in the 2022 PIT Count, almost four

times more than in 2019 (116 vs. 25).

• Eighty eight (88) adults identified as gender non-conforming in 2022, compared to only

sixteen (16) respondents who did so in 2019.

• Despite these substantial increases, individuals who identified as transgender or gender

non-conforming still represent a small percentage of the total homeless population (each

representing approximately one percent). These are likely underestimates of the true

proportions given that these identities are still stigmatized in society and some individuals

may have not been comfortable self-reporting their gender to a volunteer interviewer.

• Young adults (ages 18 to 24) were much more likely to identify as transgender or gender

non-conforming than other age groups; approximately twelve percent of young adults

identified with these gender identities.

The number of individuals identifying as transgender or gender non-

conforming substantially increased since previous years. 



32 

Figure 8 | Gender Distribution of People Experiencing Homelessness (N=9,278) 

Sexual Orientation of Total Homelessness in Sacramento County 

In addition to questions about gender identity, unsheltered adults were also asked about their 

sexual orientation during the 2022 PIT Count—information that was first gathered in 2019. 

Results indicate that approximately eight percent (8%) of general adults (including of individuals 

18 to 69) identified as either Gay/Lesbian, Bisexual or another non-heterosexual sexual identity. 

More specifically, five percent identified as Bisexual (5%), two percent (2%) as Gay/Lesbian, and 

one percent (1%) of respondents chose to self-describe with another term or other category. 

These percentages are generally similar to results of the 2019 PIT Count, when 92 percent of 

individuals identified as straight/heterosexual and eight percent (8%) identified with an LGBTQ+ 

identity. However, similar to some gender identities, LGBTQ+ identities are likely being 

underestimated given that some individuals may not been comfortable self-reporting their sexual 

orientation during their interview. 



 

33 

Figure 9 | Distribution of Sexual Orientation of People Experiencing Homelessness (N=9,278) 

 

 
 

Notably, there was also a clear age pattern to these responses. As we discuss in Section 2 of this 

report, younger respondents, particularly those ages between 18 to 24, were four times more 

likely to identify as either Gay/Lesbian, Bisexual or another non-heterosexual sexual identity than 

older respondents (31% vs. 8%), which is consistent with recent nationwide estimates of youth 

homelessness.20 

   

 

 
 

Ethnicity and Race of Total Homelessness in Sacramento County 

Approximately 20 percent of people experiencing homelessness identified their ethnicity as 

Hispanic, while the majority identified as non-Hispanic (80%). With respect to racial identity, the 

majority of individuals identified as either White (46%) or Black/African American (31%). As Table 

3 shows, a substantial proportion of individuals also identified as American Indian (7%), while 

 
20 Recent estimates indicate that 22 percent to 40 percent of youth experiencing homelessness in the 
U.S. identify as LGB or LGBTQ+ (Dworksy, Van Drunen & Gitlow, 2017; Morton, Samuels, Dworsky & 
Patel, 2018) 

Younger respondents, particularly those ages between 18 to 24, were 

four times more likely to identify as either Gay/Lesbian, Bisexual or 

another non-heterosexual sexual identity than older respondents. 



 

34 

eleven percent (11%) identified themselves with multiple races or considered themselves 

Multiracial. Relatively few individuals identified as either Hawaiian-Pacific Islander (2%) or Asian 

(2%). Generally speaking, these proportions are approximately similar to how respondents have 

identified themselves in previous PIT Counts in Sacramento County. 

  
Table 3 | Gender, Ethnicity, & Race of 2022 Homeless Count 

 
In addition to the fixed answers listed in the previous table, this year’s unsheltered survey also 

asked unsheltered respondents whether they would identify their race and/or ethnicity in any 

other way (i.e., beyond the HUD standardized terms presented above).21 Approximately thirteen 

percent (13%) of unsheltered respondents indicated yes to this question and provided another 

racial-ethnic identity. The vast majority of these respondents (90%) described themselves in 

terms of a nationality (e.g. Mexican, Jamaican etc.) or a hybrid of pan-ethnic terms and 

nationalities  (e.g., “biracial Nicaraguan,” “Latino,” “Mexican Caucasian”). Interestingly, 

individuals who also identified themselves as Hispanics were three times more likely to answer 

this question than non-Hispanics. 

 
21 This was a new question added to the unsheltered survey following recommendations from the CoC 
Racial Equity Committee for the 2022 PIT to be more inclusive of different ways individuals may report 
their racial-ethnic identities. While the Sacramento CoC is required to report on the above ethnic and 
racial categories used by HUD, the researchers added two new questions to explore the frequency by 
which respondents may prefer other racial-ethnic identities.  



35 

Comparing the racial composition of people experiencing homelessness to the total racial 

composition of all residents of Sacramento County reveals some notable trends (see Figure 10 

below).  

Figure 10 | Racial Composition of Sacramento Co. vs. People Experiencing Homelessness (N=9,278) 

• Whites comprise the largest racial group of people experiencing homelessness in

Sacramento County (46%), but are underrepresented compared to the percent of White

residents in the county as a whole (46% vs 63% for Sacramento County).22 

• Per capita, this translates to 43 out of every 10,000 White residents in Sacramento County

experiencing homelessness on any given night.

• In contrast, Blacks/African Americans are disproportionately overrepresented in the

county’s homeless population (31% vs 11% of Sacramento County).

22 U.S. Census, 2021 



36 

• Per capita, this translates to 167 out of every 10,000 Black residents in Sacramento

County experiencing homelessness on any given night.

• While American Indian individuals are a small (7%) percentage of people experiencing

homelessness in Sacramento County, they are some of the most overrepresented given

their proportion in the broader county population (2% of Sacramento County), which

mirrors national trends.23

• Per capita, this translates to 268 out of every 10,000 American Indian residents in

Sacramento County experiencing homelessness on any given night.

• In contrast, individuals who identify as Asian are substantially underrepresented in the

homeless population (2% vs 17% of Sacramento County). Per capita, this translates to 8

out of every 10,000 Asian residents in Sacramento County experiencing homelessness on

any given night.

Table 4  | Per Capita Homelessness by Race 2022 

In sum, the 2022 PIT Count continues to indicate that Black and American Indian residents face 

significantly greater risks of experiencing homelessness compared to other groups. Relative to 

their proportion in the county, Black residents are three to four times more likely to experience 

homelessness compared to White residents. And American Indian residents are six to seven 

times more likely than White residents to experience homelessness on any given night. 

Individuals who identified with multiple races (i.e., they indicated more than one racial category) 

were approximately twice as likely to experience homelessness compared to Whites (similar to 

Native Hawaiian residents). 

23  Biess, J. (2017). Homelessness in Indian Country is a hidden, but critical, problem. Washington, D.C.: 
Urban Institute. Retrieved from https://www.urban.org/urban-wire/homelessness-indian-country-hidden-
critical-problem 



37 

It should be noted that the overrepresentation of racial minorities in the homeless population is 

largely consistent with trends reported across California, as well as the United States more 

broadly. These patterns reflect the racialized and enduring levels of inequality in our state and 

community.24 

Unsheltered Homeless Experiences 
Volunteers interviewed hundreds of individuals experiencing unsheltered homelessness for the 

2022 PIT Count. Responses from 330 usable surveys25 were combined with the count data to 

generate demographic estimates of the unsheltered homeless population. Below we highlight 

some general demographic trends revealed in the weighted survey responses26 provided by 

individuals experiencing unsheltered homelessness--specifically individuals sleeping outside, in 

a tent, or a vehicle. 

24 The racial disproportionality of homelessness was the subject of a recent groundbreaking report by 
the Los Angeles County Department of Homeless Services, which offers a series of recommendations to 
address policies that have led to this overrepresentation. LAHSA (2018, December). Report and 
recommendations of the Ad Hoc Committee on Black People Experiencing Homelessness. Los Angeles 
Homeless Services Authority. Retrieved from 
https://www.lahsa.org/documents?id=2823-report-and-recommendations-of-the-ad-hoc-committee-on-

black-people-experiencing-homelessness 
25 While volunteers attempted to interview close to 400 individuals, some surveys had incomplete 
information and could not be included in these analyses. Some surveys were also excluded after the 
researchers checked for duplication of respondents (the same respondent interviewed at different times) 
as well as when individuals reported not being homeless specifically on February 23rd.  
26 As discussed in the Methodology Appendix, the research team combined data from count reports and 
survey responses to calculate statistical weights (inverse probability weights) for each survey based on 
the sleeping locations of household composition reported by respondents. Per HUD guidelines, these 
statistical weights were then applied to calculate specific population parameters required for HUD data 
reporting. These weights were also used to calculate the specific demographics estimates presented 
throughout these reports. 

Relative to their proportion in the county, Black residents are three to 

four times more likely to experience homelessness compared to White 

residents. And American Indian residents are six to seven times more 

likely than White residents to experience homelessness on any given 

night.



38 

Demographic Characteristics of People Who Are Unsheltered 

Analysis of the survey data suggests that the demographic composition of people experiencing 

unsheltered homelessness varies slightly from those who are sheltered.  

• Unsheltered individuals are on average five years older than individuals staying in

shelters/transitional housing (42 vs. 37).

• Individuals encountered outside were also much more likely to report themselves in a

single-adult household than those in shelter/transitional housing; 89 percent of people

sleeping unsheltered were single-adults compared to 57 percent of those sleeping in a

shelter.

As the demographic table illustrates below, a higher proportion of individuals sleeping outside 

identified as male than those in sheltered situations (70% vs 52%). In contrast, individuals who 

identified as female represented a much larger proportion of the sheltered than unsheltered 

population (47% vs 27%).   

• Though, in total, more females experiencing homelessness were counted outside of

shelters than those counted in sheltered situations (1,806 vs 1,218), they were more likely

to be encountered within shelters compared to males experiencing homelessness. Only

22 percent of males were encountered in shelters compared to 40 percent of females

experiencing homelessness.

• This gender pattern was similarly present in previous PIT Counts in Sacramento County

(e.g., 2019 and 2017).



 

39 

Table 5 | Gender, Ethnicity, & Race of Total 2022 Homeless Count 

 
As discussed in the previous discussion, the number of individuals who identified as either 

transgender or gender non-conforming (not identifying exclusively male or female) has 

substantially increased since 2019. And as the above table highlights, this was reflected in both 

the sheltered and unsheltered count equally.  

 

• Though transgender and gender non-conforming identities represent almost identical 

proportions in the sheltered and unsheltered populations in 2022 (both representing 1% 

in each group), many more individuals are identifying with these identities than in past 

PIT Counts. 

 

With respect to ethnic and racial identities, individuals who identified as Hispanic or Latino were 

equally represented in both the sheltered and unsheltered groups (20%). Nonetheless, some 

racial identities varied slightly by shelter status. 

 

• A lower proportion of unsheltered individuals self-identified as Black/African American 

compared to sheltered individuals (28% vs 38%).  



 

40 

• A larger proportion of unsheltered individuals self-identified as American Indian 

compared to sheltered individuals (9% vs 2%).  

 

Despite these differences, however, unsheltered individuals indicated similar responses with 

respect to ethnicity (Hispanic and Non-Hispanic), other racial identities, as well as transgender 

and non-gender conforming identities. 

Episodes and Length of Homelessness 

Adult individuals who were unsheltered were asked a series of questions about their current and 

past experiences of homelessness (e.g., length of time, prior experiences, and episodes). To 

simplify the various ways that individuals answered these questions, the researchers synthesized 

responses into four general categories of homelessness that we describe below.27  

  

Homeless Situation 1 | First Time and Recent  

Approximately two percent (2%) of individuals surveyed could be characterized as facing “first 

time and recent” homelessness. More specifically, these individuals had recently become 

homeless for the first time during the last six months and were now sleeping outside. This is a 

significantly smaller proportion of unsheltered adults compared to the results of the 2019 PIT 

Count (when 6% of respondents were experiencing first time and recent homelessness).   

  

Homeless Situation 2 | Episodic and Moderate-Length  

Eighteen percent (18%) were experiencing “episodic and moderate-length” homelessness. This 

group included individuals who reported between 2-3 distinct episodes of homelessness during 

the last three years (with each episode lasting an average of three to 11 months). Some 

individuals reported more frequent, but implied briefer periods of homelessness during the last 

three years (e.g., four or more episodes that were under three months). This group also included 

individuals who reported being homeless for the first time but nonetheless had been struggling 

 
27 We provide these synthesized situations because it can be misleading to present single responses to 
these questions without considering how individuals answered other questions about their homelessness 
situation. For example, approximately half (44%) of respondents indicated that this was their “first time 
being homeless,” but in follow-up questions  these same individuals reported varying lengths of time 
being homeless . Some “first time” individuals reported that they had just become homeless in the past 
few weeks, while others indicated that this single episode of homelessness had lasted over a year. In 
contrast, some individuals described more intermittent episodes of homelessness during the last couple 
of years; situations of straddling back and forth between finding and losing housing. Within this group of 
individuals, however, the length of these episodes varied from weeks to years. For these reasons, we 
present a more synthesized analysis of these questions as opposed to individual responses to single 
questions. 



41 

for over six months during the past year with a single episode of homelessness. This is a 

significantly larger proportion of unsheltered adults compared to the results of the 2019 PIT 

Count (when 10% of respondents were experiencing episodic and moderate-length 

homelessness). One possible explanation of the increase is that there was an uptick in the 

proportion of people experiencing more episodic homelessness during the last year; these 

episodes started more recently during the second year of the pandemic than the first year. 

Figure 11 | Length of Homelessness Report by Unsheltered Adults in 2022 (N=6,664) 

Homeless Situation 3 | Episodic and Long-Term 

Six percent (6%) of adults could be characterized as experiencing “episodic and long term” 

homelessness. Similar to the group above, these individuals also reported experiencing 2-4 

episodes of homelessness in the past three years, but indicated periods of homelessness that 

were substantially longer (e.g., a single period or periods that exceed a year or more). This also 

included individuals who stated that they had been homeless before, but that this single period 

had lasted approximately a year. Generally speaking, episodic and long-term homelessness in 

2022 was a significantly smaller proportion of unsheltered adults compared to the results of the 

2019 PIT Count (when 26% of respondents were experiencing episodic and long-term 

homelessness). An explanation of this decrease, similar to the explanation above, is that there 

was a notable reduction in the proportion of people experiencing more episodic homelessness 

approximately two years ago; relatively few households began having episodic homeless two 



42 

year ago, during the first year of the pandemic. Though more recently, in the past twelve months 

there seems to be a slight increase in first time and episodic forms of homelessness reported. 

Homeless Situation 4 | Long-Term and Continuous Homelessness 

Finally, almost three quarter of respondents (74%) could be characterized as experiencing a 

“long term and continuous” period of homelessness that has lasted over a year. The majority of 

this group consisted of individuals who reported being previously homeless, but were 

nonetheless currently experiencing one or more years of continuous homelessness (sometimes 

for several years). Also included were a substantial number of individuals who said they had been 

continuously homeless for well over two years and for the first time. A substantial proportion of 

individuals included in this group were characterized as chronically homeless, given their 

prolonged experience of homelessness (exceeding a year) and reported a disability.  

In sum, the distribution of the four homeless situations described above highlight the prolonged 

periods of time that unsheltered individuals are reporting sleeping outside. Indeed, survey 

responses suggest that 59 percent of currently unsheltered adults have been continuously 

homeless since the last Point in Time Count in 2019. This suggests that some individuals, and 

particularly those with significant disabilities, may have struggled to exit homelessness during 

the last three years. 

And as discussed previously, there seems to be a decrease in the number of recent, first time 

homeless--not only in the last six month but in the last two years. Among individuals interviewed 

who reported becoming homeless in the last three years for the first time (approximately 40%), 

the majority indicated that they became homeless before February 2020 (22%). A much smaller 

percentage reported falling into homeless during the first year of the pandemic (6%) and a 

slightly higher percentage reported becoming homeless during the last year (12%). This is 

consistent with the pattern indicated above of a substantial increase in “episodic and moderate 

length” homelessness but a substantial decrease in ”episodic and long term” homelessness.28 

28 One of the limitations of the unsheltered survey is that it was likely difficult for some individuals to 
accurately recall the specific month in which they became homeless, particularly for individuals who have 
been homeless for prolonged periods of time. This suggests some measurement error in the specificity 
of responses and suggests some caution in interpretation. Nonetheless, these patterns might be 
corroborated with a more thorough HMIS system analysis of homeless exits and entries, which could be 
combined with the 2022 PIT data. Moreover, an analysis of HMIS could explore if the impacts of the 
pandemic, with respect to changes in entries and exits, track with the above findings. 



 

43 

Unique Unsheltered Experiences and Challenges 

Unsheltered individuals were also asked about specific experiences and challenges that may 

complicate their transition to stable housing.29 Some of these questions were HUD-required and 

directly asked respondents about their health challenges, disabilities, and time spent homeless. 

Other questions asked about engagement with the foster care system and experiences of 

domestic violence.30  Below we report findings that emerged from these questions. 

Disabling Conditions 

During the course of the unsheltered survey, volunteers read a list of common challenges and 

conditions that can contribute to prolonged experiences with homelessness (e.g., a chronic 

health condition, a psychological condition, substance use disorder, a physical disability etc.). If 

an adult respondent indicated that they had any of these conditions they were asked follow-up 

questions to assess if these conditions are severe enough to be debilitating for the individual; 

specifically do any of these conditions prevent the individual “from holding a job or living in a 

stable housing.” Results of the previous 2019 PIT Count showed that a significant proportion of 

unsheltered adults (approximately 4 out 10) self-reported at least one debilitating condition 

(disability and/or health conditions). Survey responses from the 2022 PIT Count suggest that this 

number has substantially increased. 

 

• Approximately 6 out of 10 unsheltered adults (58% in 2022) indicated that they have one 

or more disabling health conditions that prevent them from being employed and/or 

maintaining stable housing.  

• For comparison, 25 percent of adults in the United States and 23 percent of adults in 

California have some disability.31  

As the below table shows, a third of unsheltered adults (34%) self-reported a disabling 

psychological condition (which could refer to behavioral health conditions such as major 

depressive disorder, post-traumatic stress disorder, schizophrenia etc.). This was followed closely 

by adults who reported a disabling physical impairment (32%) or cognitive impairment (30%) 

 
29 Some questions were HUD-required and directly asked respondents about their health challenges, 
disabilities, and possible use of non-medical drugs and alcohol. 
30 Other questions were age-specific and were developed to assess the unique challenges faced by 
transitional age youth. More general questions asked all adults about their length of residency in the 
county, and if they were new to the community.  
31 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Disability and Health Data System (DHDS); cited 2022 
May 25. Retrieved from: http://dhds.cdc.gov 



44 

(e.g., dementia, autism, developmental delay). Fewer unsheltered adults reported having a 

disabling chronic medical condition (e.g. diabetes, cancer, heart disease) or a disabling condition 

due to the use of alcohol or drugs. Notably, one in four unsheltered adults (24%) reported having 

a traumatic brain injury (responses not shown below) and half of these adults (12%) indicated that 

this injury prevented them from maintaining employment or housing. 

Figure 12 | Conditions & Challenges Report by Unsheltered Adults in 2022 (N=6,664) 

A closer look at survey responses by individuals who self-reported these conditions reveal some 

notable patterns. 

• Four out of ten respondents indicated two or more debilitating conditions; suggesting

that almost half of all adults who are unsheltered may have a comorbidity of health

conditions and/or a cognitive/physical impairment. 

• A quarter of all respondents reported three or more debilitating conditions.

• A cognitive impairment was strongly correlated with individuals also reporting a

debilitating psychological condition, and a physical disability. Individuals with a TBI were 

less likely to report other conditions. 

• Adults who reported one or more disabilities reported longer periods of homelessness

(by 7 months on average) compared to those without a disability. The one exception to 

this relationship was for individuals reporting a disabling condition due to alcohol/drug 

use and traumatic brain injury 



45 

Overall, the above findings are consistent with a growing body of research that finds that people 

with disabilities are particularly vulnerable to falling into homelessness (often due to challenges 

in maintaining income, lack of social support, and/or challenges of independent living) as well as 

the fact that these conditions may worsen on the street and prolong homelessness.32 It is notable 

that the increase in the proportion of individuals in the 2022 PIT Count reporting at least one 

disabling condition coincides with a growing proportion of individuals also reporting longer 

periods of homelessness, as discussed in the last section. These patterns undoubtedly contribute 

to the fact that one out of two people experiencing homelessness in Sacramento (43%) have at 

least one disability and are experiencing what HUD designates as “chronic patterns of 

homelessness” over many years. As is discussed in section 2 of this report, “chronic 

homelessness” has acutely increased by 167 percent since 2019. 

Former Foster Youth
Former foster youth in the United States face relatively high risks of becoming homeless, 

particularly those that age out of the foster care system. Consequently, former foster youth are 

over-represented in most PIT counts throughout the U.S., and this is true in Sacramento County 

as well.33 

● Approximately one in four unsheltered (24%) adults said that they had previously spent

time in foster care before age 18. This is consistent with findings from across the country

but also from the 2017 & 2019 Count reports. 

32 Nishio, A., Horita, R., Sado, T., Mizutani, S., Watanabe, T., Uehara, R., & Yamamoto, M. (2017). Causes 
of homelessness prevalence: Relationship between homelessness and disability. Psychiatry and Clinical 
Neurosciences, 71(3), 180-188. 
33 Berzin, S. C., Rhodes, A. M., & Curtis, M. A. (2011). Housing experiences of former foster youth: How 
do they fare in comparison to other youth?. Children and Youth Services Review, 33(11), 2119-2126. 
Courtney, M.E., Dworsky, A., Brown, A., Cary, C., Love, K. & Vorhies, V. (2011). Midwest evaluation of the 

adult functioning of former foster youth: Outcomes at age 26. Chicago, IL: Chapin Hall at the University of 

Chicago.Retrieved from https://www.chapinhall.org/wp-content/uploads/Midwest-Eval-Outcomes-at-

Age-26.pdf 

Approximately 6 out of 10 unsheltered adults (58% in 2022) indicated 

that they have one or more disabling health conditions that prevent 

them from being employed and/or maintaining stable housing.



 

46 

● Interestingly, most of these individuals are not transitional age youth (as might be 

presumed) but are primarily adults over 35 years old who are homeless. This is consistent 

with a large body of research that highlights the challenges that young people often face 

coming out of the foster care system but also the life-long impacts of these challenges. 

 
Figure 13 | Experience in Foster Care among Unsheltered Adults in 2022 (n=6,664) 

 

 

Movement of Encampments: Forced Relocation 

One of the new additions to the 2022 unsheltered survey, per the recommendations of the PIT 

Committee, were a set of new questions regarding the frequency by which unsheltered 

individuals were forced to move or abandon their encampment or makeshift shelter because of 

law enforcement actions and/or other factors.34 Specifically, every unsheltered adult was asked 

if they had been forced to move out of a location in the two months before the 2022 PIT Count. 

Those that indicated they had, were asked to cite the general reasons of their move (i.e., law 

 
34  Community members in the PIT Committee requested that the 2022 survey include questions that 
specifically explore the interactions between law enforcement and individuals experiencing unsheltered 
homelessness in Sacramento County. Over the course of two months, the research team worked with the 
PIT Committee and its members to develop a preliminary set of questions to assess the frequency by 
which individuals in encampments (in tents and vehicles) report being forced to move their sleeping 
locations by law enforcement (an issue some community members have . The goal was to begin 
collecting survey data on this issue from the perspective of individuals who are unsheltered and track 
these responses over time. Nonetheless, because this was a new set of questions, the PIT Committee 
should consider whether some refinement to these questions should be made in future PIT Counts.  



47 

enforcement action, safety concerns, and/or a change in the environment that made the 

locations no longer suitable for sleeping).35 If individuals cited a law enforcement action, they 

were then ask to recall how many times this occurred in the two months before the 2022 Count 

• Approximately 60 percent of respondents indicated that they were required to move their

sleeping arrangements at least once in the past two months.  

Figure 14 | Percent of Unsheltered Persons Forced to Move in the Last 2 Months (n=6,664) 

• When asked why they were recently forced to move, individuals frequently cited law

enforcement actions (representing 49% of all unsheltered respondents). Less commonly, 

some respondent also cited safety concerns (13% of respondents) and/or that the area 

was no longer suitable for sleeping (e.g., flooding, rain etc.) (9%) 

• Respondents who indicated that they had been forced to move by law enforcement were

then asked to recall how many times in the past two months this had specifically 

happened. On average, unsheltered individuals reported law enforcement requiring 

them to move four times in the last two months (i.e., which approximates a move every 

two weeks), though some individuals reported having to relocate more frequently in 

some specific locations. 

35 Respondents were provided three general reasons as to why they may have had to recently move their 
sleeping location (law enforcement action, safety concerns, and/or a change in the environment). The 
survey allowed individuals to indicate more than one of these reasons in their response  (i.e., indicate all 
that apply), though law enforcement was indicated as the only factor by the majority of respondents.. 
The goal of this question was, in part, to prime respondents to consider various reasons why they may 
have had to move recently (beyond a request by law enforcement). Accordingly, when asked how often 
they have been moved by law enforcement, respondents would be able to more accurately recall these 
incidents and distinguish them from other situations when law enforcement was not involved. 



 

48 

• It should be noted that because this was a new question, it is difficult to infer the specific 

circumstances that precipitated law enforcement actions (as well as which agency or 

agencies were involved). This could be an area of further research and refinement in 

future Counts. 

Figure 15 | Top Reasons for Unsheltered Persons Being Forced to Move 

 

Nonetheless, qualitative responses to other open-ended questions in the survey (as discussed 

below) indicated that having to move one’s tent or vehicle was often a source of much stress for 

a number of unsheltered individuals. Beyond the concerns of losing one’s property during these 

encounters, individuals also stressed the difficulty to maintain contact with support services after 

relocating to a new area. Particularly for people experiencing homelessness with a disability, 

displacement can result in even more barriers to accessing medical, mental health, and other 

services.  

 

Voices of the Unhoused: What Could Sacramento Do Better? 

  

To obtain a better understanding of the lived experiences and challenges faced by unsheltered 

individuals, every adult respondent was asked, “What two things could Sacramento do better to 

help people who are experiencing homelessness?” This question was intentionally designed to 

On average, unsheltered individuals reported law enforcement 

requiring them to move four times in the last two  months (i.e., which 

approximates a move every two weeks), though some individuals 

reported having to relocate more frequently in some specific locations. 



49 

elicit a short conversation between the respondent and interviewer about issues that they felt 

were most pressing to their experiences, to give respondents “the last word” before the survey 

ended. Indeed, respondents were encouraged to elaborate on whatever initiative, broad policy, 

or specific program changes they felt could improve the conditions of people experiencing 

homelessness.36 Most individuals (77%) responded to this question. 

Figure 16 | Themes of How to Better Help People Experiencing Homelessness37 

As presented above in Figure 16, the most consistent theme expressed in these discussions was 

the critical need for more affordable housing options and locations in Sacramento. This topic 

was noted by nearly half of all respondents (44%) as the primary problem that Sacramento needs 

to confront. Notably, this was very consistent with findings of the 2019 PIT. 

A second tier of topics resonated with about one in five respondents and centered around 

programmatic elements of homelessness support. These included increasing the amount of beds 

available at emergency shelters (19%) as well as developing more crisis residential programs that 

36 Interviewers were trained to give respondents ample space to elaborate their points, but also to gently 
guide the discussion to two main issues to structure the conversation. Interviewers then identified central 
themes discussed on the survey tool (either by typing a short descriptive narrative in the open field, or 
by selecting the various themes that the researcher team had pre-developed during the field testing of 
the survey instrument). 
37 Respondents were asked to state their top two recommendations which were then recorded into pre-existing 
categories at the discretion of the interviewer. Responses other than the provided categories were analyzed 
individually and placed into a category when possible.



50 

provide support for more than 24 hours (19%). Providing more jobs or job training (18%) was 

noted by an almost equal number of participants as the final second tier topic. The remaining 

topics that saw a coalescence of support were, providing more storage for belongings (13%), 

help with accessing transportation (12%) and pet friendly services (9%). These seven topics were 

the most consistently noted by participants, but it is not comprehensive of all topics brought up 

by unsheltered individuals.38 

Some other comments of interest mentioned by multiple respondents related to the following 

topics: hygiene related supports (showers/laundry/bathrooms), decriminalizing homelessness, 

recognizing unsheltered individuals as human and worthy of support, and stopping sweeps and 

“ breaking down” (sic) of existing encampments. This final area of improvements was noted 

above as a challenge by several unsheltered individuals. 

Perceptions of Being an Outsider 

As highlighted above, a number of respondents discussed the need for Sacramento to be more 

“inclusive” and “respectful” to individuals experiencing homelessness. A number of individuals 

described “feeling invisible”, “disregarded,” and shamed by some community members. Some 

also spoke to a common misperception that people experiencing homelessness are mostly 

“transients,” from “out of town,” or “outsiders of the community.” 

Similar to the 2019 PIT, the 2022 unsheltered survey asked individuals how long they have 

resided in Sacramento County. Survey responses indicate that a majority of respondents (92%) 

are longtime residents or originally from Sacramento County; only a small percent of unsheltered 

adults have recently moved into the county within the last six months (5%) or are only temporarily 

in the county (3%). These results are nearly identical to what was reported in 2019 and challenge 

some of the public perceptions of homelessness discussed above. Survey responses also showed 

little variation across respondents in tents, vehicles, and other sheltered locations. 

38 Approximately 33 percent of total unsheltered respondents made a recommendation that could not be easily 
placed into a category.   

The most consistent theme expressed in these discussions was the 

critical need for more affordable housing options and locations in 

Sacramento. This topic was noted by nearly half of all respondents 

(44%) as the primary problem that Sacramento needs to confront.



51 

An additional question in 2022 asked respondents if they could recall the zip code of the last 

apartment or house in which they resided--essentially, the mailing zip code they last used when 

they were housed. 

● Among the 214 respondents who provided an answer, the vast majority (84%) provided

a zip code that falls within the four counties that surround the Sacramento Region

(Sacramento, Yolo, Placerville and El Dorado). 

● Four percent (4%) reported a zip code from the Bay Area, two percent (2%) from the

Central Valley (e.g., Stockton, Fresno), and two percent (2%) from southern California.

Interestingly, seven percent (7%) cited a zip code out of state (e.g., Oregon, Nevada,

Idaho etc.). 

Overall these data suggest that the majority of people experiencing homelessness in Sacramento 

were at one point housed residents of the county and became homeless while living in a home 

in Sacramento. This data also suggests that 16 percent of unsheltered individuals traveled to 

Sacramento while homeless; their last place of residence was outside of the Sacramento region. 

Interestingly, examining how these same individuals answered the residency question (discussed 

above) indicates that some considered themselves “originally from Sacramento,” which suggests 

that they returned home or to family after/or before falling into homelessness. Other 

respondents viewed themselves as “long-time residents of Sacramento” and suggest that they 

have lived homeless in the county for some time (over a year or more). Nonetheless, the overall 

data suggests that between eight to ten percent of individuals experiencing unsheltered 

homelessness are relatively new to Sacramento County. 



 

52 

Section 2: Description of Subpopulations 

In this section we unpack the data trends and findings for four subpopulations: transitional age 

youth, families with children, veterans, and chronically homeless adults. As the below figure 

shows, some of these groups have substantially increased since the 2019 PIT Count (i.e., 

individuals facing chronic homelessness), while others have remained proportionally similar to 

previous counts (i.e., transitional age youth), and some even indicate notable decreases (i.e., 

families with children, and veterans). 
 

Figure 17 | Subpopulations Experiencing Homelessness in 2022 vs 2019 

 

 
  

For each group, we provide some brief background and general context, drawing from recent 

research done on these groups. Next, we summarize the total sheltered and unsheltered counts 

for 2022, and draw comparisons to the 2019 Count. We also review the demographic 

characteristics of individuals in these groups who were homeless on the night of the 2022 Count. 

The last part of each subsection summarizes some of the key findings from the unsheltered survey 

conducted with unsheltered individuals representing these groups. 



53 

Transitional Age Youth 

Early adulthood, generally defined as occurring between ages 18 to 24, is a phase of life during 

which young people often face many changes and transitions. This is a time in life when young 

people are establishing their own independence, developing new life skills, fostering adult/family 

relationships and roles, as well as navigating educational and employment opportunities. This 

transitional phase of early adulthood can be challenging for many young adults, but it is 

particularly so for young people with limited family support and resources. Indeed, the term 

“transitional age youth” is often used to emphasize the additional disadvantages that some 

young adults face during this phase of life. 

A growing body of research shows that transitional age youth are at greater risk to fall into 

homelessness compared to other adults. While homeless, transitional age youth also face greater 

risk for victimization, incarceration, sexual exploitation, and substance use.39 These experiences 

can have destabilizing and long term consequences on a young person’s life,40 including 

decreasing their chances of maintaining employment, completing formal education, securing 

housing, and establishing healthy relationships.41 Further, some groups face increased 

vulnerability while on the street, including those who identify as LGBTQ+, youth of color, and 

women.42 Given the scope and far reaching consequences of youth homelessness, it is 

increasingly viewed as a potential site for effective interventions to have long-term impacts. HUD, 

for example, continually cites youth homelessness as a key at-risk group for communities to 

target and understand through research. For similar reasons, HUD considers most homeless 

young people under 25 as “unaccompanied youth,” though the term can also apply to minors.43 

39 Bender, K., Ferguson, K., Thompson, S., Komlo, C., & Pollio, D. (2010). Factors associated with trauma 
and posttraumatic stress disorder among homeless youth in three U.S. cities: The importance of 
transience. Journal of Traumatic Stress, 23(1), 161-168. 
40  Morton, M. H., Rice, E., Blondin, M., Hsu, H., & Kull, M. (2018). Toward a system response to ending 
youth homelessness: New evidence to help communities strengthen coordinated entry, assessment, and 
support for youth. Chicago, IL: Chapin Hall at the University of Chicago. 2010 
41  Courtney, 2009; Osgood et al.,  
42 Abramovich, I. A. (2013). No fixed address: Young, queer, and restless. In S. Gaetz, B. Grady, K. 
Buccieri, J. Karabanow, & A. Marsolais (Eds.), Youth homelessness in Canada: Implications for policy and 
practice. Toronto, ON: Canadian Homelessness Research Network Press. 
Gattis, M. N., & Larson, A. (2016). Perceived racial, sexual identity, and homeless status-related 
discrimination among Black adolescents and young adults experiencing homelessness: Relations with 
depressive symptoms and suicidality. American Journal of Orthopsychiatry, 86(1), 79. 
Ensign, J., & Panke, A. (2002). Barriers and bridges to care: Voices of homeless female adolescent youth 
in Seattle, Washington, U.S.A. Journal of Advanced Nursing, 37(2), 166-172. 
43 The term “unaccompanied homeless youth” refers to young people who are homeless and who are 
not in the supervision of a parent or guardian. The term can also be applied to youth who are under 18 



54 

Youth | Nightly Estimate 

During the night of the 2022 Count, approximately 636 transitional age youth were experiencing 

homelessness in Sacramento County, which represents approximately 7 percent of the total 

homeless population. 

• Overall, the estimated number of transitional age youth experiencing homelessness in

Sacramento increased by 53 percent since the 2019 PIT Count (636 vs. 415).

Figure 18 | Sheltered vs. Unsheltered Transitional Age Youth in 2022 PIT Count 

• Similar to other groups, the majority of transitional age youth (hereafter referred to as

youth) were experiencing unsheltered homelessness on the night of the count (59%).

• In contrast, 41 percent of youth were experiencing sheltered homelessness--a slightly

higher rate than other age groups, with the exception of families.

• Analysis of sleeping locations revealed that most unsheltered youth slept in either a tent

(31%) or a vehicle (23%).

(“unaccompanied minors”), though the majority of unaccompanied youth who experience homelessness 
are between ages 18-24 
Morton, M. H., Dworsky, A., Matjasko, J. L., Curry, S. R., Schlueter, D., Chávez, R., & Farrell, A. F. (2018). 
Prevalence and correlates of youth homelessness in the United States. Journal of Adolescent Health, 
62(1), 14-21. 



55 

• Notably, unsheltered youth were also significantly less likely to report sleeping in other

outdoor locations compared to older adults (ages 25 and older), such as squatting at an

abandoned building or sleeping on the street with a sleeping bag or tarp (5% vs. 32%).

Youth | Demographic Characteristics 

The below table summarizes how youth reported their gender, ethnicity and racial identity. With 

respect to gender, most youth self-identified as either female (42%) or male (40%). A significant 

proportion of youth (nearly one in five) identified as either transgender (9%), or Gender non-

conforming (not singularly female or male) (8%).  

Table 6 | Gender, Ethnicity, & Race of Youth (n=636) 

• Notably, youth were less likely to identify as male compared to older adults (ages 25 and

older) (40% vs. 69%).

• In contrast, youth were much more likely to identify as either transgender or Gender non-

conforming compared to older adults (17% of youth identified with one of these identities

vs. 1% of older adults).



56 

It also notable that almost a third (31%) of youth identified their sexual orientation as either 

Gay/Lesbian, Bisexual or another non-heterosexual sexual identity (responses not shown above), 

which is consistent with recent nationwide estimates of youth homelessness.44 

• Transitional age youth were four times more likely to identify with an LGBTQ+ identity

sexual orientation compared to adults ages 25 and over (31% vs. 8%).

Most youth identified their race as either White (49%), or Black/ African American (33%) and 

fifteen percent (15%) identified as “Multiple Races.” About one quarter (22%) of youth also 

identified their ethnicity as Hispanic/Latino. When youth were asked if they prefer to describe 

their ethnic or racial identity in other ways, they were more likely than other groups to indicate 

yes and elaborate on a variety of hybrid ethnic and racial terms. 

Youth | Length of Homelessness 

As described in Section 1, during the course of the unsheltered survey respondents were asked 

a series of questions about their experiences with homelessness (e.g., prior experiences, length 

of time, prior episodes, etc.). We synthesized four general homeless situations that describe 

respondents’ combined answers to ease interpretation of how individuals answered these 

questions collectively (see earlier discussion in Section 1 for how these situations were 

operationalized). 

44 Dworksy, Van Drunen & Gitlow, 2017; Morton, Samuels, Dworsky & Patel, 2018 

Almost a third (31%) of youth identified their sexual orientation as either 

Gay/Lesbian, Bisexual or another non-heterosexual sexual identity 

(responses not shown above), which is consistent with recent 

nationwide estimates of youth homelessness.



57 

Figure 19 | Length of Homelessness Reported by Unsheltered Youth (n=373) 

• The majority of unsheltered youth surveyed (78%) reported that they were experiencing

“long-term and continuous” homelessness, meaning that they had faced over a year of

continuous homelessness (sometimes for several years).

• The remaining youth respondents reported more episodic experiences with

homelessness the past three years. Approximately thirteen percent (13%) of unsheltered

youth described “episodic and long-term periods of homelessness,” meaning that they

reported experiencing 2-4 episodes of homelessness in the past three years, and

indicated periods of homelessness that were long (a single period or periods that exceed

a year or more).

• Another nine percent (9%) had episodic and short-term homelessness patterns of

homelessness, meaning that they experienced several but relatively brief periods of

homelessness during the past three years.

• No youth respondents said that they had become homeless during the last six months

(i.e., they did not meet our criteria for experiencing “first time and recent” homelessness).

In general, very few youth indicated that this was their first time being homeless (11%)

and among these respondents all indicated that they had first become homeless over

two years ago.



58 

Youth | Unique Experiences and Risk Factors 

Similar to other groups, youth were asked about specific experiences and challenges that may 

complicate their transition to stable housing (e.g., challenges with behavioral health conditions, 

a physical disability, chronic health conditions etc.).  But youth were also asked additional 

questions about educational attainment and early parenting. These youth-specific questions 

reflected recommendations from the PIT Committee as well as youth service providers for the 

unsheltered survey to explore these topics.. Analyses of these questions revealed the following: 

• Eight percent (8%) of unsheltered youth indicated they were currently pregnant or

expecting to become a parent within the next nine months. An additional nine percent

(9%) reported that they were already a parent to a child, though, notably, over half of

these youth parents reported that they were not living with at least one of their children

due to their housing status.

• Forty three percent (43%) of unsheltered youth reported that they were fleeing a

domestic violence situation. This was a higher proportion than among adults ages 25 and

over (13%).

• Approximately half (49%) of unsheltered youth indicated that they had been in foster care

or a group home before the age of 18, compared to 22% of adults ages 25 and over.

• Forty two percent (42%) of youth reported having a mental or learning disability (e.g.,

ADHD, autism, developmental delay) that prevented them from holding a job or living in

stable housing. Over half of these youth also reported being in foster care.

Approximately half (49%) of unsheltered youth indicated that they had 

been in foster care or a group home before the age of 18. 



59 

Figure 20 | Challenges Report by Unsheltered Youth (n=373) 

Unsheltered youth were also asked specific questions about their education. While most (59%) 

reported having a high school diploma or GED, a third (33%) had left school between 9th and 

11th grades, and eight percent had only completed the 9th grade or less. This means that about 

41% of unsheltered youth in Sacramento County left school before earning a high school diploma 

or equivalent. 

Figure 21 | Educational Attainment of Unsheltered Youth (n=373) 

• The majority of unsheltered youth reported that they were not currently attending or

enrolled in school (89%).



60 

In an open-ended question related to education, youth were asked what could help them either 

return or stay in school. An analysis of the responses to this question revealed that most youth 

were seeking to establish some sense of “stability” in their lives (particularly in terms of housing 

and reliable transportation) before re-engaging with school. Some also cited needing logistical 

help enrolling in school as well as figuring out how to pay for it. Others discussed that they 

needed help with motivation. 

Voices of Youth | What Could Sacramento Do Better? 

When asked how services and resources could be improved for youth experiencing 

homelessness in Sacramento, youth most commonly discussed the general need for more 

affordable housing in the community (mentioned in 43% of discussions). Some of these same 

youth elaborated that Sacramento should make tiny homes available more quickly.  

Figure 22 | Themes of How to Better Help Youth Experiencing Homelessness (n=373)45 

Other common topics discussed by youth touched on the need for more storage options for 

their belongings when they use a shelter or enter a housing program (22%)--one individual 

discussed that they needed a place to store their RV before they would enter a transitional 

program. A number of youth also indicated that Sacramento needed more “crisis residential 

[beds] that are available for more than 24 hours” (16%). These youth also discussed that youth 

services should have fewer restrictions and be more flexible with age limits. Finally, a few youth 

45 Respondents were asked to state their top two recommendations which were then recorded into pre-existing 
categories at the discretion of the interviewer. Responses other than the provided categories were analyzed 
individually and placed into a category when possible.



61 

discussed wanting the broader community to have more compassion, respect, and dignity for all 

people experiencing homelessness. These particular youths described feeling invisible by the 

broader community. 

Families with Children 

Families with children represent approximately 30 percent of people experiencing homelessness 

in the United States.46 In 2020 it was estimated that 56,000 family households were homeless on 

a single night (representing a total 172,000 individuals). A disproportionate proportion of families 

facing homelessness are in California (approximately 15% of the nationwide total).47 The 

Sacramento 2019 PIT Count estimated that families with children accounted for 20 percent of all 

people experiencing homelessness in Sacramento county.48 This relatively high rate of 

homelessness among families likely reflects the ongoing challenges related to housing 

affordability in the Sacramento region, which is correlated with increased homelessness amongst 

families in particular.49 

Families experiencing homelessness are vulnerable to a variety of perilous situations and 

negative outcomes that often impact both parents and their children.50 Homelessness is 

associated with increased prevalence of parental depression, a decreased sense of control, as 

well as greater parenting difficulties.51 These factors can contribute to increased behavioral 

46 National Alliance to End Homelessness (2021). Children and families. Retrieved from 
https://endhomelessness.org/homelessness-in-america/who-experiences-homelessness/children-and-
families/ 
47  Henry, M., Sousa, T. D., Roddey, C., Gayen, S., & Bednar, T. J. (2021). The 2020 annual homeless 
assessment report (AHAR) to congress. The U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. 
https://www.huduser.gov/portal/sites/default/files/pdf/2020-AHAR-Part-1.pdf 
48 Sacramento Steps Forward. (2021). Homelessness in Sacramento. Retried from 
https://sacramentostepsforward.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/Homelessness-In-Sacramento.pdf 
49 Fargo, J. D., Munley, E. A., Byrne, T. H., Montgomery, A. E., & Culhane, D. P. (2013). Community-level 
characteristics associated with variation in rates of homelessness among families and single adults. 
American Journal of Public Health, (103), S340-347. 
50 Bradley, C., Day, C., Penney, C., & Michelson, D. (2020). ‘Every day is hard, being outside, but you 
have to do it for your child’: Mixed-methods formative evaluation of a peer-led parenting intervention for 
homeless families. Clinical Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 25(4), 860-876. DOI: 
10.1177/135910452092624 
51 Obradović, Jelena. (2010) "Effortful control and adaptive functioning of homeless children: Variable-
focused and person-focused analyses." Journal of applied developmental psychology 31.2: 109-117. 



 

62 

problems and mental health challenges for children.52 This, coupled with potentially unsanitary 

and/or unstable living conditions is likely why children who have been homeless are more likely 

to report poorer general health and mental health compared to other low-income children who 

are housed.53 These challenges to child wellbeing can often persist even after a family obtains 

housing.54 

  

Families experiencing homelessness can also face a variety of unique stressors navigating service 

agencies and/or accessing welfare benefits, which can often be prolonged and exhausting 

processes.55 Homeless parents often report facing stigma and greater scrutiny of their behaviors 

when they seek assistance.56 These stereotypes often intersect with racism, sexism, and classism 

and imply that homeless parents, and more specifically mothers, are unfit to care for their 

children.57 Some parents are also reluctant to engage with services due to fear of becoming 

involved with the child welfare system and potentially becoming separated from their children. 

For these and other reasons, researchers suspect that the numbers of families experiencing 

homelessness are underestimated in many regions, particularly in California. Given this, the last 

two PIT Counts in Sacramento have deployed a number of strategies to better reach families 

with children experiencing homelessness--possibly contributing to a higher count of families than 

other regions.58 

 
52 Mcguire-Schwartz, M., Small, L. A., Parker, G., Kim, P., & McKay, M. (2015). Relationships between 
caregiver violence exposure, caregiver depression, and youth behavioral health among homeless 
families. Research on Social Work Practice, 25(5), 587-594 
53 Bradley, C., Day, C., Penney, C., & Michelson, D. (2020). ‘Every day is hard, being outside, but you 
have to do it for your child’: Mixed-methods formative evaluation of a peer-led parenting intervention for 
homeless families. Clinical Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 25(4), 860-876. DOI: 
10.1177/135910452092624 
54 American Psychological Association (APA). (2011). Families with children and homelessness. 
https://www.apa.org/pi/ses/resources/publications/homelessness-children.pdf 
55  Shinn, M. B., Rog, D. R., & Culhane, D. P. (2005). Family homelessness: Background research findings 
and policy options. The U.S. Interagency Council on Homelessness. 
https://repository.upenn.edu/spp_papers/83 
56 Reppond, H. A. & Bullock, H. E. (2020). Reclaiming “good motherhood”: US mothers’ critical 
resistance in family homeless shelters. Feminism & Psychology, 30(1), 100-120. 
57 Cosgrove, L., & Flynn, C. (2005). Marginalized Mothers: Parenting Without a Home. Analyses of Social 
Issues & Public Policy, 5(1), 127-143. doi:10.1111/j.1530-2415.2005.00059.x 
58 Both the 2019 and 2022 Sacramento PIT Counts included collecting additional surveys with parents in 
the morning at a specific program site that provides educational and child care services to families 
experiencing homelessness (i.e., a “service-based”  strategy that HUD recommends for families and 
youth). Accordingly, volunteers interviewed a number of parents dropping off their children who 
reported being homeless the night before. In addition, in 2022 liaisons at some K-12 schools helped 
increase awareness of the PIT Count to families experiencing homelessness by creating flyers that 
included a phone number in which parents could call in to do the survey over the phone. Finally, there 



63 

Families with Children | Nightly Estimate 

On a single night in February, approximately 420 families with children were experiencing 

homelessness in Sacramento County. 

• These 420 households consisted of 632 adults and 745 children under the age of 18

(1,377 in total), representing approximately 15 percent of all persons experiencing

homelessness in the county.

Figure 23 | Sheltered vs. Unsheltered Family Households with Children in 2022 PIT Count 

• In contrast to other groups, most families (68%) were sheltered on the night of the count.

• Only one third of family households with children were unsheltered (32% or 134

households). This is a significant improvement from the 52 percent of families reported

unsheltered in the 2019 PIT Count.

• The increased use of motel/hotels to shelter families in non-congregate shelters, as well

as increased investments in other family shelters, likely contributed to a decrease in

unsheltered families in Sacramento.

• Surveys conducted with unsheltered families with children revealed that most unsheltered

families reported sleeping in a vehicle (16%) or tent (11%). Compared to other

unsheltered adults, families were far less likely to report sleeping somewhere other than

a vehicle or tent (4%).

was a more concerted effort by specific outreach teams  to survey households using vehicles for shelter 
(RVs and cars) . 



64 

Families with Children | Demographic Characteristics 

The composition of families experiencing homelessness can vary substantially (e.g., single parent 

with between one to four children vs. two-parent household with one child). The results from the 

2022 PIT Count revealed that a majority of families were single headed households (60%), with 

between two to three children. As might be expected, parents were more likely to be female 

than non-parents, though some male parents, as well as some single-male parents were 

interviewed. The average age of a parent was 37 years old, though it varied widely among 

participants (the youngest parent was 17 and the oldest was 60 with an adult child). About one 

quarter of families indicated that they were fleeing a domestic violence situation. About half of 

parents surveyed reported that they had prior experience in foster care as youth. 

Table 7| Gender, Ethnicity & Race of People in Families (n=1,377)* 

With respect to the general composition of families more generally (inclusive of children), 

members of these households most commonly identified as Black/African America (43%), and 

White (38%) and seven percent (7%) as American Indian.  



65 

• Black families experiencing homelessness continue to be overrepresented given their

proportion in the broader county population (11%). However, the disparity has decreased

since 2019, when Black family members represented 55 percent of all people in families

experiencing homelessness (compared to now 43% in 2022).

• This parallels recent nationwide trends recently reported by HUD; Black families showed

the biggest decline with respect to families accessing shelters last year.59 Nonetheless,

Black families in Sacramento County are still three times more likely to experience

homelessness compared to White families.

• Similarly, American Indian families are also overrepresented in the 2022 Count, given

their small proportion in Sacramento County (2%).

Families with Children | Length of Homelessness 

Most unsheltered parents interviewed on the night of count (83%) reported “long-term and 

continuous” homelessness lasting over one year. Though some families (13%) also indicated 

having two or three distinct episodes of homelessness the last couple of years, these same 

families reported that these episodes were relatively long and lasted almost the entirety of the 

last three years. 

59 HUD recently reported in its 2021 Annual Homeless Assessment Report (AHAR) to Congress, that 
sheltered family homelessness among people who were Black or African American decreased by a larger 
percentage than any other race; a 19 percent reduction between 2020 and 2021. 

Black families experiencing homelessness continue to be 

overrepresented given their proportion in the broader county 

population (11%). However, the disparity has decreased since 2019.



66 

Figure 24 | Length of Homelessness Reported by Unsheltered Families (n=134 families) 

Voices of Families | What Could Sacramento Do Better? 

Like other unsheltered groups, parents with children primarily stressed the need for more 

affordable housing that they can access in Sacramento County. Other common answers also 

suggested the need for more services in Sacramento that are “pet friendly.” Some parents also 

cited the need for more reliable public transportation. Other parents discussed wanting more 

job training and employment opportunities as well as access to financial services. 

Figure 25 | Themes of How to Better Help Families Experiencing Homelessness 



67 

While less common than other open-ended answers, some parents discussed that park services 

in Sacramento could be improved, particularly in terms of better access to open and clean 

bathrooms. Some parents wondered if Sacramento could provide access to portable showers 

near a park or community center. Some also described the need for more effective navigation 

assistance in identifying existing resources in the community.  

Finally, a few parents discussed that policy makers often have difficulty understanding the needs 

and experiences of families experiencing homelessness. In particular, these parents described 

the importance of being treated with dignity and respect and the difficulties that occur when 

vehicle encampments are threatened with removal.  

Chronically Homeless 

Individuals who experience long bouts of homelessness, often due to a chronic condition, are 

sometimes described as being “chronically homeless,” which is a specific HUD designation. Per 

HUD guidelines, individuals are designated chronically homeless if they meet two conditions, 

one pertaining to their length of time experiencing homelessness and the other to having a 

disability. Specifically, a person experiencing chronic homelessness: 

• Has been continuously homeless for at least 12 months OR has had four (4) or more

episodes of homelessness in the past three years, in which the combined duration of

homelessness equals a year or more.60

• AND they have a physical, developmental, or mental illness or disability.

This HUD definition61 highlights how people with the longest histories of homelessness are often 

those with significant disabilities (such as having a substance use disorder, mental health 

60 It is important to note that per this HUD definition, it is assumed that a chronically homeless individual 
has not had a significant “break in homelessness” during the past year. A break in homelessness in this 
context refers to staying seven (7) or more consecutive nights in a housed situation (i.e., in a situation 
other than emergency shelter or location not suitable for long term habitation. Notably, this does not 
include a stay at an institutional care facility (e.g., a jail, substance use disorder or mental health 
treatment facility, hospital, or other similar facility) if the person was there fewer than 90 days. 
61 Some have argued that this definition of chronic homelessness has several limitations due to its 
specificity and documentation requirements, which prevents  some people with significant needs from 
accessing programs and supportive housing. Additionally, obtaining evidence to prove chronic 
homelessness status requires third-party documentation   



68 

condition, and/or a physical disability). This is because people with disabilities are at much higher 

risk of falling into homelessness (often due to challenges in maintaining income and/or 

independent living) as well as the fact that these conditions may worsen on the street and 

complicate the transition into housing.62 Indeed, chronic homelessness has received significant 

attention from policy makers, and HUD specifically, during the last two decades because some 

individuals with disabilities are frequent users of emergency services and resources but 

nonetheless remain perpetually homeless.63 Relatedly, policy focus into prioritizing chronic 

homelessness stems, in part, from the observation that a large share of emergency resources are 

often used by a small minority of people experiencing homelessness in a community.64 

Chronic homelessness can deteriorate one’s well-being over time and accelerates the aging 

process substantially, with some researchers suggesting that chronically homeless individuals 

age twice as fast as those securely housed.65 A recent study suggests that by the time a 

chronically homeless adult reaches 50 years old, they already present with geriatric conditions 

more typical for someone over 80 years old.66 Moreover, exposure to long term homelessness is 

associated with a much higher prevalence of interrelated health problems, including 

hypothermia, sleep deprivation, dehydration, infectious diseases (e.g., tuberculosis), 

osteoarthritis, and osteoporosis.67 Homelessness in later age is also associated with the early 

62 Nishio, A., Horita, R., Sado, T., Mizutani, S., Watanabe, T., Uehara, R., & Yamamoto, M. (2017). Causes 
of homelessness prevalence: Relationship between homelessness and disability. Psychiatry and Clinical 
Neurosciences, 71(3), 180-188. 
63 Rickards, L. D., McGraw, S. A., Araki, L., Casey, R. J., High, C. W., Hombs, M. E., & Raysor, R. S. (2010). 
Collaborative initiative to help end chronic homelessness: Introduction. The journal of behavioral health 
services & research, 37(2), 149-166. 
64 Byrne, T., & Culhane, D. P. (2015). Testing alternative definitions of chronic homelessness. Psychiatric 
Services, 66(9), 996-999 
65 Bazari, A., Patanwala, M., Kaplan, L. M., Auerswald, C. L., & Kushel, M. B. (2018). “The thing that really 
gets me is the future”: Symptomatology in older homeless adults in the Hope Home study. Journal of 
Pain & Symptom Management, 56(2), 195–204. 
66 Brown, R. T., Hemati, K., Riley, E. D., Lee, C. T., Ponath, C., Tieu, L., Guzman, D., & Kushel, M. B. 
(2017). Geriatric conditions in a population-based sample of older homeless adults. Gerontologist, 57(4), 
757–766.  
Grenier, A., Sussman, T., Barken, R., Bourgeois- Guérin, V., & Rothwell, D. (2016). ’Growing old’ in shelters 

and ‘on the street’: experiences of older homeless people. Journal of Gerontological Social Work, 59(6), 

458-477.
67 Fazel, S., Geddes, J. R., & Kushel, M. (2014). The health of homeless people in high-income countries: 
descriptive epidemiology, health consequences, and clinical and policy recommendations. The Lancet, 
384(9953), 1529-1540. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(14)61132-6 



69 

onset of cognitive and mental health challenges as older adults struggle to manage the 

“symptom burden” of living with insecure housing.68  

Sadly, California still retains one of the highest rates of people experiencing chronic 

homelessness; in 2020 it was estimated that one in three people experiencing homelessness in 

California met the criteria outlined in the definitions of chronic homelessness.69 Relatedly, 

California has the largest overall number of individuals experiencing chronic homelessness in the 

country. 

Chronically Homeless | Nightly Estimate 

During the night of the 2022 Count, approximately 4,314 adults were experiencing chronic 

patterns of homelessness in Sacramento County.70  

• Notably, the number of individuals experiencing chronic homelessness more than

doubled both in the sheltered and unsheltered count since 2019.

• This represents a 162 percent increase from 2019, when only 30 percent of the homeless

population was indicated as chronically homeless (1,647 out of 5,570).

• This was the most substantial increase of any subgroup and significantly more than the

67 percent overall increase from the 2019 to 2022 count.

68 Martins, D. C., and Sullivan, M. A. (2006). Vulnerable older adults: Health care needs and 
interventions, 123-144.New York, NY: Springer. 
69 AHAR, 2021 
70 In 2015, HUD clarified that all individuals within a household should be considered chronically 
homeless if the head of household meets the above criteria (i.e., children in a family in which a parent is 
chronically homeless, would also be considered chronically homeless). To simplify the analysis, the 
above discussion focuses generally on the adults of these households. 



70 

Figure 26 | Sheltered vs. Unsheltered Adults Chronically Homeless in 2022 PIT Count 

● Notably, sheltered individuals designated as chronically homeless more than doubled

between 2019 and 2022. This likely reflected recent efforts to engage and shelter

particularly vulnerable individuals during the pandemic in non-congregate settings (i.e.,

in motels and hotels). Project Roomkey, for example, targeted single-adults with chronic

health conditions and/or other risk factors (like being older) that made them particularly

vulnerable during the pandemic. These motel/hotel sheltering programs are often low-

barrier, meaning that requirements for entry are minimal, and individuals are often

allowed to stay for extended periods of time.

Despite these positive developments, the majority of individuals experiencing chronic 
homelessness were nonetheless unsheltered on the night of the 2022 Count (78%). 

• Analysis of unsheltered sleeping locations revealed that most people experiencing
chronic homelessness reported sleeping in a tent (37%) or a vehicle (17%).

• However, nearly a quarter of all chronically homeless individuals (24%) slept in a variety

of other unsheltered locations as well, such as sleeping directly on the street or under a

business doorway with just a sleeping bag, or other limited coverings (e.g., tarps or

blankets). Some also reported squatting at an abandoned building or bus/light rail

station.

Notably, sheltered individuals designated as chronically homeless more 

than doubled between 2019 and 2022. This likely reflected recent 

efforts to engage and shelter particularly vulnerable individuals during 

the pandemic in non-congregate settings (i.e., in motels and hotels).



71 

Chronically Homeless | Demographic Characteristics 

Analysis of surveys conducted with unsheltered individuals who were experiencing chronic 

homelessness shows that they share some demographic characteristics with the broader 

unsheltered population in Sacramento. 

Table 8 | Gender, Ethnicity, & Race of Chronically Homeless (n=4,314) 

• The sizable majority of chronically homeless individuals identified as male (65%).

• Nearly half of adults reporting chronic homelessness identified as White (47%) and a third

identified as Black (29%).

• People who identified as American Indian made up ten percent (10%) of people

experiencing chronic homelessness (which is larger than their representation among

people experiencing non-chronic homelessness).

• The average age of a person experiencing chronic homelessness was 45 and a third were

55 years of age or older.

The average age of a person experiencing chronic homelessness was 45 

and a third were 55 years of age or older.



72 

Chronically Homeless | Length of Homelessness 

As described in Section 1, all unsheltered respondents were asked a series of questions about 

their experiences with homelessness (e.g., prior experiences, length of time, prior episodes, etc.). 

The overall increase in people experiencing chronic homelessness reflects, in part, the fact that 

most unsheltered people are now reporting longer periods of continuous homelessness.  

• Almost four out of five (78%) adults interviewed indicated that they had been

continuously homeless for over a year. This is a higher proportion than indicated in the

2019 PIT Count, in which 59 percent reported being homeless for over a year.

• Over half of adults (59%) stated that they have been continuously homeless since before

2019.

This suggests that more unsheltered people now meet the criteria for chronic homelessness 

because of their length of homelessness. Closer analysis of the responses of chronically homeless 

individuals reveals that most have been continuously homeless for some time.  

• A large majority of chronically homeless individuals (87%) reported “long-term and

continuous” patterns of homelessness, meaning that they were experiencing several

years of continuous homelessness. These individuals reported an average of 7.5 years

being continuously homeless. 

Figure 27 | Length of Homelessness Reported by Unsheltered Chronically Homeless Adults (n=3,374) 



73 

• A smaller proportion of chronically homeless individuals (10%) reported “episodic and

long-term” patterns of homelessness, meaning that they reported experiencing 3-4

episodes of homelessness in the past three years, and indicated periods of homelessness 

that were long (a single period or periods that exceed a year or more).  Most of these 

individuals also reported longer bouts of general homelessness that on average 

exceeded 6 years. 

• A very small proportion of chronically homeless people (2%) could be characterized as

experiencing episodic and moderate patterns of homelessness. 

Chronically Homeless | Unique Experiences and Risk Factors 

All individuals were asked about their specific experiences or challenges that may complicate 

their transition to stable housing. 

● Individuals experiencing chronic homelessness most commonly cited a disabling mental

health condition (61%), followed by a physical disability (54%), or an ongoing medical 

condition (37%) as conditions that make it difficult to remain stably housed. 

● Additionally, only 24 percent said they could not work or find stable housing because of

substance use, which was nearly equivalent to the number of people who said they could

not work or find stable housing due to a traumatic brain injury (23%). 

● Most chronically homeless individuals (70%) reported 2 or more disabling conditions.



74 

Figure 28 | Conditions & Challenges Reported by Unsheltered Chronically Homeless (n=3,374) 

As discussed in Section 1, the 2022 PIT survey asked individuals about how often they were 

forced to move their sleeping location in the two-month period leading up to the 2022 PIT 

Count. 

• Approximately three out of four people experiencing chronic homelessness (75%)

reported that they had been forced to move their sleeping location by law enforcement 

in the last two months. 

• On average people experiencing chronic homelessness reported being moved by law

enforcement five times in a two-month period. 

Follow-up conversations with individuals experiencing chronic homelessness highlight the 

physical labor and stress of being forced to continuously relocate. Some respondents described 

the challenges of continually relocating their tents, such as losing property and medications, 

being unable to carry everything to a new location, and the chaotic nature of these moves. 

Individuals also discussed the loss of connections that can occur to services, healthcare, outreach 

workers, and navigators. For people living with a disability, it can be even more difficult to stay 

connected to mental and physical health services after they are forced to move. 

Some respondents described the challenges of continually relocating 

their tents, such as losing property and medications, being unable to 

carry everything to a new location, and the chaotic nature of these 

moves.



75 

Chronically Homeless | What Could Sacramento Do Better? 

People experiencing chronic homelessness provided a variety of responses to the question, 

“What two things could Sacramento do better to help people who are experiencing 

homelessness?” 

Figure 29 | Themes of How to Better Help Individuals Experiencing Chronic Homelessness 

• The most commonly mentioned area for improvement noted by people experiencing

chronic homelessness was “more affordable housing” (48%), “more beds at emergency 

shelters” (20%), and “crisis residential [beds] available for more than 24 hours” (20%). 

• Other notable suggestions included those related to access to jobs or job training (18%),

storage for belongings (14%), and assistance with transportation to appointments (13%). 

• Suggestions that did not fall into pre-identified categories included improving access to

“bathrooms and showers”, “funding more navigators”, reducing “police harassment''.

Some respondents also discussed the importance of the community fostering more“ 

respect and dignity” toward people experiencing homelessness, as well as promoting 

greater empathy for the challenges that people face on the street. 



76 

Veterans 

Approximately 37,000 veterans experience homelessness on any given night in the U.S., 

accounting for eight percent (8%) of people facing nightly homelessness in the country.71 

Veterans are individuals who have served active duty in the U.S. Armed Forces, the National 

Guard, or as Reservists.72 Compared to the general population, veterans are more likely to fall 

into homelessness for a variety of factors. These can include being more likely to face economic 

hardship, live in social isolation, and experience family conflict after a deployment. During the 

last two decades the U.S. has been involved in prolonged and active military engagements 

around the globe, thus veterans have become more likely to experience trauma, mental health 

challenges, and/or substance use disorder, any of which can contribute to housing instability and 

homelessness.73 

National estimates from the HUD PIT Count (2009-2020) have shown a steady reduction in 

homelessness among veterans by as much as half during the last decade (decreasing from 73,367 

homeless veterans in 2009 to 37,243 veterans in 2020).74 This reflects targeted national efforts 

by HUD and the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs, as well as various advocacy entities, to 

specifically expand supportive housing programs and assistance to veterans experiencing 

71   Henry, M., de Sousa, T., Roddey, C., Gayen, S., Bednar, T. D., & Abt Associates. (2020). The 2020 
annual homeless assessment report (AHAR) to Congress. Retrieved from 
https://www.huduser.gov/portal/sites/default/files/pdf/2020-AHAR-Part-1.pdf 
72 United States Interagency Council on Homelessness (USICH) issued a federal strategic plan to prevent 
and end homelessness among veterans in five years. (2010). Opening Doors: Federal strategic plan to 
prevent and end homelessness. Retrieved from 
https://www.usich.gov/resources/uploads/asset_library/USICH_OpeningDoors_Amendment2015_FINAL.
pdf.  
U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs. (2010). 
Veteran homelessness: a supplemental report to the 2009 annual homeless assessment report to 
congress. https://www.huduser.gov/portal/sites/default/files/pdf/2009AHARVeteransReport.pdf.  
73 Tsai, J. & Rosenheck, R.A. (2015) Risk factors for homelessness among U.S. veterans. Epidemiologic 
Reviews, 37(1) 177- 195. 
74  Henry, M., de Sousa, T., Roddey, C., Gayen, S., Bednar, T. D., & Abt Associates. (2020). The 2020 
annual homeless assessment report (AHAR) to Congress. Retrieved from 
https://www.huduser.gov/portal/sites/default/files/pdf/2020-AHAR-Part-1.pdf 



77 

homelessness.75 However, veteran homelessness remains prevalent, especially in California.76 

Almost a third of all the veterans experiencing homelessness in the U.S. reside in our state 

(11,401 veterans), most of whom are unsheltered (53% or 7,996 veterans).77 

Veterans | Nightly Estimate 

On a single night in February of 2022, 625 veterans were experiencing either sheltered or 

unsheltered homelessness in Sacramento County. This was a notable decrease since the last 

2019 count, suggesting that fewer veterans are experiencing homelessness in 2022 than in 2019 

Count (625 vs. 667). This is particularly notable given the overall increase in homelessness of the 

2022 Count, as well as the larger increases in chronic homelessness. 

• Veterans represent approximately seven percent of all persons experiencing

homelessness in Sacramento County in 2022—half the proportion of veterans reported

in 2019 (14%).

75The decrease in veteran homelessness likely reflects the ongoing  expansion of the HUD-Veterans 
Affairs Supportive Housing (HUD-VASH) program, which combines HUD's Housing Choice Voucher 
(HCV) rental assistance for homeless Veterans with case management offered by the VA or Supportive 
Services for Veteran Families (SSVF). These programs provide case management and supportive services 
to prevent homelessness or to rapidly re-house Veterans and their families who are homeless and might 
remain homeless without this assistance. 
76 Tsai, J., Pietrzak, R. h., Szymkowiak, D. (2021). The problem of veteran homelessness: An update for 
the new decade. The American Journal of Preventive Medicine. 60(6):774−780. 
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0749379721000660. 
77 See footnote 62 

Fewer veterans are experiencing homelessness in 2022 than in 2019 

Count (625 vs. 667).



78 

Figure 30 | Sheltered vs. Unsheltered Veterans in 2022 PIT Count 

• The majority (66%) of these veterans were unsheltered – slightly less than the unsheltered

proportion of the overall homeless population in Sacramento County (72%).

• Almost a third (32%) of all veterans reported sleeping in tents. Twenty percent (20%)

reported staying in a vehicle, and fifteen percent (15%) reported sleeping in another type

of location.

Veterans | Demographic Characteristics 

The majority of veterans experiencing homelessness identified as male (83%) while 15percent 

identified as female, and approximately one to two percent identified as either gender non-

confirming or transgender. Veterans were more likely to identify as White (59%) and non-Hispanic 

(93%) than other groups (59% and 93%, respectively).  



79 

Table 9 | Gender, Ethnicity, & Race of Veterans (n=625) 

Unsheltered veterans were on average approximately two years older than non-veteran adults 

experiencing unsheltered homelessness (46 versus 44 years old respectively). And of the veterans 

surveyed, 19 percent reported that they had served active duty in the National Guard or a 

Reservist. 

Veterans | Length of Homelessness 

Like other unsheltered groups, unsheltered veterans were also asked about experiences with 

homelessness (e.g., prior experiences, length of time, prior episodes, etc.). Analysis of how 

veterans answered these questions revealed the following: 

• Approximately 4 percent (4%) of unsheltered veterans could be characterized in a “first

time and recent” homeless situation.

• About a third of unsheltered veterans (33%) were in an “episodic and moderate length"

homelessness situation, making them as a group more likely to report episodic periods

of homelessness than other unsheltered groups.



80 

Figure 31 |  Length of Homelessness Reported by Veterans (n=373) 

• Seven percent (7%) were in a situation that could be characterized as “episodic and long

term” homelessness. Like other groups, the highest proportion of unsheltered veterans

(56%) could be characterized as experiencing a “long term and continuous” bout of

homelessness that has lasted over a year.

Veterans | Unique Experiences and Risk Factors 

Nearly half of all veterans interviewed outside (48%) reported at least one disability and/or 

debilitating health condition, which prevented them from being employed or maintaining stable 

housing. Specifically, 38 percent of unsheltered veterans reported a disabling cognitive 

impairment and 35 percent a physical disability. A nearly equal percentage of veterans reported 

a severe psychiatric disorder (34%), while 28 percent report an ongoing “medical disability” (a 

condition such as disabling diabetes, cancer or heart disease).  



81 

Figure 32 | Conditions & Challenges Reported by Unsheltered Veterans (n=415) 

• Given the high level of need reported by veterans interviewed outside, as well as their

prolonged experiences with homelessness, it is estimated that sixty percent (60%) could

be designated as chronically homeless.

Voices of Veterans | What Could Sacramento Do Better? 

When veterans were asked what Sacramento County could do better to help people 

experiencing homelessness, the most common response--as was the case with most groups 

interviewed--highlighted on the need for more affordable housing in the county. The issue of 

affordable housing was cited in almost half of all the responses given in this open-ended 

question. A high percentage of responses also touched on the theme of improving the broader 

homeless service system – 31 percent mentioned a need for more beds at emergency shelters 

and 27 percent suggested increasing the capacity of crisis residential programs that provide 

more than 24 hours of support. Over a quarter of unsheltered veterans (27%) also discussed the 

need for more jobs or job training for veterans. 



82 

Figure 33 | Themes of How to Better Help Veterans Experiencing Chronic Homelessness 

Other comments and suggestions focused on the logistic hurdles of accessing services in the 

county, for example improving the process of arranging appointments with county workers (e.g., 

have open drop-in hours when individuals can visit county offices, require staff to be more 

responsive to phone calls and/or voicemails). Some veterans also discussed their own ideas of 

how the county should turn empty buildings into housing units (for example, converting unused 

office space downtown or at the McClellan campus). Others also discussed ideas of the county 

providing mobile shower stations near encampment as well as charging stations for their 

electronic devices. 



83 

Section 3: Conclusions and Implications 

This report reviewed the results and key findings of the 2022 Sacramento Point-in-Time (PIT) 

Count--the first complete homeless count conducted in three years in Sacramento County and 

since the start of the pandemic. On a single night in February 2022, an estimated 9,278 people 

experienced homelessness throughout Sacramento County, most of whom were unsheltered 

(72%), meaning they slept in a tent, vehicle, or other outside location during one of the coldest 

nights of the year. Overall, these results indicate a significant increase in the number of people 

experiencing nightly homelessness in Sacramento County since the 2019 PIT (a 67% increase). 

These results also represent the highest per-capita estimate of homelessness on record for our 

community.  

As discussed throughout this report, many more individuals in 2022 report living with a disability 

and experiencing chronic patterns of homelessness, compared to previous years. An estimated 

4,314 individuals (or 43 percent of all people experiencing homelessness on any given night in 

Sacramento) likely meet HUD’s formal definition of being chronically homeless. This 163% 

increase in chronic homelessness since 2019 coincides with a growing proportion of individuals 

reporting longer periods of homelessness than in the past--nearly 80% of respondents 

interviewed outside stated that they had been homeless continuously for over a year (up from 

56% in 2019). Moreover, 58 percent of unsheltered adults indicated that they struggled with one 

or more disabilities or chronic health conditions that impaired their ability to secure employment 

or housing (up from 40% in 2019). These findings suggest that individuals with disabilities have 

struggled to recover from homelessness during the last couple of years and that exits from long 

term homelessness have likely become more difficult and less frequent than in the past. 

These findings suggest that individuals with disabilities have struggled 

to recover from homelessness during the last couple of years and that 

exits from long term homelessness have likely become more difficult 

and less frequent than in the past. 



84 

In contrast, a relatively small percentage of individuals (less than 10%) reported becoming 

homeless in the past two years, and a smaller proportion of these individuals stated that this was 

their first time experiencing homelessness. This suggests that fewer people fell into 

homelessness for the first time during the pandemic--likely reflecting the positive impacts of 

policies associated with eviction moratoriums, emergency rental assistance, and extensions of 

unemployment benefits on reducing entries into homelessness. A recent report by HUD similarly 

suggests that these policies at the national level have likely helped some subpopulations avoid 

homelessness, such as families with children, which saw substantial reductions in sheltered 

homelessness in the last two years. Indeed, families with children experiencing homelessness as 

well as veterans, saw some notable reductions in the 2022 Sacramento PIT Count despite the 

overall increases in homelessness described above. 

Other findings of this report highlight how racial inequities in our society continue to shape the 

disproportionate impact that homelessness and housing instability has on communities of color 

in Sacramento County. Individuals who identify as Black/African American and American Indian 

continue to be overrepresented among most of the groups highlighted in this report (e.g., youth, 

families with children, and individuals experiencing chronic homelessness). While a lower 

proportion of families identified as Black or African American than in past years, they are still 

three times as likely to experience homelessness as White residents given their overall proportion 

in the broader population. And even though American Indians represent less than one in ten 

people experiencing homelessness in Sacramento County, their risk for falling into homelessness 

are six times higher than White residents. Nonetheless, the report also highlights some universal 

experiences with homelessness that all groups reported. Regardless of one’s racial and ethnic 

identity, for example, many individuals relayed their struggles to find affordable housing in the 

county, the challenges of navigating services, as well as the stigma and shame that they 

sometimes perceive by the broader community. 

Other findings of this report highlight how racial inequities in our 

society continue to shape the disproportionate impact that 

homelessness and housing instability has on communities of color in 

Sacramento County.



 

85 

Contextual Factors 

It is important to consider the above findings in the context of broader trends affecting 

homelessness across the West Coast, most notably the affordable housing crisis and the evolving 

impacts of the pandemic.  

 

The 2022 rise in homelessness in Sacramento County reflects the continued challenges with 

housing affordability locally and across the state. As discussed in Section 1 of this report, the 

substantial increase of the 2022 Sacramento Count parallels an ongoing trend of unsheltered 

homelessness growing across the West Coast since 2015. Moreover, these trends correlated with 

a worsening housing crisis in these communities that predated the pandemic.  

 

• Community levels of housing affordability,78 which a number of studies suggest are the 

strongest community-level predictors of homelessness, worsened in many of the most 

populous regions in California between 2014 and 2019 (the last year most communities 

conducted a complete PIT Count). Currently, the nation’s three most expensive rental 

markets are in California,79 where rents increased an average of 24 percent between 2015 

and 2019. These same communities also reported the largest increases in homelessness 

between 2015 and 2019. 

• Sacramento also saw major increases in rental rates during this time. From January 2017 

to April 2019, for example, the median rent in Sacramento rose 14 percent, compared to 

a five percent (5%) increase nationally. More recently, rents have continued to increase 

throughout much of the West Coast as well as in Sacramento County. Between March of 

2020 through November 2021 the average rent increased 20 percent in Sacramento 

 
78 Housing affordability generally refers to the ratio of housing costs to income; which is often calculated 
by comparing median income levels to median housing costs. Households that spend more than 30% on 
these costs are designated as burdened renters. Researchers have found that community measures of 
housing affordability (i.e., the percent of burdened renters in a community) to be one of the strongest 
and consistent predictors of community-levels of homelessness. See for example: Byrne, Thomas, Ellen 
A. Munley, Jamison D. Fargo, Ann E. Montgomery, and Dennis P. Culhane (2013)."New perspectives on 
community-level determinants of homelessness." Journal of Urban Affairs, 35 (5): 607-625. 
79 These three rental markets included San Jose (median rent of $3,318 per month in 2020), San 
Francisco ($3,150), Los Angeles ($2,614). Residents in these three metropolitan areas not only report 
some of the highest ratios of rent to income in the country (e.g., in Los Angeles the median rent 
represents 44% of the median income), but these communities represented the largest share of 
Californians experiencing homelessness (a combined 74,000 residents in these metro areas experience 
homelessness on any given night) 



 

86 

County.80 The median rent for a one-bedroom apartment currently is $1,402 and $1,837 

for a two-bedroom. 

 

• A number of recent studies highlight that a large share of households in California cannot 

find housing they can afford. The average price for a house in California is 2.5 times the 

national average, making homeownership inaccessible to many Californians. Rents are 

also 50 percent higher in California than the rest of the country. An estimated 55 percent 

of renters in the state spend more than 30 percent of their total household income on 

housing (excluding the cost of utilities). In addition, nearly 30 percent of renters in 

California spend over 50 percent of their income on rent (i.e., 30 percent of households 

in California are what HUD describes as “severely rent burdened”). 

• While production of housing and rental units is increasing in the state, much of the growth 

has been in the sector of single-family homes and higher end rental properties. 

Economists note that the overall share of low-cost rental units has declined substantially 

during the last three decades. A recent study suggests that there is a severe shortage of 

affordable housing options for low-income households in Sacramento County; the region 

needs an additional 78,000 affordable housing units to meet the needs of low-income 

households in the county.81 

Though individuals can fall into homelessness due to a variety of personal challenges--which can 

include mental illness and substance use disorders --research shows that these challenges worsen 

and become more difficult to manage in communities with a worsening affordable housing crisis. 

Additionally, individuals who have a disability or geriatric condition often live on a fixed income 

and are particularly vulnerable to experiencing homelessness when rents quickly increase. 

Moreover, individuals are simply more likely to struggle to maintain housing stability and to 

recover from homelessness when the availability of affordable housing units is severely restricted. 

 

In sum, the lack of affordable housing is likely to be a primary driver of increasing homelessness 

rates in Sacramento and across the West Coast more broadly. While a number of promising state 

and local initiatives to increase affordable housing have been recently proposed (e.g., substantial 

state investment for affordable housing developments, conversion of state and private office 

space into housing, etc.), the homeless crisis is likely to continue, and worsen, until housing 

affordability is effectively addressed in Sacramento County. 

 
80 Xu, J. & Hale, D. (2022). December Rental Data: Rents Surged by 10.1% in 2021. Realtor.com  
Retrieved from https://www.realtor.com/research/december-2021-rent/  
81 National Low Income Housing Coalition. (2022) The Gap: The shortage of affordable homes. 

Retrieved from https://nlihc.org/gap  



 

87 

 

While the homeless crisis in California and Sacramento County predates the pandemic, changes 

to public policies during the last two years changed the landscape of homelessness and 

intervention in our community. As discussed throughout this report, it seems unlikely that the 

pandemic in of itself contributed to the increase of homelessness observed in the Sacramento 

2022 Count--though the full economic impacts of the pandemic remain to be seen and will likely 

be ongoing for some time. Nonetheless, specific policies enacted during the pandemic--both at 

the national and local levels--have undoubtedly shaped the homeless crisis in Sacramento 

County.  

 

• Changes in public health guidelines during the pandemic likely contributed to an 

increased visibility of encampments, and homelessness more broadly. In March of 2020, 

the Centers for Disease Control (CDC) issued explicit guidelines for jurisdictions to avoid 

“clearing out encampments” in an effort to reduce the dispersion of marginalized 

individuals from healthcare providers during the pandemic as well as to reduce the 

community spread of COVID-19. While some encampment clearings continued during 

the last two years, anecdotal reports from community members also indicate that many 

encampments became larger and more embedded in specific locations. Also, decreased 

flows of traffic, and use of public space, in some downtown areas, when most business 

and public sectors transitioned to telework arrangements, likely contributed to individuals 

relocating encampments to more visible areas of the community. During the 2022 Count, 

tent and vehicle encampments were notably larger and more accessible for volunteers to 

identify than in previous years. In addition, the survey data collected suggest that long 

term homeless individuals who may have been camped in more remote and rural areas 

of the county have congregated closer to population centers in Sacramento County 

where they were more likely to be counted and interviewed. 

 

• During the pandemic, the CDC also encouraged communities to shelter unhoused 

individuals in “non-congregate” settings to reduce the spread of Covid. As a response 

to these guidelines, counties across California launched Project Roomkey, an ambitious 

initiative to shelter vulnerable individuals in unused hotel/motel rooms during the 

pandemic. While the practice of leasing motel/hotel rooms to shelter individuals and 

households is not a new strategy, particularly in Sacramento County, Project Roomkey 

substantially increased the scale of this approach to “non-congregate shelters” across 

the state; an estimated 50,000 Californians have been sheltered in hotel/motel rooms 



88 

since the start of the pandemic.82 These and similar policies substantially increased the 

shelter capacity in Sacramento County during the pandemic, as evidenced by the 62% 

increase in the number of shelter beds available between the 2019 and 2022 PIT Counts. 

As discussed in the report, this increased capacity is why the unsheltered rate of 

homelessness remained essentially the same as in 2019 (72% vs. 70%), despite the overall 

67 percent increase in homelessness. Moreover, analysis of who was sheltered in 

hotels/motels during the night of the 2022 Count suggests that some of the most 

vulnerable adults experiencing chronic homelessness in Sacramento County were 

targeted and benefited from these non-congregate shelter arrangements. Many more 

chronically homeless individuals were sheltered in 2022 than in 2019 and many of these 

individuals have likely resided in these hotel/motel rooms for relatively long periods of 

time and stability. This is particularly notable given the challenges of engaging chronically 

homeless individuals83. Moreover, the broader use of hotel/motels by providers in 

Sacramento County also included some programs that intentionally targeted families with 

children, households that greatly benefited from these policies as well--many more 

families experiencing homelessness during the count were sheltered in a hotel/motel 

room than in 2019. 

• A recent report by HUD suggests that various policies to assist families and individuals

during the pandemic (i.e., rental assistance, eviction moratorium, tax credits, extension

of unemployment benefits) likely contributed to a large decrease in family homelessness

reported across the US. Moreover, a number of communities reported to HUD a

substantial decrease in the number of new families/households entering their local shelter

systems for the first time between 2020 and 2021. These trends were also present in

Sacramento County; the 2022 PIT revealed a smaller proportion of

individuals/households reporting that they had become homeless in the last two years

and a recent analysis of the Sacramento Homeless Management Information System also

suggests that the number of new clients is significantly lower than in previous years. These

patterns are consistent with an interpretation that these various mitigation strategies,

particularly around emergency rental assistance and eviction prevention implemented

and increased at the local level, reduced the number of households from falling into

homelessness during the past two years.

82 https://lao.ca.gov/Publications/Report/4521 
83 Because of the emphasis to shelter health-compromised individuals, many of these hotel/motel 
programs functioned as low barrier shelters, requiring minimal entry requirements. Some also offered 
clients extended lengths of stay. These conditions likely contributed to some clients who have been 
reluctant to use shelter to be more engaged with services. 



 

89 

 

In sum, while some pandemic policies may have increased the visibility of homelessness, others 

likely prevented the crisis from becoming even worse than it is currently. Nonetheless, it is 

important to note that many of these policy interventions were temporary and have been 

gradually phasing out during the last year. The large-scale use of hotel/motel rooms as non-

congregate shelters remains uncertain and may discontinue in the future. Similarly, it is not clear 

if eviction prevention and assistance programs will continue to be implemented at the levels they 

were in the past two years. Consequently, there is a possibility that Sacramento will begin to see 

increases in new households falling into homelessness in the coming year--particularly as rents 

continue to increase at their current rates. Notably, the 2022 Count revealed a larger percentage 

of respondents becoming homeless in the last year, than in 2020. Some researchers estimate 

that impacts of a post-pandemic economic recession could lead to a 68 percent increase in 

homelessness in California during the next two years.84 

Policy Implications 

Given the above findings, and unique context described above, the authors of this report 

encourage policy makers and stakeholders in Sacramento County to consider some of the policy 

implications of 2022 PIT Count.  

 

Shortage of permanent supportive housing in Sacramento County 

The 2022 findings that there is a large and growing number of chronically homeless individuals 

in Sacramento County highlights the need to redouble efforts to scale and increase permanent 

supportive housing (PSH) programs in our community. Many of the individuals struggling with a 

disability and homelessness, including those staying in hotels/motels, are unlikely to transition 

into stable housing independently and be successful over time without the type of ongoing 

support that PSH programs are designed to provide. While there are a number of high-quality 

PSH programs in Sacramento County, there are too few units to address the level of need 

indicated in this report. Most of the approximately 3,700 PSH units in Sacramento County are 

already occupied by residents who were previously homeless.  

 

Notably, California's new Project Homekey program provides unprecedented levels of funding 

to help communities convert motels/hotels into PSH programs; $800 million in new funding was 

provided in 2021-2022 and up to $1.5 billion may be available in 2022-2023. Leveraging some 

 
84Flaming, D., Orlando, A., Burns, P., & Pickens, S. (2021). Locked out: unemployment and homelessness 
in the COVID economy. Economic Roundtable, Retrieved from https://economicrt.org/wp-
content/uploads/2021/01/Locked-Out.pdf 



 

90 

of this funding, Sacramento County has already converted and redeveloped 331 new PSH units 

in the past year. Authors of this report encourage local leaders to continue identifying existing 

motels and/or underutilized building spaces to be converted into PSH programs using Project 

Homekey and other funding sources. 

 

Beyond creating more PSH programs, the Sacramento CoC should also explore ways to 

maximize the capacity of existing programs. This includes examining whether some current and 

long term PSH residents may be ready and interested to transition into lower levels of support 

by moving into subsidized housing; thereby opening up units for individuals currently homeless 

and waiting for housing. As part of its priority to end homelessness, HUD encourages 

communities to explore various transitional strategies for clients in PSH programs who may no 

longer need or want the intensive services offered in these types of programs but would likely 

benefit from continued rental assistance and/or subsidized housing. While It is important to 

recognize that some long term residents in PSH programs will need life-long assistance and 

should not transition out of supportive housing, others may be ready for lower levels of 

assistance. Identifying and transitioning some residents into subsidized housing will help narrow 

the gap between the capacity of PSH programs in Sacramento and the level of need in the 

community. 

 

Strategies to mitigate the risks of unsheltered homelessness 

Individuals experiencing prolonged periods of homelessness undoubtedly face risks to well-

being and safety—risks of harms that often worsen over time the longer individuals remain 

unsheltered. Findings from the 2022 PIT Count indicate that a greater proportion of unsheltered 

adults are reporting significantly more health conditions and impairment than previous levels. 

Moreover, the longer an individual has been living unsheltered, the more reluctant and wary they 

may be to engage with assistance and housing programs. Individuals experiencing long bouts 

of homelessness will remain a reality for some time in Sacramento County. Consequently, more 

and ongoing direct interventions with individuals living in large encampments will be needed in 

the coming year. This includes the deployment of integrative outreach teams, street medicine 

programs, and other interventions that bring services directly to where individuals are currently 

residing (as opposed to requiring individuals to seek out and navigate these services themselves). 

Moreover, continued investments in hotel/motel shelter programs, as well as other low barrier 

shelter programs like Navigation Centers, can help provide some chronically homeless 

individuals a basis of stability, and respite from the daily challenges, from which they can begin 

their engagement with services and eventual transition into housing. 

 

 



91 

Listening to the voices of the unhoused and their daily needs 

Given the persistently high rate of unsheltered homelessness in Sacramento County, and in the 

context of a gap in shelter beds to meet the need, we also anticipate growing tensions in the 

community over the issue of encampments, individuals sleeping in parked vehicles, and the use 

of public spaces more generally. We recommend that local leaders give careful consideration 

about how to appropriately and humanely protect the rights and safety of those who are living 

outdoors while also addressing other citizen concerns related to sanitation and public safety. Our 

community needs to address these goals simultaneously and avoid excluding individuals 

experiencing homelessness as legitimate members of the community. As we heard from various 

individuals interviewed on the street, people experiencing homelessness often feel “ invisible,” 

“ignored,” and “looked down upon,” when local policymakers and the broader public discuss 

and debate new programs and policies addressing homelessness. Authors of this report 

encourage local leaders to consider the perspectives and voices of the very people that should 

be at the center of these conversations. 

We also encourage leaders to consider some of the policy suggestions made by respondents in 

the unsheltered survey; one notable suggestion was establishing more designated spaces where 

individuals can securely set up an encampment or park their vehicles (i.e., safe parking programs). 

As respondents discussed, it is important that these spaces have access to basic amenities (e.g., 

restrooms, water), are securely monitored, but are also centrally located to nearby community 

resources. These arrangements do not “solve homelessness” directly, as some individuals 

themselves attest, but they can mitigate the immediate risks and dangers that individuals and 

families face every night while homeless. They also allow service providers to provide more 

consistent assistance and healthcare services, which can contribute to helping individuals 

eventually transition into housing. 

Growing need for more preventative and rehousing strategies in the future. If our community 

enters an economic recession, Sacramento County should anticipate a substantial increase in 

new households falling into homelessness during the next two years. Some economic forecasts 

suggest that homelessness will continue to rise and peak until the end of 2023 in California.85 

Previous programs associated with rental assistance, the child tax credit, and expansion of 

unemployment insurance, likely assisted many households to avoid homelessness during the 

pandemic. However, without these types of assistance programs in place, and at the same scale 

as before, it is likely that many households, particularly families with children, will struggle to 

manage increasing housing costs. Preventative measures, such as providing emergency and 

85 See footnote 73. 



 

92 

flexible subsidies, or rapid rehousing assistance, to individuals and households struggling with 

housing insecurity will likely need to be significantly increased in the near future in Sacramento 

County. Preventing individuals and families from falling into homelessness has various long term 

benefits for the specific individuals, as well as the community more broadly.  

 

The authors of this report acknowledge that some of the policy implications discussed above are 

not unknown to many local policymakers, and that some of the direct suggestions we described 

are already being deliberated and implemented at the local level. Indeed, much of what has 

been discussed already aligns with the Sacramento Local Homeless Action Plan recently 

developed and being certified by key stakeholders of the Sacramento CoC. We encourage 

community members not familiar with the Sacramento Local Homeless Action Plan to learn about 

the five core strategies and specific action steps that the Sacramento CoC and its local partners 

are planning to undertake during these next five years to address homelessness in our 

community.86  

Research Recommendations 

Finally, the authors of this report suggest the following considerations for further research into 

homelessness in Sacramento County. 

 

Leverage existing service data to track entries and exits from homelessness 

While the PIT Count provides important insights into the experiences and challenges of people 

sleeping outside, it is not the only data source that stakeholders can leverage to understand 

trends in homelessness in Sacramento County. For example, SSF currently publishes a regularly 

updated online dashboard that presents data trends from their Homeless Management 

Information System (HMIS). This service database compiles information from various housing and 

outreach programs participating in the Sacramento CoC and is a rich data source on clients 

engaging in programs each month. Indeed, SSF recently analyzed HMIS data, as well as other 

data sources, to conduct a Systems Gaps Analysis to identify and calibrate specific strategies  

Local Homeless Action Plans. Because the PIT Count is a resource-intensive activity, requiring 

several months of planning and coordination, the authors of this report encourage stakeholders 

to consider using these types of data sources and analyses more regularly to make data-informed 

decisions regarding strategies and policies. The dynamics of homelessness change over time 

and there are seasonal periods throughout the year when more or fewer people may be 

engaging with services. One particular indicator we recommend to track in the next year will be 

 
86To view the Sacramento Local Homeless Action Plan, please visit the Sacramento Steps Forward 
website: https://sacramentostepsforward.org/2022-sacramento-local-homeless-action-plan 



 

93 

the number of new clients that engage the Sacramento CoC seeking assistance. Monitoring 

these trends will help stakeholders understand when homelessness may be increasing in 

Sacramento County and when adjustment of strategies and policies may be needed. Moreover, 

the state of California has recently launched its own service data dashboard (called the Homeless 

Data Integration System-HDIS) which pools together HMIS data from communities across the 

state. Local stakeholders should leverage the HDIS to provide comparative context, and broader 

interpretation of the various service trends that might emerge in Sacramento County during the 

next two years. 

 

It is important to recognize, however, that the HMIS database (as well as the broader HDIS) 

only includes individuals who engage with services and programs and is as such an incomplete 

representation of all people experiencing homelessness in a community. Many people 

experiencing homelessness, for example, do not access any services. And those that do may not 

engage with services consistently. And so it is important to know and recognize the limitations, 

scope, and strengths of any data source.87 Moreover, in our experience as researchers working 

with HMIS data from various communities we know that these types of data sources can have 

significant data quality issues (e.g., incomplete data, missing outcome observations, data 

censoring, inconsistent integration of field etc.) Consequently, we recommend that Sacramento 

CoC continue to make continual investments into improving the integration and data quality of 

HMIS. We also recommend exploring ways to integrate and coordinate these efforts with the 

biennial PIT Count.  

 

Conducting additional research into the increase in homelessness in Sacramento 

The net increase in the total number of individuals experiencing homelessness indicated by the 

2022 PIT Count (representing an additional 3,708 individuals) is difficult to interpret in light of 

the findings that a relatively small proportion of individuals reported first becoming homeless in 

the last two years. This substantial increase could reflect three interrelated dynamics that are 

difficult to decipher with the current data and require additional research. First, there could have 

been an increase in the number of people falling into homelessness the year before the 

pandemic, which our surveys suggest but cannot definitively indicate.88 A second, different factor 

 
87 While service data may not be representative of all individuals in need of these services in a 
community, they can provide insights into general trends with respect to the number and demographics 
of people seeking assistance on any given month, the type of assistance that they received, and 
ultimately the number of people and households that transition into housing.  
88 It is important to note the survey patterns discussed above are only suggestive evidence that the 
pandemic may have temporarily reduced the rate of new homelessness in Sacramento (or made it more 
difficult for some people to exit homelessness).  Because the unsheltered survey data is a cross sectional 
“snapshot” of a group of people at one point-in-time, it cannot accurately track respondents who may 



 

94 

could be an increased visibility of homelessness which improved the accuracy of the 2022 PIT 

Count; because there are now larger encampments nearer populated areas, volunteers were 

able to access some chronically homeless individuals otherwise missed/undercounted in 

previous years. Finally, an increase in the number of people currently homeless could also reflect 

a notable decrease in the number of people exiting from homelessness during the last several 

years (fewer people recovering from homelessness than typical). Because these dynamics are not 

mutually exclusive (i.e., they could all be true) and all are consistent with the 2022 PIT Count, 

additional research is needed into these issues. 

 

In sum, it is important that researchers, along with stakeholders, continually strive to improve the 

scope and breadth of information about the various factors and dynamics underpinning the 

unprecedented rise in homelessness in our community. While findings from the 2022 Count 

highlight somber findings, we believe it is only by confronting these difficult realities, with honest 

and accurate information, that we as a community can address them effectively. 

 

  

  

 

 
have entered and exited homelessness when the survey was not administered. There is the possibility, 
for example, that individuals who became homeless in the last two years recovered more quickly and are 
therefore underrepresented in the 2022 estimates. Additional analyses using data from the Homeless 
Management Information System (HMIS) could likely track more clearly whether new homelessness and 
exits in fact decreased during the pandemic 



 

95 

Appendix A: 2022 Count Methodology  

Per HUD requirements, the PIT Count is technically a census of all individuals within the 

geography of a CoC (in this case, Sacramento County) experiencing homelessness during a 

single night. Accordingly, CoCs are required to account for all individuals residing in emergency 

shelters or transitional housing on the night of the PIT (i.e., the sheltered count). In addition, 

CoCs are responsible for conducting a robust canvassing of all areas where those experiencing 

unsheltered homeless are likely to be sleeping (i.e., the unsheltered count). As in previous years, 

the canvasing portion of the 2022 PIT Count employed a “known location” sampling 

methodology (also known as the known location strategy), which is a HUD recommended 

procedure most commonly used in urban areas. HUD recommends that CoCs commission 

researchers trained in survey and sampling methods to use information collected from HMIS, 

surveys, and canvassing reports, to calculate demographic estimates of particular homeless 

subpopulations in their community (e.g., the number of homeless families, veterans and 

chronically homeless, and the respective composition of each group in terms of race, gender 

and age). Below, we provide a general overview of this research process, starting first with how 

the sheltered count was conducted and then elaborating on the methodologies used by the 

Sacramento State team for estimating the unsheltered count.  

Estimating Sheltered Homelessness 

The sheltered portion of the homeless count is typically accomplished by aggregating data from 

HMIS89--essentially a service and client database which SSF coordinates for all HUD-funded and 

county-funded homeless service providers. For the 2022 Count, SSF compiled and analyzed 

HMIS records of all individuals accessing shelter/transitional housing on the night of February 

23, 2022. This data captures demographic information for persons and households residing in a 

shelter or transitional housing on the night of the count, as well as includes individuals’ 

homelessness and service histories. Because some individuals and households have missing data 

elements in HMIS (e.g., some individuals may prefer to not report their race or gender), HUD 

recommends that CoCs use a specific extrapolation data tool, available on its technical assistance 

website, to calculate complete demographic counts for every sheltered person. This tool 

essentially uses available information from records with complete entries for a specific data field 

(e.g., gender) to extrapolate counts for records with incomplete entries. HUD states that these 

 
89 As a reminder, HMIS stands for Homeless Management Information System 



96 

extrapolated counts are calculated within a reasonable degree of statistical certainty as long as 

data fields have at least 80 percent complete data. 

It should be noted that because not all programs serving individuals experiencing homelessness 

in Sacramento County provide data to HMIS, SSF also does a follow-up survey of these programs, 

after the Count, to compile aggregate counts of individuals who were served in non-HMIS 

programs the night of the 2022 Count. This information was combined with HMIS data and 

imputed into the extrapolation tool to calculate the total sheltered count and associated 

demographics. 

Estimating Unsheltered Homelessness 

The Sacramento State team uses a combination of fielding and survey methodologies 

recommended by HUD to estimate the number of persons experiencing unsheltered 

homelessness (those sleeping outside of a shelter) on the night of the count. The process can be 

generally described in five components. 

1. Identifying known locations and establishing a sampling frame

2. Sampling areas to canvas and establishing walking routes

3. Collecting information via canvassing reports and surveys

4. Additional efforts to collect data in challenging situations

5. Calculating count estimate and survey weights

Identifying known locations and establishing a sampling frame 

In the two months prior to the 2022 PIT, SSF worked with various community stakeholders to 

identify “known areas,” locations where individuals experiencing homelessness are likely 

sleeping during the night. In total, SSF provided the Sacramento Team detailed geospatial 

mapping data on over 2,000 locations either as addresses or geocoordinates where homeless 

encampments, sleeping bags, or sleeping individuals had been spotted. In addition to 

knowledgeable stakeholder data, this information also included summarized 311 and 211 call 

data which tracked service requests from the community related to homelessness (e.g., calls 

about encampments, noise violation but also calls requesting information about homeless 

assistance). Combining all information allowed the Sacrament State team to plot all points of 

reported homeless activity on a map. "In the next stage of the process, specific search zones of 

approximately ¼ square miles were drawn in such a way that the total area of all zones combined 



97 

enclosed all identified points within the minimum number of zones. In total, 242 zones were 

identified as eligible for sampling. 

It should be noted that Sacramento County comprises approximately 965 square miles 

(excluding the approximate 30 square miles of lakes, rivers and other bodies of water).Given the 

logistical challenges of canvassing all areas of a county, HUD allows CoCs to limit their sampling 

frames if they can articulate a rationale for excluding areas that are “extremely unlikely” to find 

anyone experiencing unsheltered homelessness during the time of the count, such as 

remoteness and population density. Similar to previous years, the 2022 Count excluded remote 

areas of the county with low population density where reports of homelessness are near 

nonexistent. Our exclusion criteria lead to the exclusion of approximately 500 square miles. 

Accordingly, the sampling frame of the 2022 Count included all 242 zones, located within a 465 

miles area of Sacramento County. 

Sampling areas to canvas and establishing walking routes 

HUD recommends that large CoCs leverage some type of sampling strategy when there are 

insufficient volunteers to canvas every area in their jurisdiction where individuals experiencing 

homelessness are likely residing. Sampling in the context of the PIT Count generally means 

collecting information from a select set of zones (i.e., conducting visual counts and surveys of 

individuals experiencing homelessness within a specific area), and using that information to 

estimate the number and demographics of individuals that were likely missed in areas that were 

not canvassed. In preparation for sampling, the Sacramento State team classified the 242 pre-

identified zones, described above, into two sampling tiers: 1) anticipated high-count zones that 

would be completely canvassed (i.e., census sampled), and 2) anticipated medium-count zones 

that would be randomly sampled90 for extrapolation purposes.91  

90 Unlike the PIT count in 2019, this was a pure random sample, not a geographically stratified random 
sample. Both pure random and stratified samples are expected to give, on average, the same point 
estimate. The main difference is that geographically stratified sampling can lead to less statistical 
uncertainty as long as 1) the geography can be divided into heterogeneous segments, and 2) there are 
enough canvassing teams deployed to  each segment to negate the statistical uncertainty associated 
with the smaller sample sizes. Given the uncertainty of volunteer recruiting during the pandemic, the 
researchers did not believe the second condition could be fulfilled so a pure random sample was used 
instead. 
91 The reason for attempting to do a full census in the zones with the most expected homelessness as 
opposed to randomly selecting these zones is that it leads to a smaller extrapolated population while 
not necessarily increasing statistical uncertainty.   



 

98 

Zones classified into the first tier included the following regions: 

•  35 zones with reports of high homeless density – The research team assigned zones for 

census sampling if community reports indicated an anticipated high-count of 25 or more 

people experiencing homelessness in the zone. Zones were also designated as high-

count zones if they were associated with nine (9) or more separate reports in the last three 

months. 

• All 24 “Downtown” zones – A review of past PIT Counts indicates that City of 

Sacramento’s downtown area is completely canvassed every cycle. The research team 

decided to continue this practice of doing a complete census sampling of these zones 

given the high levels of reports associated with this region, as well as the fact that doing 

so allows for direct comparisons of the changes in this area across time. 

•  7 “American River Parkway” zones within the City of Sacramento – Information from 

various sources in the community suggested that many unsheltered individuals, and large 

encampments more generally, currently reside within specific segments of the American 

River Parkway. The research team identified seven high-count zones along the American 

River North of Sacramento’s Downtown area and South of South Natomas associated 

with approximately 80 percent of reported activities from community members. 

The remaining 176 zones in the sampling frame were designated for random selection. Based 

on the anticipated number of volunteers, the research team randomly selected 77 out of the 176 

zones in this tier for canvassing.  

In total, 143 zones were ultimately selected for canvassing (66 for census sampling and 77 for 

random sampling). The research team next examined each selected zone carefully and designed 

suggested walking routes for volunteers to follow on the deployment nights of the count. 

Walking routes were approximately 2.5 miles long and were designed to bring canvassing teams 

to all of the known locations and encampments previously reported by community members. 

Based on feedback from SSF, the Sacramento State team attempted to provide as much visual 

detail as possible in maps and direction to help volunteer teams navigate their respective 

location and sufficiently and efficiently to cover the sampled areas. 

Collecting information via canvassing reports and surveys 

In the month preceding the 2022 PIT Count, SSF staff conducted a series of online training 

workshops for all community members and outreach staff who volunteered for the event. While 

this training covered a number of logistical areas and topics (e.g., scheduling, how to download 



 

99 

and use the smartphone application etc.) it also summarized the two data collection efforts that 

volunteers would be conducting during their deployments; reporting visual counts and 

conducting in-person surveys. Both pieces of information were collected via a new smartphone 

platform, developed and managed this year by a third-party vendor called Outreach Grid. The 

Outreach Grid platform provided separate reporting functions for recording visual counts and 

collecting surveys. 

With respect to visual counts, volunteers and outreach staff were trained to the reporting 

standards set by HUD for enumerating individuals likely experiencing homelessness as well as 

sleeping structures likely being used for shelter (e.g., vehicles, tents, etc.). For example, 

volunteers were trained to examine parked vehicles for clues of habitation such as: a vehicle with 

a running engine and windows partially open or fogged over, a high level of personal items 

visible through the windows, and other signs. If individuals were present either in the vehicle or 

within proximity of a tent, volunteers were asked to report the approximate number of people 

observed. The Outreach Grid platform also allowed volunteers to record the number of people, 

tents and vehicles present in a specific location, as well as record their assessment of whether 

tents and vehicles appeared recently used or abandoned. The count reports also allowed 

volunteers to record general demographic information of people that they encountered (whether 

individuals appeared to be in groups/households as well as their approximate ages).   

With respect to the demographic survey, volunteers were trained on a survey instrument that 

largely aligned with the tool established by HUD. Generally speaking, this standard instrument 

includes questions about respondents’ sleeping arrangement for that specific night, their 

household composition, as well as their age, gender, and ethic-racial identity. The HUD tool also 

asks individuals about their current and recent experiences with homelessness, as well as specific 

challenges and conditions that may have contributed to their experiences with homelessness 

(e.g., a severe health condition, physical disability).  As we discuss below, demographic survey 

responses were later combined with the count data to create statistical weights for each survey, 

which accounted for the location and type of sleeping arrangement reported by individuals (i.e., 

inverse probability weights). These weights were then used to estimate the population 

parameters of specific groups required by HUD (e.g., demographics of single-adults, households 

with children, veterans, etc.) 

As discussed in the first section of this report, the research team worked closely with the PIT 

Committee this year to also develop additional survey questions that community members were 

interested to explore. Some of these questions were originally developed in 2019 and were 

redeployed in 2022 per the Committee’s recommendations (such as questions about individuals’ 



 

100 

sexual orientation, and their residency in Sacramento County), while a number of new questions 

were also developed this year (such as questions about encampments).  

Approximately 500 volunteers were ultimately trained and deployed across all 143 sampled 

zones. At each zone, volunteers used the Outreach Grid platform to record visual reports of 

individuals and sleeping structures that they encountered as they followed the canvassing route. 

In addition, volunteers were asked to randomly approach between five to ten individuals during 

their route and deploy the survey instrument. Volunteers were trained to read a standard 

statement, which introduced the purpose and structure of the survey, as well as asked for 

individuals’ verbal consent to participate. Individuals who agreed to participate were given a $10 

incentive (Subway card) irrespective if they skipped some questions and/or decided to end the 

survey early. Surveys were designed to take approximately seven to ten minutes to deploy. 

To maximize volunteer resources, and in accordance with HUD guidelines, the research team 

scheduled deployments of canvassing teams over two nights (February 23rd and February 24th) 

and across distinct geographies of Sacramento County (to avoid the risk of double counting). 

Specifically, volunteers were deployed to 90 canvassing zones throughout the Northern and 

Eastern regions of Sacramento County on the night of February 23rd. On the following night 

(February 24th), teams were deployed to 46 zones in the Southern region of the county.  

Additional efforts to collect data in challenging situations 

Volunteers were trained not to approach individuals to do a survey under three general 

situations: 1) individuals were inside a tent; 2) individuals/households were using a vehicle as 

shelter, 3) people were residing at large encampments (clusters of four or more tents). Because 

it was known that tent and vehicle encampments were much more present in 2022 than in 

previous years, the research team anticipated that some canvassing groups would collect a low-

number of surveys (i.e., given the protocol not to collect surveys in the three situations described 

above). To address the anticipated shortfall of surveys, as well as to address the biased survey 

sampling that would result if respondents in tents and vehicles were not systematically 

interviewed, SSF and the research team developed a follow-up survey sampling strategy, in 

which ten encampment sites would be revisited in the week following the night count portion of 

the 2022 PIT Count. Specifically, the research team used the count data collected by community 

volunteers on February 23rd and 24th to verify and identify a sampling frame of medium-to-large 

tent and vehicle encampments throughout the county. From this dataset of verified 

encampments, the research team sampled a total of ten encampment clusters for a team of 

professional outreach staff to later visit and survey during the day (and within ten days of the 



101 

night counts).92 Outreach teams visited these encampments and were asked to collect at least 

ten interviews from each site. Surveys were collected at these locations based on the assumption 

that individuals residing in a large encampment during the day had likely been homeless on the 

night of the count and were at that same location--which the survey verified. These additional 

surveys collected at encampments sites not only ensured a more representative sample of survey 

respondents, but it also allowed the outreach team to collect more accurate count information 

on the number of people residing in tents and vehicles.93 

This year, SSF and the research team, in consultation with the PIT Committee, decided to also 

conduct day counts in remote locations where it would be particularly difficult to navigate during 

the night. These included zones within the American River Parkway, as well as specific county 

roads in remote areas; the research team assumed that these locations are so remote that it 

would have been unlikely that individuals encountered in the zones would have been in other 

areas and double counted during the night counts. Similar to the survey sampling discussed 

above, these day counts were conducted by professional outreach teams. 

Finally, it should be noted that in addition to the above, SSF also coordinated special efforts to 

collect surveys from groups that are often underrepresented in PIT Counts. Per HUD guidelines, 

SSF worked with service providers that work with families with children, as well as those that work 

with transitional age youth, to collect surveys in the morning after the night count (what HUD 

describes as service-based or site-based data collection). Parents dropping off their children at 

a school for homelessness families, for example, were approached to do the survey, which 

specifically asked respondents where they had spent the night of February 23rd. A similar 

approach was undertaken at an organization that provides drop-in services to transitional age 

youth. In addition, liaisons at a K-12 school created and distributed a flyer to students/parents 

describing the PIT survey; the flier contained a call-in number in which parents and students 

could call to do the survey over the phone. It should be noted that these additional surveys did 

not contribute to a higher count (as these individuals could have been doubled counted) but 

were instead used to refine the demographic estimates of specific groups. 

92 It should be noted that in some large urban CoCs collect counts and surveys at different time points, 
which HUD allows as long as the two data sources are collected within a two week period  
93 Because it is not always feasible to accurately count the number of individuals residing in tents or 
vehicles, HUD recommends that professional outreach teams be used to interview individuals in a 
random sample of vehicles and tents, to determine an accurate statistical weight (average count) that 
can be applied to all tents and vehicles enumerated. Using this method, the average persons per tent 
was calculated as 1.87 and the average persons per vehicle was 1.73. These numbers were subsequently 
substituted into any tents and vehicles respectively when an exact count was not available. If a tent or 
vehicle was found to be abandoned a zero count was designated) 



 

102 

Calculating count estimate and survey weights 

After all fielding data had been collected (including datasets for count report and surveys), the 

research team spent several weeks processing, cleaning and validating the different datasets 

downloaded from the Outreach Gird platform. This included assessing the integrity of the data 

and filtering out data duplication (either caused by data entry issues, interviews with the same 

individuals by different teams, or download issues). Next the research team analyzed the 

distribution of counts within the random sample of zones, to estimate the number of individuals, 

tents, and vehicles likely missed in the 99 zones not sampled/canvassed during the various 

deployments of volunteers and outreach workers. Because zone selection was based on a simple 

random sample, the extrapolated number for these zones was determined by equating the mean 

in the unvisited zones to the mean of the visited zones. Using this methodology, led us to 

extrapolate that 1,720 people were experiencing homelessness in these unvisited zones. 

The research team then spent several weeks combining the count and survey data to establish 

statistical weights (inverse probability weights) by which population parameters could be 

eventually estimated. In short, weights account for the fact that not every person experiencing 

homelessness was surveyed, and allow researchers to approximate the responses of 6,664 

experiencing unsheltered homelessness on the night of the count. Surveys were compared to 

the overall count data in terms of sleep locations (tent, vehicle, other) and family structure (singles 

and multi-person families) to account for the different probabilities that individuals in these 

varying situations had of being approached to do the survey. Ultimately, each survey was given 

a weight ranging from 9 to 25 in order to achieve better representativeness. All analyses based 

on the survey information utilized these weights. 



 

103 

Appendix B: 2022 Data Tables  

 

 

  



104 



 

105 

 



 
 
 
TO:  CoC Board Members 
 
FROM: April Marie Dawson, CoC PIT Committee Co-Chair 

Michele Watts, Chief Planning Officer 
 
DATE: July 13, 2022 
 
RE: Recommendation to Conduct Next Unsheltered PIT Count in 

2024 
 
This memo summarizes issues for consideration for whether the 
Sacramento CoC should conduct its next unsheltered Point in Time Count 
in 2023 or 2024 and presents the SSF staff recommendation to wait until 
2024. On June 16, 2022 the Point in Time Committee will be asked to 
approve a recommendation to go before the full CoC Board in July.  
 
Background 
The US Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) requires 
that a CoC conducts an unsheltered Point in Time Count every two years. 
Since the Sacramento CoC completed an unsheltered count in 2022, the 
next mandated count will be required in 2024. If the CoC conducts an 
unsheltered count in 2023, it would be optional.  
 
Key Considerations 
Budget – SSF has estimated the cost of the next unsheltered PIT Count to 
be approximately $200,000. 
 
Request for Proposal (RFP) process – For the next PIT Count, whether it 
be 2023 or 2024, the CoC must go through an RFP process to select a 
research firm to work with. The RFP process would include SSF staff time 
to update the RFP, outreach to institutions to apply, a thorough review of all 
applicants, and selection of the winner. 
 



2 

SSF and community capacity – SSF staff contribute a considerable amount 
of time to facilitate the PIT Count. As the event approaches SSF works 
diligently to prepare and during the month of the Count has two full-time 
staff dedicated to ensuring a smooth process. Even post count, SSF staff 
are working to wrap up loose ends. The current budget reflects estimates 
from 2022, anything additional would increase the budget. It is important to 
consider the amount of time our entire CoC devotes to the Point in Time. 
Many partner agencies devote significant staff time to outreach, surveying, 
and supporting the count. 

Based on the continual refinement of the PIT Count from year to year, 
having more time to develop a successful PIT Count will produce more 
accurate results for our community. 

Data Analytics Investments – The unsheltered PIT Count is a significant 
source of data used locally, statewide, and federally for decision-making 
and planning. The cost is substantial but so is the use of this data. 
However, the Sacramento CoC has made significant investments in 
building out its data analytics capacity to increase ongoing access to 
information supplemental to the biennial count results.   

State and Federal Funding – There are state and federal funding streams 
that rely upon PIT data for allocation decisions. Sacramento and other 
CoCs in the state and nation have been relying upon 2019 data for several 
years. The 2022 data will be released later this month. This data will show 
a significant increase in homelessness and support increased funding for 
the CoC when funding entities update their allocation calculations. The 
CoC has no way to know how a 23 vs 24 PIT Count could impact future 
funding, whether it be positively or negatively.  

Recommendation Development Process & Timeline 
To allow sufficient time for the RFP process, research and methodology 
planning, and volunteer recruitment, the CoC should decide regarding 
conducting a 2023 unsheltered PIT by July 2022. The PIT Committee will 
work with SSF staff to develop its recommendations to the CoC Board 
regarding a 2023 unsheltered PIT: 

- May PIT Committee: Initial discussion and input
- June PIT Committee: Presentation of staff recommendation and

discussion and approval of a recommendation to CoC Board



3 

- July CoC Board: Final recommendation, discussion, and approval

Recommendation 
Based on the above analysis SSF recommends conducting the next 
unsheltered Point in Time Count in 2024. SSF believes that the unsheltered 
Point in Time Count is important to data integrity and coupled with HMIS, 
the gaps analysis, and investments into data systems a yearly unsheltered 
Point in Time Count is not necessary. 

PITC Action Requested 
Approve the staff recommendation to conduct the next unsheltered PIT 
Count in 2024 and take this recommendation to the CoC Board for 
approval in July. 

Action Taken 
On June 16, 2022, the Point in Time Committee reviewed the key 
considerations and voted to recommend the Sacramento CoC conduct their 
next Point in Time Count in 2024.  

CoC Board Action Requested 
Approve the Point in Time Committee’s recommendation to conduct the 
next Point in Time Count in 2024.  

















Black residents 3-4x more likely to 
experience homelessness than White 
residents

American Indian residents 6-7x more 
likely to experience homelessness



















Key Take-aways: Context

• Ongoing Housing Crisis

• The Pandemic



Key Take-aways: Policy 
Implications

 Capacity: PSH units

 Outreach: Interventions

 Prevention: Anticipate + homelessness



Copyright © 2022. All rights reserved | www.sacramentostepsforward.org

Receive & File:

Youth Homelessness Demonstration Program 

(YHDP) Memo 



TO: CoC Board Members 

FROM: Michele Watts, Chief Planning Officer 

DATE: July 13, 2022 

RE: Youth Homelessness Demonstration Program (YHDP) NOFO 
Submitted 

This memo summarizes the background on this topic and the action taken 
by SSF staff. YHDP was submitted on June 28, 2022. We anticipate 
hearing back about this opportunity by the end of September. 

Background 
YHDP, a program of the US Department of Housing and Urban 
Development (HUD), seeks communities that are ready to end and prevent 
youth homelessness through the development and implementation of a 
coordinated community approach.  

If awarded, the Sacramento CoC would be given six (6) months to develop 
and refine a coordinated effort to end youth homelessness. Based on the 
plan, the CoC then funds projects with YHDP funding through a competitive 
award process. The award amount is a minimum of $1 million but is 
calculated based on a HUD formula. If the programs and plan are 
successful, the award amount is added to the yearly CoC NOFO 
competition to continue funded programs. 

Action Taken by the CoC Board 
SSF was given approval by the CoC Board on June 8, 2022 to submit the 
YHDP NOFO on behalf of the Sacramento CoC Board. 



2 

Action Taken by SSF Staff 
SSF staff submitted the YHDP NOFO on behalf of the CoC on June 28th, 
2022. This year SSF staff committed more than ever to elevate youth voice 
throughout the application process. We successfully secured funding from 
John Burton Advocates for Youth (JBAY) to pay a youth leader in helping to 
write our YHDP application. We carefully went through each section, 
updating with new numbers, initiatives, and successes since our 2021 
application. We remain hopeful that our application will be successful, and 
we will become one step closer to ending youth homelessness. 

SSF staff would like to thank our Youth Action (YAB) and lead youth writer 
for contributing youth voice to our application and to the Homeless Youth 
Task Force (HYTF) leaders Bridget Alexander (Waking the Village) and 
Kate Hutchinson (Lutheran Social Services), for their time, creative 
solutions, and valuable input to ensure a well-informed and youth-centered 
submission. 


	CoC Board Agenda 6-8-22.docx (2)
	2a. 6.8.22-CoC-Board-Minutes
	6_8_22 CoC Board Minutes.pdf
	2.HHAP-3 Funding Approval_CoC Board_6.8.22 (1).pdf
	Homeless Housing, Assistance and Prevention Program �CoC Funding Approval
	HHAP-3 Discussion �Gaps Analysis and Action Plan Strategies
	Gaps Analysis: Key Findings
	Gaps Analysis: A Transformed System
	Regional 3-Year System Goals
	Sacramento Local Homeless Action Plan
	Sacramento Local Homeless Action Plan
	Action Plan Strategies
	Action Plan Strategies
	Action Plan Strategies
	Action Plan Next Steps
	HHAP-3 Application Tables
	HHAP-3 Application Tables
	Goals for Underserved Populations and Populations Disproportionately Impacted by Homelessness
	HHAP-3 Discussion
	HHAP-3 Regional Funding Allocations
	HHAP-3 Eligible Uses 
	HHAP-3 CoC Funding Recommendation
	Coordinated Access System
	System Support Needs
	Youth Projects
	Recommended Actions
	Questions and Comments

	3. SSF Sacramento Local Homeless Action Plan.pdf
	4. HHIP 101 - Sacramento 06.08.22 (Final) (1).pdf

	2b. trans page consent agenda
	2c. CoC System Performance Committee New Members Memo 7-13-22
	3. 7.13.22 CESC Memo EHV for RRH Participants FINAL
	3a. trans page new bus CoC application
	4a. CoC NOFO Debrief 2022_CoC Board Packet
	5. trans page new bus PIT
	5a. PIT 2022 Infographic Final
	5b. PIT-Report-2022
	5c. 2024 PiT Recommendation Memo to CoC Board 7-13-22
	5e. 2022PIT
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14
	Slide Number 15
	Slide Number 16
	Key Take-aways: Context
	Key Take-aways: Policy Implications

	6a. trans page receive and file
	6b. YHDP memo to CoC Board 7-13-22



